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Contact: Kevin Claridge - VP Sponsored Research and Coastal Policy Programs

Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (MML) is an independent, 501(c)(3) nonprofit corporation dedicated to excellence in marine,
estuarine and environmental research and education. Organized in the State of Florida in 1955 (70 years in business), MML
has eight campuses stretching from Anna Maria Island to Key West. Five MML campuses are in the Florida Keys where we
have had research facilities conducting diverse research for over 32 years, and now anchored by our International Center for
Coral Reef Research and Restoration (IC2R3) on the MML Summerland Key campus. Laboratory finances are independently
audited on an annual basis. In 2024, operating revenues totaled ~$40 million. Net assets of the Laboratory were ~$158
million. There are currently 38 very diverse MML Research Programs and Centers of Excellence ranging from Chemical &
Physical Ecology, Ecotoxicology and Molecular Microbiology to Coral Reef Restoration, Fisheries, Seagrass and Harmful
Algal Blooms. Of 315 MML staff, >45 are at the doctoral level with the majority of our nearly 50 full time resident Florida
Keys staff being within 25-30 miles of Key West. Sponsors of research include federal, state, and local governments; public
and private foundations, and corporations. MML is a 501(c)3 in the State of Florida in 1957.

Primary Person: Emily R. Hall, Ph.D.
Dr. Hall has >20 years working on developing, managing, and enacting water quality monitoring programs in the State of
Florida. The Project Team commits to perform and complete the services within.

Thank you for the opportunity to submit this proposal, we look forward to assisting the City of Key West.

Sincerely,

e,

Michael P. Crosby, PhD, FLS
President & CEO

Executive Summary: The MML Project Team, consisting of MML PIs Emily R. Hall, Ph.D., Kevin Claridge, Kirstie
Francis, Ph.D., Aspen Cook and subcontracts Jon Perry — Environmental Science Associates and Richard Cleaver — Jacobs,
Inc., proposes to address the Request for Proposals (RFP) from the City of Key West by performing and completing all Tasks
within the RFP. The MML Project Team will collaborate with the City of Key West and the Florida Department of Health.
Tasks include reviewing current relevant data across all Geographic Areas of Concern (GOCs) and identifying opportunities
to advise on a comprehensive water quality program for these sites, identifying actions that may mitigate pollutants and
creating a list of actions which may mitigate the identified pollutants, designing water quality monitoring programs that will
capture both the baseline levels of the prioritized pollutants and the changes to those pollutants based on the proposed
mitigation actions, increasing beach reports (including sampling at all 4 beaches and addition of 2 new beaches and the
mooring field) to once per week mirroring the current sampling regimen followed by FDOH, increasing community
knowledge of data/beach report implications by adding all City of Key West beach sites to the MML Beach Conditions
Reporting System (BCRS), and assisting with design of a new beach water quality monitoring plan for the City of Key West.
The Project Team has >20 years of experience developing water quality monitoring programs for municipalities, has
combined two labs (MML and Jacobs) that maintain NELAC certifications with the State of Florida Department of Health,
Bureau of Public Health Laboratories, Florida Department of Environmental Protection, and has significant experience
working throughout the Florida Keys, including within the City of Key West.
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2. Qualifications and Relevant Experience

Mote Marine Laboratory (MML) is an independent, nonprofit marine research organization (not a sole
proprietorship, corporation, partnership, or joint venture) based in Sarasota, Florida, with additional campuses
throughout southwest Florida and the Florida Keys, founded by Eugenie Clark in 1955. MML is under the
leadership of President and CEO, Dr. Michael P. Crosby who is advised by a Board of Directors. Current Board
Officers include Chairman Sandi Stuart, Vice Board Chairman Howard “Skip” Swan, Treasurer Scott Collins,
and Secretary Andrew Economos.

The organizational structure for the project is as follows: Dr. M.P. Crosby, President and CEO of Mote
Marine Laboratory (MML), is responsible for overall Laboratory resource allocation. Reporting to him, and
independent of the project, is Dr. Cathy J. Walsh, Senior Scientist and the Quality Assurance Officer for MML.
The Project will be conducted under the Chemical and Physical Ecology and the Ocean Acidification Programs
managed by Dr. Emily R. Hall, MML Senior Scientist and Program Manager. She will be assisted by Ms.
Melissa Sante, Ms. Susan Launay, and Ms. Megan Gannon for laboratory oversight, logistical planning, and
fieldwork. Dr. Kirstie Francis will lead Tasks 5 and 6 (evaluation of bacteria data and development of a
sampling plan for bacterial source). Ms. Aspen Cook will lead Task 5 (development of a community-facing
platform to present beach information). A subcontract will be provided to Mr. Jon Perry (Environmental
Science Associates [ESA]) and to Mr. Richard Cleaver (Jacobs/OMI). Mr. Perry will provide expertise on
water quality assessments (Tasks 1-3) and Mr. Cleaver will provide analyses of microbial samples (Task 4).

Key project personnel are listed below (resumes are included in Appendix A) with highlights of their
experience and project assignments. In addition to those described, the staff who will be the primary sampling
crew leaders have each received formal field sampling training and safe boating training. Sufficient additional
staff are available as needed for the field and analytical needs of the project.

Dr. Michael P. Crosby, MML President and
CEO, is the project administrator of all
research projects at MML. Dr. Crosby has > 30
years of experience in managing large,
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contracts, grants, permits, policy and personnel
towards the institutional mission and vision.
He also serves as administrator for several
research initiatives that organize numerous
internal and external partners, through competitive grant processes, and navigation of related policy and
regulatory compliance issues, to address an applied science need effecting our ocean and coastal resources.
Mr. Claridge joined Mote in 2019 and has 20 years of public sector experience with the Florida Department of
Environmental Protection directing statewide coastal management, restoration, and resilience programs;
managing state lands and conservation easements; administering Air, Waste, Water Facility, and
Environmental Resource Regulatory Programs in Southeast Florida and leading large scale mine reclamation
efforts in Central Florida.

Dr. Cathy J. Walsh, MML Senior Scientist and Program Manager, is the Quality Assurance Officer for Mote
Marine Laboratory and will continue in this role for this project. Her administration and routine assessments
ensure that stated goals regarding accuracy, precision, and completeness of all technical elements, as specified
in MML's Quality Plan, are met. Outside of the actual project structure, she will report her findings and
recommendations directly to the President of MML, Dr. Croshy.




Dr. Emily R. Hall, MML Senior Scientist and Program Manager, has been with MML for 20 years. She is the
project manager of multiple water quality assessment projects at MML. She has expertise with research and
monitoring of nutrients, carbonate chemistry, and other water quality parameters, especially in relation to coral
reefs and harmful algal blooms. She currently leads the Ambient Water Quality Monitoring Program in
Sarasota Bay (for Sarasota County), the Hydrobiological Monitoring Plan and the Continuous Water Quality
Monitoring Programs (for the City of North Port), a water quality monitoring program throughout the upper
and lower Florida Keys (for the EPA), and carbonate chemistry monitoring at Looe Key (for NOAA). Previous
work includes research on nutrients in tidal creeks to develop Total Maximum Daily Loads, developing optical
models for seagrasses, and studying source of nutrient pollution in estuarine systems using stable isotope
techniques. She has participated in the sampling efforts of all projects she manages and her experience in data
analysis facilitates evaluation of sampling design. She is responsible for obtaining and maintaining Florida Lab
Certification under the National Environmental Lab Accreditation Conference (NELAC) guidelines.

Ms. Melissa Sante, MML Staff Chemist and Lab Manager, has a background in analytical chemistry. She
coordinates all field sampling efforts within the Florida Keys related to water quality programs, including the
ongoing South Florida EPA projects, the NOAA carbonate chemistry monitoring project at Looe Key, and the
FWRI/MML Cooperative sampling for Florida Red Tide in the Florida Keys. She is responsible for all chain
of custody, lab management, QA/QC, ordering, field sampling, and analyses. She has been trained in all FDEP
field SOPs and MML QA Manual requirements.

Megan Gannon, MML Technician, is currently responsible for field sampling, chain of custody, following
QA/QC requirements, analyses, and general lab upkeep in the Florida Keys. She has been trained in all FDEP
field SOPs and MML QA Manual requirements.

Dr. Kirstie Francis, MML Postdoctoral Research Fellow in Molecular Microbiology, has a background in
environmental sampling for HAB toxin extraction and eDNA analysis, microbial culture, and molecular
(gPCR) assay optimization. During her graduate studies she optimized and executed a differential gene
expression assay using qPCR to determine mechanism of action of anti-tumor compounds. In her current work,
she focuses on culturing marine microorganisms from diverse ecosystems in pursuit of novel secondary
metabolites produced by the microbial isolates with therapeutic or commercial potential. In the project
proposed herein, she will aid in analysis of bacterial contaminant data and contribute to the development of a
comprehensive water quality monitoring plan focused on identifying the source of fecal contamination.

Ms. Aspen Cook, MML Senior Environmental Specialist and BCRS Operations Supervisor, maintains MML’s
Beach Conditions Reporting System (BCRS), conducting research for mitigation strategies of Florida red tide,
and assisting with intern research projects. She leads projects to expand Mote’s volunteer and community
science programs, increase community engagement in scientific research, and help communicate scientific
information to the public.

Mr. Jon Perry, Environmental Science Associates (ESA) Principal Environmental Scientist, has over 30 years
of experience collecting and analyzing the physical, chemical, and biological properties of aquatic systems
throughout Florida. His areas of expertise include monitoring design, watershed assessment (status and trends),
pollutant loading and hydrodynamic modeling, and geographic information system technology. He has
regulatory experience with developing Minimum Flows and Levels, Total Maximum Daily Loads, Reasonable
Assurance Plan development, and National Pollution Discharge Elimination Systems reporting. His principal
responsibilities are focused on providing clients with technical analysis to aid decision making.

Mr. Richard Cleaver, Jacobs Project Manager, Technical Director, and Laboratory Manager (City of Key West
Waste Water Treatment Plant), is responsible for overall management and leadership including profit and loss,
permit compliance, safety, quality, and client relationship management. He provides leadership and
management for all 32 employee functions. He is responsible for the planning, organization, operations,
maintenance, and improvement of the facility. His laboratory expertise includes supervision of all lab and
operation staff, obtaining and maintaining Florida Lab Certification under NELAC.

FL Department of Health (DOH), will be formal collaborators on this work.

There are an additional 30-35 fulltime staff at the Elizabeth Moore International Center for Coral Reef
Research and Restoration facility in Summerland Key who will be available for sampling and shipping of
analyses should the need arise. This Project Team will remain committed to the project until completion.



Project History of MML. The research programs involved with the proposed work at MML include the
Chemical and Physical Ecology Program and the Ocean Acidification Research program. Within these
programs, studies of marine and estuarine environments pertinent to the RFP include investigations of water
and sediment quality, coral environmental requirements, receiving water studies of stormwater and sewage
effluents, thermal impacts, physical processes, water management approaches, and trend analyses.

MML proposes to assess the current state of water quality knowledge, in partnership with the City of Key
West, establish a water quality monitoring program, and provide public communication on these topics. The
following section demonstrates MML’s experience and expertise in: conducting water quality and biological
sampling and monitoring; managing water quality data; ability to collect environmental samples in accordance
with Florida Department of Environmental Services (FDEP) Standard operating procedures; deploying and
collecting data; conducting surface water sampling; maintaining and calibrating field meters that measure
dissolved oxygen, pH, temperature, specific conductance, and salinity; performing laboratory analysis (either
by Consultant or subconsultant), including laboratory certifications and method detection limits; and
familiarity with Florida Keys study areas,

The capabilities of MML to conduct the field collections and laboratory analyses are clearly evidenced by
the fact that MML has been a contractor to other municipalities for >20 years. Key staff have training and
experience in agency-approved field sampling techniques (especially Florida Department of Environmental
Protection [FDEP]). Staff also have an extensive navigational knowledge of the Florida Keys and can
efficiently sample within the allowed time windows without violating no wake or slow speed zones. MML’s
abilities in data management have been demonstrated by assisting local, state and federal institutions to
incorporate water quality data from monitoring programs into the data repositories such as the Sarasota County
Water Atlas and the DEP Watershed Information Network (WIN).

Water quality monitoring and deployment of in situ instrumentation comprise a large proportion of MML's
aggregate experience. MML already owns and operates all equipment necessary for the proposed monitoring
project and can continue the sampling with no interruptions. Pertinent resources include MML vehicles
(available for trailering boats as needed) and a full complement of boats suitable for safely negotiating the
wide variety of sampling conditions encountered, which range from extremely shallow to turbulent, deeper
water, and foul-weather conditions. Field equipment owned includes electronic in situ water quality
instrumentation and backup instruments (dissolved oxygen, pH, temperature, specific conductance, and
salinity), GPS navigation systems, water sampling devices, computing resources, laboratory space, analytical
capabilities, analytical certifications, and experience in the analysis of nutrients, inorganics, metals, organics,
and organics.

NELAC Audit Results The Chemical and Physical Ecology Program at MML is certified by the Florida
Department of Health (DOH), Bureau of Laboratories, under the Non-Potable Water - general chemistry
categories (#E84091, Appendix B). Certification is recognized by the National Environmental Laboratory
Accreditation Program Institution (TNI) and extends to all parameters requested under this RFP other than
bacteria. The most recent external audit was completed in February 2025. Samples for bacteria analyses will
be collected by MML staff and will be analyzed by a subconsultant (Jacobs) who are also certified by TNI
under the Non-Potable Water — general chemistry and non-potable water - microbiology (#£55389, Appendix
B) and who currently analyze bacteria samples for the Department of Health in the Florida Keys. As part of
the certification process, MML and Jacobs participates in blind sample proficiency testing program twice a
year. Results with DOH-approved sample providers have been 100% acceptable since the inception of TNI,
and both laboratories recently received a “Certificate of Quality” for proficiency testing for 2024.

MML has a long history of commitment to quality assurance procedures and prepared the first QA Plan in
the State of Florida to meet Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) guidelines and to obtain the then-Florida
Department of Environmental Regulation approval. When sampling and analytical efforts do not have a
specific project quality assurance plan, the laboratory conducts activities under an approved Quality Manual
which details the quality assurance procedures followed in order to produce high quality data in conformance
with Florida Administrative Code, Chapter 62-160 and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection’s
Standard Operating Procedures (https://floridadep.gov/dear/quality-assurance/content/dep-sops). Al



https://floridadep.gov/dear/quality-assurance/content/dep-sops

laboratory standard operating procedures are listed in detail in the MML Quality Manual (Appendix C),
include details on method detection limits, and are available upon request. All subcontract standard operating
procedures (that are NELAC certified) are also available upon request.

Detailed Facilities After its construction in 2017, Mote’s Elizabeth Moore International Center for Coral Reef
Research & Restoration (IC2R3) became the first U.S. Green Building Council LEED Gold Commercial
certified building in Monroe County, honored for its outstanding, eco-friendly design and construction. IC2R3
includes 19,000 ft? of research, education, offices and dormitories, WiFi and convenient access to Lower
Florida Keys coral reef sites and the CKW. The IC2R3 building is a category-5 hurricane resistant, precast
concrete-based building. The eco-friendly design includes 30.1 kilowatt solar panels, rainwater capture system,
and high-efficiency heating and cooling. Formerly named the Tropical Research Laboratory, IC2R3 is now
home to a variety of current Mote programs with ongoing research at IC2R3, including: Coral Reef Restoration,
Coral Health & Disease Research, Ecotoxicology, Marine & Freshwater Aquaculture Research, Ocean
Acidification Research, and more.

MML maintains a fleet of 17 fully insured/equipped sampling vessels ranging in length from 14 ft. to 46
ft located throughout all campuses. All but one offshore vessel at MML are able to be trailered and moved
throughout campuses. Several boats are modified for task-specific duties including water quality monitoring,
instrument deployment, fishing, specimen collection, observation, SCUBA diving, and bottom sampling.
Vessels to be used for this project are currently located in Summerland Key, FL, equipped with GPS,
fathometers, and communications. MML operates 23 vehicles including 16 pick-up trucks equipped for towing
and equipment transport. Four of those vehicles are permanently located in the Florida Keys.

MML has an extensive inventory of field and laboratory equipment. Mote staff routinely design, fabricate,
test, and deploy instruments for sampling and measurement, including miniaturized, robotic, autonomous, or
electronic apparatus for specialized applications. Mote also advises instrument manufacturers on product
performance, conducts independent audits, and performs beta-tests for prototypic devices, such as next-
generation multiparameter probes.

Technological capabilities employed by MML scientists include remote sensing; atmospheric and
oceanographic samplers; flow-through, and grab samplers for water chemistry; in-situ bioassay exposure
systems; analytical laboratories for inorganic and organic chemistry; and exposure laboratories. Scientific data
analysis employs proprietary software, citation systems, and software supporting specific hardware. In
addition, commercial software in use at Mote for statistical and related analyses includes ArcGlIS, Biostat,
EcoHab, MatLab, Primer, Python, R, SigmaPlot, SigmaStat, Statistica, Surfer, and Systat.

A full range of information systems support is available to MML staff, from infrastructure, installation and
maintenance to helpdesk support. A wide range of information systems services are available at all Mote
Marine Laboratory campuses and remote sites. Infrastructure and system planning, installation and support is
provided by three full time staff. The LANSs consist of mixed level 2 and 3 switched gigabit Ethernet networks
providing IPv4 connectivity to over 750 desktops, laptops and other network capable devices. Internet service
for the various campuses is primarily provided by AT&T, Xfinity and Frontier with a combined bandwidth of
200Mbps to 1Gbps per site depending on location and ISP availability. Mote is also an Internet2 affiliate,
sponsored by USF, which allows 100Mbps of low latency bandwidth connectivity to other research and
educational institutions as well as certain commercial peers via Florida LambdaRail. Internet and cloud
services are primarily provided by Google, Amazon and Microsoft, with an additional 2PB of NAS and SAN
storage hosted locally.

Safety Hazardous Waste Plan MML is a small quantity generator, generating no more than 1,000 kg of
hazardous wastes or 1 kg of acutely hazardous wastes during a month and accumulating no more than 6,000
kg of hazardous wastes at any one time. MML has no wastes which are excluded by 40 CFR 261. A copy of
Mote’s Chemical Hygiene Plan and Laboratory Requirements is found in Appendix D.

Number of Analyses MML routinely analyses over 100,000 water samples/year.



3. References and Quality of Past Performance on Similar Projects

Other projects which illustrate MML’s specific experience in water quality, in conducting extensive
monitoring programs, or expertise in managing large data sets are described briefly below. The water
quality and data analysis portions of these projects were all conducted by the same staff proposed for this
RFP. These examples serve to illustrate MML’s and project staff’s wealth of experience in the region. We
urge you to contact the listed references (Table 1) for their personal evaluation of our professionalism and
the quality of data produced. We also have provided two letters of references as an attachment to this
package. One is from Ms. Heather Bryen at Sarasota County and one is from Mr. Michael Drennan at the
City of North Port.

Relevant Experience

Sarasota County Ambient Water Quality Monitoring Program: For the last 28 years, the Chemical and
Physical Ecology Program at MML has conducted Sarasota County’s ambient monitoring program from
southern Sarasota Bay to Lemon Bay, and within the Myakka River. The current program continues until
2028. Data collection includes sampling of all stations within two hours of local noon. In situ physical
measurements, light attenuation, and samples for a variety of nutrients, and demands are collected monthly
from 40 stations. The project has also included deployment of continuous monitors to collect 24-hour
records of physical parameters, capturing diurnal and tidal signals in dissolved oxygen, salinity, and
temperature at selected locations. Datasets are processed in a manner that they can be uploaded to the
Sarasota County Water Atlas and WIN. Dr. Emily R. Hall is the project manager, Ms. Susan Launay is the
laboratory and data manager, and fieldwork is coordinated by Senior Chemist Camia Buehler.

Initiation date: 2000; Completion date: 2028
Contract Officer: Ms. Heather Bryen
Contract Office: Sarasota County Public Works-Stormwater

City of Northport Minimum Flows and Levels: Since 2004, samples have been collected in the
Myakkahatchee Creek monthly in support of the minimum flows and levels determination by the Southwest
Florida Water Management District, but otherwise similar to the Sarasota County ambient water quality
monitoring. Samples are analyzed for orthophosphorus, total phosphorus, nitrate-nitrite-nitrogen,
ammonium-nitrogen, total Kjeldahl nitrogen, chlorophyll a, turbidity, color, total suspended solids, BOD,
and specific conductance. Datasets are processed in a manner that they can be uploaded to WIN. Dr. Emily
R. Hall is the project manager, Ms. Susan Launay is the laboratory and data manager, and fieldwork is
coordinated by Senior Chemist Camia Buehler.

Initiation date: 2007; Completion date: 2026 (will be renewed for 2025-2026)
Contract Officer: Mr. Chad Nosbisch
Contract Office: City of North Port

EPA South Florida Program: Florida Keys Water Quality and Climate Monitoring to inform Lower Keys
Reef Restoration: Initiated in 2023, this program measures monthly water quality and carbonate chemistry
parameters at 6 coral restoration sites in the Lower Keys (Looe Key, Newfound Harbor, Munson Reef,
American Shoals, Marker 32, and Eastern Dry Rocks). Water samples are collected by MML staff from
Summerland Key, FL and either processed (e.g. carbonate chemistry) or immediately shipped to MML in
Sarasota, FL for water quality (e.g. nutrients) analyses. This data is integrated into effectiveness of
restoration sites as well as comparisons of coral restoration sites to provide some value for restoration
efforts and for overall coral research questions in this region. This dataset is providing a more spatially and
temporally frequent dataset that has not previously been included with coral restoration sites in the lower
Florida Keys. This project is managed concurrently with the Florida International University (co-PI Dr.
Henry Briceno) by Dr. Emily R. Hall. Ms. Melissa Sante (Florida Keys) is the laboratory manager and field
coordinator in the Florida Keys and Ms. Susan Launay is the laboratory and data manager (Sarasota).




Initiation date: 2023; Completion date: 2026
Contract Officer: Ms. Elizabeth Smith
Contract Office: EPA South Florida Region

EPA South Florida Program: Florida Keys Water Quality to inform Upper and Lower Keys Reef
Restoration: Beginning September 2025, this program will measure monthly water quality and carbonate
chemistry parameters at 12 coral restoration sites in the Lower Keys (Looe Key, Newfound Harbor, Munson
Reef, American Shoals, Marker 32, and Eastern Dry Rocks). Water samples are collected by MML staff
from Summerland Key, FL and either processed (e.g. carbonate chemistry) or immediately shipped to MML
in Sarasota, FL for water quality (e.g. nutrients) analyses. This data is integrated into effectiveness of
restoration sites as well as comparisons of coral restoration sites to provide some value for restoration
efforts and for overall coral research questions in this region. This dataset is providing a more spatially and
temporally frequent dataset that has not previously been included with coral restoration sites in the lower
Florida Keys. This project is managed concurrently with the Florida International University (co-Pl Dr.
Henry Briceno) by Dr. Emily R. Hall. Ms. Melissa Sante (Florida Keys) is the laboratory manager and field
coordinator in the Florida Keys and Ms. Susan Launay is the laboratory and data manager (Sarasota).

Initiation date: 2025; Completion date: 2028
Contract Officer: Ms. Elizabeth Smith
Contract Office: EPA South Florida Region

FWRI/MML Red Tide Cooperative Program: This >20-year project is a cooperative effort between MML
and the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, Fish and Wildlife Research Institute to determine
and quantify the multiple factors that contribute to the initiation, maintenance and termination of harmful algal
blooms, specifically Florida red tide (Karenia brevis) along the Florida Gulf coast (and includes within the
Florida Keys). Samples are collected approximately monthly and during event responses, physical
parameters are measured, and samples are analyzed for inorganic and total nutrients and chlorophyll. This
project is managed by Dr. Emily R. Hall.

Initiation date: 2001; Completion date: 2025 (will be renewed for 2025-2028)
Contract Officer: Dr. Katherine Hubbard
Contract Office: Fish and Wildlife Research Institute

PCMHAB Florida Red Tide Mitigation: This is a multi-institutional project with the overall purpose to
assess the effectiveness, environmental acceptability, costs, and scalability of clay dispersal as a K. brevis
bloom control strategy. Goals include assessing the effects of dissolved organic matter on flocculation and
modify clay chemistry as necessary to improve flocculation in natural waters, assessing the effectiveness
and environmental impacts of clay flocculation in laboratory and mesocosm studies, conducting field trials
using a tiered approach at increasing spatial scales and across different ecosystems, and assessing the
overall effectiveness, feasibility, impacts, scalability, and acceptability of clay as a Karenia bloom control
strategy. Dr. Emily R. Hall is the project manager for the MML team (overall project is led by Dr. Donald
Anderson at Woods Hole Oceanographic Institute).

Initiation date: 2020; Completion date: 2026
Contract Officer: Dr. Felix Martinez
Contract Office: NOAA PCMHAB



Table 1. Client references and telephone numbers for MML.

Dr. Jorge Brenner

Executive Director

GCOO0Ss

Texas A&M University, Dept. of Oceanography
3126 TAMU, College Station, TX 77843
361-696-1776

jorge.brenner@gcoos.org

Ms. Heather Bryen

Environmental Specialist I11

Sarasota County Public Works-Stormwater
1001 Sarasota Center Blvd., Sarasota, FL 34240
941-538-1462, hbryen@scgov.net

Mr. Michael G. Drennan

Water Plant Superintendent

City of North Port

5655 North Port Blvd, North Port, Fl. 34287
941-445-7049, mdrennan@northportfl.gov

Ms. Debra Hernandez

Executive Director

SECOORA

P.O. Box 13856, Charleston, SC 29422
843-906-8686, debra@secoora.org

Dr. Katherine Hubbard

Director, FWC Center for Red Tide Research
Harmful Algal Bloom Monitoring and Research

Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission-

Fish and Wildlife Research Institute (FWC-FWRI)
100 Eighth Avenue SE, St. Petersburg, FL 33701
(727)502-4961, katherine.hubbard@myfwc.com

Mr. Chad Nosbisch

Chief Operator

City of North Port

5655 North Port Blvd, North Port, FL 34287
941-240-8009, cnoshisch@northportfl.gov

Ms. Elizabeth Smith

South Florida Program Coordinator
Ocean & Estuarine Management Section
U.S. EPA | Region 4

404-562-8721, smith.elizabeth@epa.gov

Dr. Felix Martinez

Program Manager

NOS/NCCOS/Competitive Research Program
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
4840 South State Rd.; Ann Arbor, M1 48108
734-741-2254, Felix.Martinez@NOAA.gov
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Sarasota County Public Works

1001 Sarasota Center Blvd.
Sarasota, FL 34240

phone: 941-861-5000
scgov.net

Sarasota County has had 2 close partnership with Mote Marine Laboratory Inc. since 1998. We rely
heavily on this entity for sampling and laboratory analysis every month for Sarasota County’s eight bay
segments for 40 sampling locations. Our Bay Ambient Sampling program fulfills the State of Florida
Department of Environmental Protection NPDES and MS4 permit requirements for nutrient monitoring,.

Sarasota is pleased to continue working with Mote’s team due to their expertise, competence, consistency,
and hard work. They handle our sampling and laboratory needs from start to finish. Mote takes care of
all stages of coordinating three sampling crews that handle: all ficld meter calibrations and verifications,
providing and maintaining necessary marine vessels, consistently providing field quality assurance
measures, providing accurate field readings and environmental observations at every station, as well as
water quality sample collection according to FDEP Standard Operating Mcthods. The County adheres
to a rigorous parameter regime encompassing inorganic nitrogen, organic nitrogen, orthophosphate, total
phosphate, chlorophyll a, color, and biochemical oxygen demand. The laboratory analysis is conducted in
accordance with EPA and Standard Methods protocols along with numerous quality assurance
procedures. Mote’s analytical and management team submits monthly water quality to FDEP on the
County’s behalf. This final task involves all quality assurance of field and laboratory data, maintaining a
water quality Laboratory Information Management System, preparing all final electronic deliverables, and
interacting with FDEP for any data queries. The Sarasota County budget for calendar year 2025 for
Mote Marine Laboratory Inc.’s suite of services is $193,944.00

I am pleased to provide this letter at Mote Marine and Emily Hall’s request.

Heather Bryen

Public Works — Stormwater

Water Quality Specialist — Environmental Specialist 111
hbryen{@scgov.net

941-538-1462
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April 1, 2025

Dr. Emily R. Hall

Mote Marine Laboratory
1600 Ken Thompson Parkway
Sarasota, FL 34236

Dear Dr. Hall and review committee,

I am writing on behalf of the City of North Port Utilities Department. We have worked with
Mote Marine Laboratory (Mote) since 2004 on three separate, but related, projects: North Port
Hydrobiological Monitoring Plan, North Port Continuous Monitoring, and North Port Triennial
Reporting. The City of North Port is operating under a Southwest Florida Water Management
District Individual Water Use Permit No. 20 002923.015 (dated April 8, 2011). As part of this
permit, Special Condition 17 requires monthly sample and data collection under a defined
Hydrobiological Monitoring Plan (HBMP) as submitted to the District on June 13, 2006.
Changes to the existing HBMP may be proposed but may require modification of the Water Use
Permit. The HBMP effort is a recurring work element of the Utilities Department and is being
performed by Mote in conjunction with Utilities staff. On a triennial basis, the District also
requires a data summary and interpretation to evaluate if withdrawals by the City have caused, or
will cause, adverse impacts to the ecology of the river and/or its estuary (as defined by District
Rule and associated Performance Standards). The last of these reports was prepared by Mote and
submitted in 2024. The upcoming report is due April 1, 2027 and provision for this report will be
included in the FY 2026-2027 budget together with the ongoing monthly monitoring effort.

The City of North Port is happy to continue collaborating with Mote’s team, recognizing their
expertise, professionalism, reliability, and dedication. Mote handles all field meter (discrete and
in situ) calibrations and verifications, marine vessels, field quality assurance, and water quality
sample collection according to FDEP Standard Operating Methods. Mote conducts all laboratory
analyses in accordance with EPA and Standard Methods protocols and follows all quality
assurance/quality control protocols, as required by the NELAC Institute. | am pleased to provide
this letter at Dr. Emily Hall’s request. The 2024-2025 budget is $105,122. Please do not hesitate
to reach out if you have any questions.

Michael G Wie e benan
Michael Drennan Drennan Jr - 7755060
Water Plant Superintendent
5655 N Port Blvd. North Port FI. 34287
mdrennan@northportfl.gov
941-445-7049
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4. Project Approach. Water quality is of great importance to the City of Key West (CKW) because a healthy
marine ecosystem supports not only the local economy, but also major environmental and aesthetical quality
of life factors for residents and visitors. Therefore, the CKW has requested proposals to develop a rigorous,
science-based water quality monitoring program that will provide actionable information on priority water
quality issues (based on appropriate and effective scientific methods in accordance with local, state and
federal regulations and best practices) within the targeted waterways of the CKW. The data derived from this
monitoring program will be used to develop policies, programs, and practices to improve water quality.

The Impaired Waters Rule (IWR), Chapter 62-303, Florida Administrative Code (ldentification of
Impaired Surface Waters), establishes a formal mechanism for identifying surface waters in Florida that are
impaired by pollutants. The 1998 Clean Water Act 303(d) Impaired Waters List listed “the Florida Keys” as
impaired for nutrients (with some regions also impaired for dissolved oxygen). A Florida Keys Reasonable
Assurance Plan (FKRAP) was developed by the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) in
cooperation with local governments (including the CKW), state agencies and federal agencies within the
Florida Keys to address the impairments. The FKRAP was approved by the US EPA regulations and section
403.067, Florida Statutes and is listed on the 303(d) Clean Water Act list of impaired waters until all water
guality standards are reached and maintained. The FKRAP is comprised of 23 estuarine waterbody
assessment units identified by a water body identification (WBID) within the Halo Zone water, two of which
are in the CKW (1N and 1S). As of 2022, the CKW WBIDs were listed in category 4b for total nitrogen (TN)
and total phosphorus (TP) although recent evaluations show that those WBIDs are currently (as of 2023)
meeting standards for TN and TP.

The CKW has completed or is in the progress of completing multiple water quality restoration projects
to meet the FDEP standards. It is imperative to continue monitoring these WBIDs to assess the long-term
results and functionality of these restoration activities. However, if monitoring is not conducted at appropriate
spatial and/or frequency scale (at minimum once a month), short-term or localized impacts could be missed.
Even if no longer listed, CKW must remain in compliance per Chapter 62-302.530(47)(b) — “in no case shall
nutrient concentrations of a water body be altered so as to cause an imbalance of natural populations of flora
and fauna.” Water quality throughout the Florida Keys (including Key West) is currently monitored by the
Water Quality Protection Program (WQPP), managed by the Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary
(FKNMS), which aims to maintain water quality targets set by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)
in nearshore and coastal sites. This monitoring program includes over 100 stations from Biscayne Bay to the
Dry Tortugas, has been sampled quarterly over the past 30 years, and provides a holistic view of water quality
trends in the Florida Keys. There are other monitoring programs within the CKW geographic areas of concern
(e.g. with funding provided by EPA (#02D43323). Water quality is being monitored monthly at 6 coral
restoration sites in the lower keys by Mote Marine Laboratory (MML); other university projects, and other
entities within the CKW, but these need to be evaluated to determine spatial gaps and other concerns. The
WQPP is all-encompassing for the larger water quality picture throughout the Florida Keys yet it doesn’t
include fine spatial and temporal changes at specific sites near and within the CKW. Many agencies have
discussed the need for more frequent sampling to determine as real-time effects as possible, and other
municipalities throughout Florida have already embraced more frequent sampling/monitoring (e.g. Sarasota
County). More frequent water quality monitoring is crucial for identifying and addressing emerging
problems, determining compliance with regulations, and ensuring water safety for human and environmental
health. It helps track changes in water quality over time, provide more information for source of pollution,
and enables proactive measures to protect water resources.

The proposed MML Project Team (led by MML and composed of MML scientist with MML
subcontractors from Environmental Science Associates [ESA] and Jacobs, Inc. [Jacobs]) acknowledge that
the scope of work provided in the RFP represents the general requirements and objectives for the project but
does not constitute an exhaustive list of all tasks, services, or deliverables that may be required to
appropriately address the CKW water quality priorities. The MML Project Team will be responsible for
conducting a thorough review of the project’s needs and has the expertise and experience to provide all
necessary services and support to fulfill the project’s goals, even if not explicitly mentioned in the scope.
Any additional work, tasks, or services required to complete the project in full compliance with the objectives,




industry standards, and applicable regulations shall be deemed the responsibility of the MML Project Team
and will be provided at no additional cost, unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by both parties.

Proposed Activity Schedule. Proposed activity schedules are presented in Table 2 and 3.

Table 2. Activity schedule for Year 1

Task Description Month
1 2 3 4 |5 6 7 8 9 10 | 11 | 12
Task 1 Review summarize and present data across
X | x |x
GOCs.
Task 2 Identify and present mitigation actions X X X X

Task 3 Design and present a water quality
monitoring program

Task 4 Bacteria monitoring at 6 beaches (weekly) X X X X X X X X X X X X
Task 5 Increase community knowledge on beaches
(BCRS)

Task 6 Design new beach water quality monitoring
program

Table 3. Proposed activity schedule for years 2-5 (depending on results from year 1).
Years Description Month (frequency thd in year 1)

1 2 3 4 |5 6 7 8 9 10 |11 |12

Years Implement new water quality sampling
2-5 program for nutrients and other x x X x x x x x X X X X

contaminants at GOCs (established in year

1)
Years Weekly samples of bacteria analyses in
2-5 collaboration with DOH (established in year | x X X X X X X X X X X X

1)
Years Data uploads to WIN
0.5 X |[x |x |[x |x |x |x |[x |x |x |x |X
Years Presentations to WQIPP and CKW
2-5 Commissioners quarterly (timeline tbd in X X X X

year 1)
Years BCRS community reporting continued use
2.5 X |[x |x |x |x |x |x |x |x |x |x |X
Years Implement new beach bacteria source

o X |x |x |[x |x |[x |x |[x |x |x |x |X

2-5 monitoring program

OPERATIONS PLAN:
Task 1. The MML Project Team will identify and obtain all existing water quality data including, but not
limited to nutrients, chlorophyll-a, in situ parameters (dissolved oxygen, salinity, temperature, and light
extinction coefficients) and fecal indicator bacteria parameters across several key geographic areas of concern
(GOCs) within the CKW waterways, including but not limited to: Key West Harbor & Outer Harbor; popular
recreational areas such as beaches and docks; Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary (FKNMS); waters
within the sanctuary boundaries; Stock Island Channel; and Swimming Beaches. The primary source will be
the Florida Department of Environmental Protection’s (DEP) Impaired Waters Rule database. Additional
data will be identified from the DEP Watershed Information Network (WIN), the Environmental Protection
Agency’s Water Quality Exchange (WQX), and other data generators, e.g., university and researchers
working in the region. The data will be reviewed for quality prior to inclusion before further analysis.
Ancillary data, such as rainfall data will also be obtained to determine if any water quality trends identified
can be attributed to these phenomena. Following development of the water quality database the next step will
entail an assessment of temporal and spatial trends in the data collected. The primary analytical tool to
investigate the temporal trends will be the Seasonal Kendall-Tau trend test. Spatial trends will be achieved
primarily using GIS techniques.

The MML Project Team will also ascertain compliance with the current applicable state and federal
criteria. The targets of primary concern are nutrients, chlorophyll-a, dissolved oxygen, and fecal indicator




bacteria. We will also attempt to analyze compliance with the applicable water quality targets listed in the
Florida Keys Reasonable Assurance Plan. The results of this task will be presented to the City Commission
to develop a prioritized list of pollutants and Geographic Areas of Concern.

Task 2. Based on the results of the Task 1 assessment, the MML Project Team will identify mitigation
strategies to address any deficiencies identified. Due to many confounding factors, such as the lack of
available space and geomorphic conditions, there are not many viable locations within the watershed to
implement the typical stormwater BMPs such as stormwater retention systems. In these cases, the MML
Project Team will look for methods that reduce pollutants, while not restricting stormwater flow, that have a
small footprint. Low Impact Development (LID) is an alternative that may be a viable alternative. LID
systems generally work by reducing the volume of runoff at the source through facilities that hold water back
and allow it to “soak” into the ground. These can take many forms such as rain gardens, vegetated swales,
rainwater water harvesting (rain barrels). Many of these techniques can be combined with others in what are
called “treatment trains” to multiply the load reductions.

Task 3. After completion of Tasks 1 and 2, including presentation to the CKW Commissioners, the MML
Project Team will evaluate and develop a comprehensive water quality program for the CKW. The MML
Project Team will utilize the Prioritized List by GOCs developed as part of Task 1 to develop a
comprehensive water quality monitoring plan that will be proposed for years 2-5. It will include, at minimum
the GOCs (unless determined unnecessary by Tasks 1 and 2). The plan will look to maximize the existing
information and will allow the City to track improving/degrading trends in those parameters and
communicate those results to its citizens. The monitoring plan will likely include the use of in situ techniques
as well as laboratory analysis. All sampling will be aligned with the procedures outlined in FDEP’s Standard
Operating Procedures for Field Activities (DEP_SOP-001/01, Effective 04/16/2018) and all laboratory
analyses will be conducted by a NELAC certified laboratory where necessary. To ensure these quality
measures are adhered to, a comprehensive quality assurance plan will be developed and agreed upon by all
parties associated with the monitoring prior to the start. Once approved by the CKW, this project will begin
implementation.

Task 4. The MML Project Team will sample weekly for general water quality (salinity, temperature,
dissolved oxygen and pH) and bacteria (Enteroccocus) on 6 CKW beaches including: 1. Smathers Beach, 2.
Rest Beach, 3. Higgs Beach, 4. Fort Zachary Taylor State Park Beach, 5. South Beach, and 6. Dog Beach,
and the mooring field (7 total stations), at the start of this contract. Sampling and analyses will follow current
FDOH methods and will commence upon approval of this work.

Sampling activities will be conducted in accordance with Florida Administrative Code 62-160, Quality
Assurance Rule (including revisions), and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection’s Standard
Operating Procedures (SOPs), each with an effective date of April 16, 2018. See:
(https://floridadep.gov/dear/water-quality-standards-program/content/revisions-chapter-62-160-fac-quality-
assurance-and-dep; https://floridadep.gov/dear/quality-assurance/content/dep-sops). Please note that field
entities submitting data to FDEP are required to use the new SOPs, unless otherwise specified in a permit,
contract, or consent order. If the scope of the CKW RFP substantively differs from FDEP SOP’s, these
instances will be identified. The following section only identifies highlights of some of these procedures and
is not intended to be all-inclusive.

Logistic Planning/Mobilization. Prior to each sampling, station locations and probable conditions, speed
zones, and allowed time windows will be compiled to determine the most effective sampling strategy
consistent with sampling all stations within one day. Instruments, both primary and backup, will be calibrated
at the lab (MML). Check lists of boat, sampling gear, and backup instruments (both in situ and navigation)
will be used to minimize down time while in the field. Pre-cleaned sample containers will be pre-labeled with
unique 1D numbers and assembled into kits to be used at each station. Preservatives to be used in the field
will be prepared and documented. Cleaning and kit preparation will be documented in accordance with FDEP
SOPs and the MML Quality Assurance Plan.
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Instrument Calibrations. Bench calibrations will be performed before and after each sampling event on
all parameter subsections of the in-situ instrumentation. Parameters which have electronic adjustments
possible will be calibrated to read the correct values of known standards; KCI solutions for specific
conductance and salinity, two buffers for pH, and 100% saturation in air for dissolved oxygen (DO).
Temperature values have no adjustment possible but are confirmed at two points.

Field calibrations will be performed at the beginning and at the end of each day’s fieldwork. For pH, and
conductivity, standards are measured and required to fall within specified limits. DO calibration is checked
as % saturation of air readings at each station. Salinity data are calculated from conductance values and
temperature has been demonstrated to be extremely stable, and so these parameters are not field calibrated.
Bench calibrations of instruments will be repeated at the end of sampling for final calibration verification.

Station Identification. Each month’s station locations have been selected prior to fieldwork and are
loaded into the primary GPS units and back-up GPS handheld units. Field crews will also have a mapped
representation of the stations to be sampled. Crews will navigate to the station locations, approaching as
closely as possible given tidal conditions and water depths. Stations that have been selected to be mid-
channel in congested area may have to be moved to the side of the channel for safety. The sampling location
recorded will be the latitude and longitude readout of the primary GPS unit.

Grab Sample Collection. All field sampling will be completed according to Chapter 62-160, F.A.C., and
the DEP standard operating procedures (SOPs) for QA/QC required therein. Subsurface samples for bacteria
will be collected by hand between 1-2 feet below the surface using 300 ml sterile whirlpaks that are opened
and closed underwater to prevent contamination. Samples will be placed on ice for transport to the Jacobs
Lab. Staff from MML will sample the 6 beach locations and 1 mooring field location once/week (excluding
the weeks that FDOH samples are already collected). Samples for the 2 beaches that are not covered by
FDOH will also be collected on weeks that FDOH collects. FDOH and the MML Project Team will
communicate frequently to ensure collaborative efforts. All samples will be collected according to FDEP
Standard Operating Procedures (https:/floridadep.gov/dear/quality-assurance/content/dep-sops). Samples
will be returned immediately (within 6 hours) to the Jacobs Lab for analysis. Weekly samples from each of
the 6 beaches will be collected in one day. Subsurface samples for other water quality (determined after Tasks
1-3 are completed and planned for years 2-5) will be collected using a Niskin sampler rigged horizontally to
collect discrete depths within +/- 0.1 m. Niskin samples will be collected at 1.0 m below the surface or at
mid-depth (whichever is shallower).

All bacteria sampling will be completed on a single day and will be on a Monday through Thursday
schedule (excluding federal holidays). No samples will be collected on a Friday. Sampling schedule for
proposed water quality monitoring (after Tasks 1-3 are complete) will be determined at a later date.

In Situ Data Profiles. Physical data (temperature, specific conductance, salinity, pH, dissolved oxygen
[DO] and % saturation of DO) will be measured with multiparameter instrumentation (Hydrolab, YSI, or
equivalent) at each station. Instruments will be bench calibrated with known standards both before and after
each sampling day and are also subject to field calibrations. Backup instrumentation typically accompanies
all sampling crews to prevent any data losses due to instrument malfunction.

When probes are lowered to the proper depth (based on cable markings) and a stable reading obtained,
data will be electronically stored for later download. Data will also be recorded manually on the field data
sheet as a backup. Electronic data will be incorporated in the final data deliverable, but anomalous readings
can be confirmed with the field data hard copy. Raw electronic files will be archived as are the hard copies
of field data sheets.

Field Data Records. We will record field data on log sheets specifically designed for the project. Field
data forms proposed include the identification of specific field instruments and results of field calibrations of
in situ instrumentation for specific conductance, pH, and DO, and any other information generic to the
sampling crew and date. Station forms record all station-specific information (see FAC 62-160.240). Forms
will be produced on waterproof paper and bound for all field work. The proposed forms, together with
custody sheets incorporate all the data elements required by FDEP and the CKW.

Sample Custody. Sample chain of custody will be documented from time of collection until receipt at the
laboratory and storage in a secure area. Field activities on samples, preservatives and preservation checks
will be recorded on custody sheets as well. Custody of samples will be transferred as a group for all samples
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collected by the MML Project Team, including field and temperature blanks.

Bacteria Analysis. Analysis of Enterococci will be completed by the MML Project Team subcontractor
Jacobs Lab and will follow FDOH methods under NELAC certificate #E55389-24 (method
ENTEROLERT/QUANTI-TRAY; same methods for samples already collected by the FDOH).

Task 5. The MML Project Team will develop and integrate all FDOH bacteria monitoring data into the Beach
Conditions Reporting System (BCRS; visitbeaches.org) to lead to a better understanding of public health
effects due to natural and anthropogenic impacts and communicate bacteria-related health risk to the public.
These efforts will provide information to the public by providing, near real-time beach information to ensure
healthy and happy beach experiences. Year 1 will include implementation of technical plans for web
development and design for integration of bacteria data sharing, volunteer outreach and public education,
and expansion of BCRS reporting locations in Key West. This will include implementation of technical plans
to display bacteria data on the BCRS, including web development, design, and data sharing capabilities by
Mote staff and subcontracted wed/app development team and conducting volunteer and public outreach to
expand BCRS reporting in Key West. This will continue through years 2-5, if selected.

Task 6. The MML Project Team will develop a new beach water quality monitoring program specific to
bacteria. We will coordinate with stakeholders to guide expansion of existing nowcasting and forecasting
tools, in support of environmental health, economic vitality, and public health. The comprehensive bacterial
monitoring plan will be designed to include Microbial Source Tracking (MST) methods, a non-culture-based
approach in which DNA is extracted directly from the water at a site, and PCR primers are used for the
amplification and detection of species-specific markers of fecal contamination. Primers have been identified
which differentiate between human (HF183/BacR287), avian (Gull2), cow (CowM2 and CowM3), dog (DG3
and DG37), etc. sources of fecal contamination. While these methods have traditionally been used to answer
research questions rather than regulatory or public health applications, the US EPA released a standard
protocol for the detection of human waste marker HF183 in water samples in 2019. Integrating MST into the
new water quality monitoring plan would identify fecal contamination source and serve to place the CKW
on the forefront of cutting-edge monitoring strategies.

Organization and Coordination of Field Staff and Support Staff

Pl Emily R. Hall, Ph.D. (Senior Scientist and Program Manager, MML) will be responsible for overall project
management, data interpretation, meetings with the CKW, presentations to the CKW Commissioners and
WQIPP, and report writing. She will be responsible for communicating directly with the funding agency.
Co-PI Kevin Claridge (Vice President for Sponsored Programs & Coastal Policy, MML) will play a
significant role in Tasks 1 &2 and provide oversight for Task 4.

Co-PI Kirstie Francis, Ph.D. (Postdoctoral Associate, MML) will be responsible for assistance with
interpretation of bacteria data and development of Task 6.

Co-PI Aspen Cook (Staff Biologist, MML) will be responsible for all aspects of Task 4, including
development and maintenance of the BCRS Program for the CKW.

MML Field and Support Staff: Melissa Sante (Lab Manager and Staff Chemist, MML), located in
Summerland Key, FL will be responsible for all field work, sample collection, sample shipment/delivery,
field log processing, field instrument processing, and data upload to WIN. She will dedicate 2.9-month time
to this project. Megan Gannon (Technician, MML), located in Summerland Key, FL, will be responsible for
all field work, sample collection, sample shipment/delivery. She will dedicate 2.4-month time to this project.
All field analyses will be completed by 2 staff members each time. If injuries or illness prevents either of
these staff members from participating, other staff within MML in the Florida Keys will be made available
for field sampling and sample shipping/delivery.

MML Project Team Subcontractors: Jon Perry (Principle Environmental Scientist, ESA) will play a
significant role for historical data collation, analysis and interpretation, and water quality program planning.
Richard Cleaver (Jacobs) will play a significant role for all bacteria analyses.




Scheduling Activities. An initial sampling schedule will be submitted by the MML Project Team to the
CKW (see Table 2). This schedule will occur Monday through Thursday excluding any federal holidays. All
tasks for each station will be completed on the same day as a group. If there are any deviations from the
schedule (e.g. high water, weather, equipment failure, etc.), the CKW will be informed immediately and the
samples will be collected the next available day within a week.

Field data entry, QA, and correction procedures. Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC)
Methods. MML has a long history of commitment to quality assurance procedures and prepared the first QA
Plan in the State of Florida to meet EPA guidelines and to obtain the then-Florida Department of
Environmental Regulation approval. When sampling and analytical efforts do not have a specific project
quality assurance plan, MML conducts activities under an approved Quality Plan which details the quality
assurance procedures followed to produce high quality data in conformance with Florida Administrative
Code, Chapter 62-160 and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection’s Standard Operating
Procedures. The MML Project Team is familiar with standard sample submission requirements. All
requirements have been discussed with FDOH and the current FDOH contract lab who are a part of the MML
Project Team. The MML Project Team will be responsible for entering and verifying field data. When probes
are lowered to the proper depth (based on cable markings) and a stable reading obtained, data will be
electronically stored immediately for later download. Data will also be immediately recorded manually on
the field data sheet as a backup. Electronic data will be downloaded within 48 hours and incorporated in the
final data deliverable, but anomalous readings will be able to be confirmed with the field data hard copy.
Raw electronic files will be archived as are the hard copies of field data sheets. A copy of the field sheets
will be provided to the subcontract lab with the samples. All data will be, at minimum, uploaded to WIN,
BCRS, and other parties as requested by the CKW.

QA/QC Methods: All field and laboratory procedures are controlled by MML’s Quality Manual (Appendix
C), which meets NELAC standards, Chapter 5, Quality Systems. From sample receipt to data reporting,
required activities are clearly documented. Specific quality assurance activities pertinent to analyses include:
collection of replicate samples for chemical analyses; precision criteria applied to duplicate samples;
maintenance of sample chain-of-custody from collection until receipt at MML and storage in a secure area;
matrix/method compatibility check of at least 5 percent of all samples (spiked samples); analysis of field,
container and preservative blanks; accuracy criteria applied to spiked samples or standards; adherence to
EPA, FDEP parameter-specific holding times and preservation methods; replicate test and/or supervisor
approval of all anomalous results or reports; documentation of all reagent preparation; validation of all data;
routine calibration of all analytical instrumentation; rechecking of 100% of all manual data transfers; initial,
continuing and final calibration standards (ICV, CCV, FCV); specifications for data reduction and analysis,
and for the presentation and evaluation of results; accepted or verified analytical methodologies as standard
operating procedure; external audits; duplicate analyses of at least 10% of water quality samples processed
in the laboratory; and participation in semi-annual studies of Proficiency Testing.

The MML Project Team strives for the highest level of performance in both the field and the lab,
however, plans are in place to minimize errors. Some examples (an all-inclusive description of error
minimization is provided in the MML QA Manual) include:

- Custody documentation is completed in permanent, waterproof ink with any errors corrected
according to standard laboratory practice of a single line drawn through the error and initialed by the
corrector.

- Anyanomalies, transcriptional or transpositional errors are noted on the custody sheet and tentatively
rectified by the Sample Custodian and finalized after review of the field log and consultation with
the crew leader who collected the sample in question. For all errors other than transcription errors,
an explanation for the correction is also included.

- MML takes all error factors into account in developing environmental test methods and procedures,
in training and qualification of personnel, and in selection and calibration of equipment.

- Ifanerror is found in data or reporting, corrective actions are initiated. Procedures are described in
the MML Quality Manual.



Project Management. MML has an extensive inventory of field and laboratory equipment at our
International Center for Coral Reef Research & Restoration in Summerland Key as well as our other 4 sites
in the Florida Keys that can be augmented if ever needed by Sarasota facilities. MML staff routinely design,
fabricate, test, and deploy instruments for sampling and measurement, including miniaturized, robotic,
autonomous, or electronic apparatus for specialized applications. MML also advises instrument
manufacturers on product performance, conducts independent audits, and performs beta-tests for prototypic
devices, such as next-generation multiparameter probes.

Technological capabilities employed by MML scientists include a fleet of surface vessels and submarine
platforms; atmospheric and oceanographic samplers and measurement systems; laser-based sediment particle
sizers; through-hull, flow-through, and grab samplers for water chemistry; in-situ bioassay exposure systems;
fully-instrumented analytical laboratories for inorganic and organic chemistry (including support equipment
such as filtration apparatuses, deionized water systems, carbon-free water systems, pumps, hoses, tubing,
chemicals [certified standards, gasses, solvents, etc.]); exposure laboratories; chemical clean-rooms; and
other equipment such as scuba gear, portable generator, hoses, pumps, artificial substrate samplers, dip nets,
microscopes, and stocks of calibration standards and other required chemicals. Scientific data analysis
employs proprietary software, citation systems, and software supporting specific hardware. In addition,
commercial software in use at MML for statistical and related analyses includes Biostat, EcoHab, EcoSim,
IDL, MathCad, MatLab, Microsoft applications, Paradox, Primer, SigmaPlot, SigmaStat, Statistica, Surfer,
and Systat. If any equipment were to fail, MML has backups for all equipment. MML routinely brings backup
coolers, multiparameter meters, GPS, scuba gear, etc. to all field studies and MML has the ability to purchase
emergency equipment as needed.

All equipment required for this work is owned by MML, except for bacteria analyses (owned by Jacobs).

MML Project Team NELAC: Both participating labs are NELAC accredited as described in Tab 2.

Laboratory Analysis: NELAC certificates for both labs in this MML Project Team are included in Appendix
B. Standard Operating Procedures for all laboratory procedures will also be made available upon selection
of this contract. Current MDL for Enteroccocus is 10MPN/100ml and matches current MDLs with the
FDOH. MDLs for other water quality parameters (e.g. nutrients, chlorophyll, etc.) that may be selected for
years 2-5 are presented in the MML QA Manual.

Subcontractor Documentation: All subcontractor forms are presented in Appendix E.




5. Other Information / Value Added Options / Contract Deviations / Other Clients/ Local
Familiarity

Since 1955, MML has been a leader in marine science, research, restoration, and education. Our coral reef
science and restoration operations in the Florida Keys have been the center of media attention for many
years already and now that large scale coral reef restoration is a reality, our marketing department and
community relations team are constantly promoting this story to media outlets, websites, magazines and
cable networks. Additionally, our facilities in Summerland Key and Islamorada serve as centers for coral
restoration, water quality monitoring, and tourism and outreach capabilities for the reefs in the upper,
middle and lower keys.

The Project Team has a long history of working within the CKW and throughout the Florida Keys. MML
has several current projects in the region including a coral reef restoration project in the CKW and a water
quality monitoring project in the upper and lower Florida Keys. Other clients throughout the Florida Keys
include The Nature Conservancy, the Smithsonian, South Florida Environmental Protection Agency, and
the Southeast Coastal and Ocean Observation Research Association (SECOORA).

The Elizabeth Moore International Center for Coral Reef Research and Restoration (IC2R3) is located 24
miles from the CKW. Staff who will be responsible for the proposed sampling and analyses are permanently
located at this facility. Dr. Hall will be providing 1-month salary, fringe and IDC as in-kind to the proposed
work (valued at >$20,000).

MML currently has a contract with the CKW to outplant over 1,000 corals to restore nearly 100 m?2 of a
targeted coral reef to ~30% coral cover in CKW waters. MML also has other projects with municipalities
(e.g. Sarasota County, the City of North Port), state (Florida Fish and Wildlife, FWC), and federal agencies
(NOAA, EPA) to monitor water quality. These projects also require MML to follow FDEP field SOPs and
have the data analyzed by a NELAC laboratory or follow a Quality Assurance Project Plan. Some of these
projects are described in Tab 3 (References and Examples).



6. Cost Effectiveness

Total requested cost (Year 1) - $104,998
Year 1:

Task 1 - $20,905 total requested

Salary — $2,231 is requested for 1-week salary for Dr. Hall’s time to manage, data assessment, report
writing and presentation to the CKW (Another week of Dr. Hall’s salary and fringe will be provided
as in kind - $3,008)

Fringe — $777 is requested for fringe. At MML, fringe benefits are currently 34.81% of salary. Rates
used incorporate FICA, health insurance, Worker's Compensation, state unemployment insurance,
pension plan, vacation, sick, and holidays.

IDC — No IDC is requested from MML (MML IDC is waived)

Travel — $1,059 is requested for travel. Federal per diem lodging rates for the CKW currently range
from $258-456 (depending on month of travel). Meals and incidentals are $86 per day, and $64.50
for first and last day of travel. Travel is requested for Dr. Hall to travel to present results to the
CKW. This includes roundtrip flight to Key West (estimated at $200), and 2 nights at a local hotel.
(note — any other required travel for Dr. Hall will be provided as in-kind)

Subcontract - $16,838 is requested for subcontract ESA for compilation - $5,088, trends —
$2,830, assessment - $2,204, report writing - $2,987, and meetings - $3,729

Task 2 - $8,211 total requested

Salary — No salary is requested from MML (1-week salary and fringe will be provided as in-kind for
Kevin Claridge for mitigation action assessments and report writing - $5,553.63)

Fringe — No salary is requested from MML

IDC — No IDC is requested from MML (MML IDC is waived)

Travel — No travel is requested from MML

Subcontract - $8,211 is requested for subcontract ESA for BMPs - $5,088 and report writing —
$2,830

Task 3 - $13,275 total requested

Salary — $2,231 is requested for 1-week salary for Dr. Hall’s time to develop a water quality monitoring
plan, report writing, and presentation to the CKW (4nother week of Dr. Hall’s salary and fringe
will be provided as in kind - $3,008)

Fringe — $777 is requested for fringe.

IDC — No IDC is requested from MML (MML IDC is waived)

Travel — $1,059 is requested for travel. Federal per diem lodging rates for the CKW currently range
from $258-456 (depending on month of travel). Meals and incidentals are $86 per day, and $64.50
for first and last day of travel. Travel is requested for Dr. Hall to travel to present results to the
CKW. This includes roundtrip flight to Key West (estimated at $200), and 2 nights at a local hotel.
(note — any other required travel for Dr. Hall will be provided as in-kind)

Subcontract - $16,838 is requested for subcontract ESA for assistance with a water quality
monitoring plan - $5,480 and meetings - $3,729

Task 4 - $51,674 total requested

Salary — $20,997 salary is requested for staff (Ms. Sante and Ms. Gannon) at MML to collect bacteria
samples from 6 beaches and 1 mooring field every other week and to collect bacteria samples from
2 beaches (that are not already collected by DOH) every other week.

Fringe — $7,309 in fringe is requested.

IDC — No IDC is requested from MML (MML IDC is waived)

Travel - $1,820 in travel is requested for the Project Team to travel to each site and to the Jacobs Lab
for sample collection and delivery.



Supplies - $3,920 is requested for supplies for sample collection and delivery. This includes: gloves,
sterile whirlpaks, ice, transport coolers, replacement probes for YSIs, waterproof paper, and
calibration standards.

Vendor Services - $16,900 is requested for vendor services to Jacobs to analyze samples for

Enterococcus at a cost of $65/sample.

Task 5 - $3,945 total requested

Salary — $2,141 salary is requested for staff (Ms. Cook) at MML to run and manage the addition of
BCRS sites at the CKW beaches. (1-week salary and fringe will be provided as in-kind for Kevin
Claridge for MML BCRS assessments and report writing - $5,553.63)

Fringe — $745 in fringe is requested.

IDC — No IDC is requested from MML (MML IDC is waived)

Travel - $1,059 is requested for travel. Federal per diem lodging rates for the CKW currently range
from $258-456 (depending on month of travel). Meals and incidentals are $86 per day, and $64.50
for first and last day of travel. Travel is requested for Ms. Cook to travel to present results to the
CKW. This includes roundtrip flight to Key West (estimated at $200), and 2 nights at a local hotel.
(note — any other required travel for Ms. Cook, Mr. Claridge or Dr. Hall will be provided as in-
kind)

Task 6 - $7,800 requested

Salary — $4,398 salary is requested for staff (Dr. Francis) at MML to design a new beach water quality
monitoring plan based on results from Tasks 1-5. This will include collaborating with the City’s
Water Quality Improvement Plan (WQIPP) members, DOH, and other relevant technical experts
to design a more detailed bacteria (amount and source) monitoring plan.

Fringe — $1,531 in fringe is requested.

IDC — No IDC is requested from MML (MML IDC is waived)

Travel - $1,059 is requested for travel. Federal per diem lodging rates for the CKW currently range
from $258-456 (depending on month of travel). Meals and incidentals are $86 per day, and $64.50
for first and last day of travel. Travel is requested for Dr. Francis to travel to present results to the
CKW. This includes roundtrip flight to Key West (estimated at $200), and 2 nights at a local hotel.
(note — any other required travel for Dr. Francis or Dr. Hall will be provided as in-kind)

Years 2-5 (Extended Water Quality Monitoring Program (GOCs including beaches and mooring field
initiated in year 1) — Estimated costs $100,000/year
This is an estimated cost and will not be finalized until Tasks 1-4 from year 1 are completed.

VOLUNTARY LEVERAGING. MML offers college internships year-round and will provide opportunities
to students from the College of the Florida Keys and other Universities throughout Florida (at no cost to
the CKW) on this study to assist with sample collection, sample preservation and data logging and
interpretation. IDC is being waived from MML. Two weeks of salary and fringe are being provided as in
kind for Dr. Hall and Mr. Claridge.



7. Project Schedule and Deliverables (see Table 1)

Task 1 will be completed by month 3 after grant initiation.

Total expected time: 3 months

Deliverables. Draft and final Technical Memorandum containing a summary of the available data, results
of the trend analysis and water quality assessments. Draft and final database of the available water quality
data. Communicate the database and assessments as a presentation to the City Council.

Task 2 will begin after Task 1 is complete. It is estimated to be complete by month 7 after grant initiation.
Total expected time: 4 months

Deliverables: Draft and final Technical Memorandum identifying potential mitigation strategies related to
the water quality deficiencies identified in Task 1. Communicate the Technical Memorandum as a
presentation to the City Council.

Task 3 will begin by month 7 after grant initiation. It is estimated to be complete no later than month 12
after grant initiation.

Total expected time: 6 months

Deliverables: Draft and final Technical Memorandum of a detailed water quality monitoring program for
years 2-5 throughout the GOCs after approval of Tasks 1 and 2.

Task 4 will begin upon grant initiation and will continue throughout 12 months, to be extended for four
additional years if selected and after evaluation of year 1.

Total expected time: 12 months

Deliverable: Weekly reports of water quality will be provided to FDOH, CKW, BCRS, and other interested
parties. A year-long dataset of bacteria and other water quality parameters (temperature, specific
conductance, salinity, pH, dissolved oxygen [DO]) along with QA/QC will be provided.

Task 5 will begin by month 2 after grant initiation. It will continue throughout 12 months, to be extended
for four additional years if selected and after evaluation of year 1.

Total expected time: 11-12 months

Deliverables: Expand BCRS reporting in Key West and support integration of bacteria data. Communicate
the BCRS as a presentation to the City Council.

Task 6 will begin by month 8 after grant initiation. It is estimated to be complete no later than month 12
after grant initiation.

Total expected time: 5 months

Deliverable: Draft and final Technical Memorandum of a detailed water quality monitoring program for
years 2-5 throughout the CKW beaches.

The full description of each task and an activity schedule are presented in Tab 4 (Project Approach).
Sampling is currently scheduled to align with FDOH healthy beaches sampling (every other week) for the
2 extra beach samples, and to follow a similar sampling regime in alternate weeks. Sampling will occur on
aM, T, W, or R (no sampling will occur on a F) and will not include federal holidays or weekends. All
sampling costs (travel, staff time, sampling supplies, and sample analyses) are included in the budget
justification under Task 4. The Project Team has >20 years of experience generating these reports and
providing information to municipalities.



Tab 8 Litigation

o A list of the person’s or entity’s shareholders with five (5) percent or more of the stock or, if a general partnership,
a list of the general partners; or, if a limited liability company, a list of its members; or, if a solely owned
proprietorship, names(s) of owner(s);

Mote does not have Shareholders

o A list of the officers and directors of the entity;
BOARD OF TRUSTREES:
Sandi Stuart, Hobart (Skip) Swan, Scott Collins, Dr. Andrew Economos, Dr. Michael P. Crosby, Eugene
Beckstein, Barbara Brizdle, Robert (Bob) Carter, Richard Donegan, Dean Eisner, James (Jim) Ericson, Robert
(Bob) Essner, Donald Featherman, Susan Gilmore, Judy Graham, Rod Hershberger, Barbara Jennings, Penelope
Kingman, Jonathan Mitchell, Susan Molinari, Elizabeth Moore, Jourdan Reinhart, Rtc Frances Presley Rice, Alan
Rose, Dr. Howard (Sam) Seider, Dr. Harris Silverman, Jeanie Stevenson

o The number of years the person or entity has been operating and, if different, the number of years it has been
providing the services, goods, or construction services called for in the bid specifications (include a list of similar
projects);

70 years (established 1955, 501©3 1957) Incorporation docs attached

o The number of years the person or entity has operated under its present name and any prior names;
70 vears (established 1955, 501©3 1957 Incorporation docs attached

o Answers to the following questions regarding claims and suits:
a. Has the person, principals, entity, or any entity previously owned, operated or directed by any of its officers,
major shareholders or directors, ever failed to complete work or provide the goods for which it has contracted? If
yes, provide details;
No

b. Are there any judgments, claims, arbitration proceeding or suits pending or outstanding against the person,
principal of the entity, or entity, or any entity previously owned, operated or directed by any of its officers,
directors, or general partners? If yes, provide details;

No

c. Has the person, principal of the entity, entity, or any entity previously owned, operated or directed by any of
its officers, major shareholders or directors, within the last five (5) years, been a party to any lawsuit, arbitration,
or mediation with regard to a contract for services, goods or construction services similar to those requested in
the specifications with private or public entities? If yes, provide details;

No

d. Has the person, principal of the entity, or any entity previously owned, operated or directed by any of its
officers, owners, partners, major shareholders or directors, ever initiated litigation against the City or been sued
by the City in connection with a contract to provide services, goods or construction services? If yes, provide
details;

No

e. Whether, within the last five (5) years, the owner, an officer, general partner, principal, controlling shareholder
or major creditor of the person or entity was an officer, director, general partner, principal, controlling shareholder
or major creditor of any other entity that failed to perform services or furnish goods similar to those sought in the
request for competitive solicitation;

No



f. Customer references (minimum of three), including name, current address and current telephone number;

Dr. Jorge Brenner

Executive Director, GCOOS, Texas A&M University, Dept. of Oceanography
3126 TAMU, College Station, TX 77843, 361-696-1776, jorge.brenner(@ecoos.org

Ms. Heather Bryen

Environmental Specialist ITI, Sarasota County Public Works-Stormwater,
1001 Sarasota Center Blvd., Sarasota, FL 34240, 941-538-1462, hbrven(ascgov.net

Mr. Michael G. Drennan

Water Plant Superintendent, City of North Port, 5655 North Port Blvd, North Port, F1. 34287
941-445-7049, mdrennan(@northportfl.gov

Ms. Debra Hernandez

Executive Director, SECOORA, P.O. Box 13856, Charleston, SC 29422
843-906-8686, debraja/secoora.org

Dr. Katherine Hubbard

Director, FWC Center for Red Tide Research, Harmful Algal Bloom Monitoring and Research,
Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission-Fish and Wildlife Research Institute
(FWC-FWRI), 100 Eighth Avenue SE, St. Petersburg, FL 33701

(727)502-4961, katherine.hubbard(@myfwec.com

Mr. Chad Nosbisch

Chief Operator, City of North Port, 5655 North Port Blvd, North Port, FL 34287
941-240-8009, cnosbisch(@northporifl.gov

Ms. Elizabeth Smith

South Florida Program Coordinator, Ocean & Estuarine Management Section,
U.S. EPA | Region 4, 404-562-8721, smith.elizabeth@epa.gov

Dr. Felix Martinez

Program Manager, NOS/NCCOS/Competitive Research Program
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 4840 South State Rd.; Ann Arbor, MI 48108
734-741-2254, Felix Martinez@NOAA gov

g. Credit References (minimum of three), including name, current address and current telephone number; and

Champion Lighting & Supply

291 North Main Street

Ambler, PA 19002

Contact: George Banyai

Phone: 215-643-2700

email: billing@championlighting.com

Covetrus North America
Post Office Box 734579

Chicago, IL. 60613

Contact: Tina Ferguson
Phone; 800-258-2148, extension 7846

FAX: 614-210-5615

email: tina.ferguson(@covetrus.com

Harrington Industrial Plastics, LLC
Post Office Box 676273

Dallas, TX 75267

Contact: Mellisa Kulick-Smith

Phone: 909-597-8641
email: newaccountadmin{@hipco.com

h. Financial statements for the prior three years for the responding entity or for any entity that is a subsidiary to
the responding entity. Audits Attached
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To Whom It May Concem:

o

Enclosed is a copy of Internal Revenue Service determination letter dated
January 15, 1957, advising that Mote Marine Laboratory is exempt from taxation
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, together with a copy of
Internal Revenue Service letter dated June 10, 2002, continuing recognition of
this organization as tax-exempt.

This is to certify that the Internal Revenue Service has not withdrawn, revoked or
modified such determination letters since they were issued.

i

Enclosed is a copy of Internal Revenue Service determination letter dated
October 20, 1970, classifying Mote Marine Laboratory as “not a private
foundation as defined in Section 509(a) of the Internal Revenue Code,” together
with copy of Internal Revenue Service letter of August 22, 1977, determining that
Mote Marine Laboratory is an organization of the type described in Section
509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi).

This is to certify that the Internai Revenue Service has not withdrawn, revoked, or
modified such determination letters since they were issued.
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President/CEQ
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internal Revenue Service Department of the Treasury

P. O. Box 2508
Cincinnati, OH 45201

Date: June 10, 2002 Person to Contact:
April C. Howard
Customer Service Representative

Mote Marine Laboratory Toll Free Telephone Number:
1600 Ken Thompson Pkwy 2:00 a.m. to 6:30 p.m. EST
Sarasota, FL 34236 877-829-5500

Fax Number:

513-263-3756
Federal Identification Number:
59-0756643

Dear Sir or Madam:

This letter is in response to your request for a copy of your organization's determination letter. This letter will
take the place of the copy you requested.

Our records indicate that a determination letter issued in July 1977 granted your organization exemption from
federal income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. That letter is still in effect.

Based on information subsequently submitted, we classified your organization as one that is not a private
foundation within the meaning of section 509(a) of the Code because it is an organization described in
sections 509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi).

This classification was based on the assumption that your organization's operations would continue as stated
in the application. If your organization's sources of support, or its character, method of operations, or -
purposes have changed, please let us know so we can consider the effect of the change on the exempt
status and foundation status of your organization.

Your organization is required to file Form 990, Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax, only if its
gross receipts each year are normally more than $25,000. If a return is required, it must be filed by the 15th
day of the fifth month after the end of the organization's annual accounting period. The law imposes a
penalty of $20 a day, up to a maximum of $10,000, when a return is filed late, unless there is reasonable
cause for the delay.

All exempt organizations (unless specifically excluded) are liable for taxes under the Federal Insurance
Contributions Act (social security taxes) on remuneration of $100 or more paid to each employee during a
calendar year. Your organization is not liable for the tax imposed under the Federal Unemployment Tax Act
(FUTA).

Organizations that are not private foundations are not subject to the excise taxes under Chapter 42 of the
Code. However, these organizations are not automatically exempt from other federal excise taxes.

Donors may deduct contributions to your organization as provided in section 170 of the Code. Bequests,
legacies, devises, transfers, or gifts to your organization or for its use are deductible for federal estate and
gift tax purposes if they meet the applicable provisions of sections 2055, 21086, and 2522 of the Code.



Mote Marine Laboratory
58-0756643

Your organization is not required to file federal income tax returns unless it is subject to the tax on unrelated
business income under section 511 of the Code. If your organization is subject to this tax, it must file an
income tax return on the Form 990-T, Exempt Organization Business Income Tax Return. In this letter, we
are not determining whether any of your organization's present or proposed activities are unrelated trade or
business as defined in section 513 of the Code.

The law requires you to make your organization's annual return available for public inspection without charge
for three years after the due date of the return. If your organization had a copy of its application for
recognition of exemption on July 15, 1987, it is also required to make available for public inspection a copy of
the exemption application, any supporting documents and the exemption letter to any individual who requests
such documents in person or in writing. You can charge only a reasonable fee for reproduction and actual
postage costs for the copied materials. The law does not require you to provide copies of public inspection
documents that are widely available, such as by posting them on the Internet (World Wide Web). You may
be liable for a pena'ty of $20 a day for each day you do not make these documents available for public
inspection (up to a maximum of $10,000 in the case of an annual return).

Because this letter could help resolve any questions about your organization's exempt status and foundation
status, you should keep it with the organization's permanent records.

If you have any questions, please call us at the telephone number shown in the heading of this letter.
This letter affirms your organization's exempt status.

Sincerely,

John E. Ricketts, Director, TE/GE

Customer Account Services
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internal Reve‘nUe Service Department of the Treasury

District
Director

Person to Contact:

Mote Marine Laboratory R. Wright

9501 Blind Pas§ Road Telephone Number:

Sarasota, Florida 33581 (904) 791-2636
Refer Reply to:
720-2
Date: AL &2 1977

Dear Applicant:

This modifies our letter of October 20, 1970, which stated that
you were not a private foundation because you were an organization
“of the type described in section 509(a)(2) of the Internal Revenue
Code.

Based on information submitted, we have determined that you are not
a private foundation within the meaning of section 501(a) of the
Internal Revenue Code because you are an organization of the type
described in sectionm 509(a)(l) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi).

Grantors and contributors may rely on this determination until the
Tnternal Revenue Service publishes notice to the contrary. However,
a grantor or a contributor may not rely on this determination if he
was in part responsible for, or was aware of the act or failure to
act that resulted in your loss of section 509(a)(l) status, or
acquired knowledge that the Internal Revenue Service had given
notice that you would be removed from classification as a section
509(2)(1l) organization.

Sincerely yours,

W gQ..O-e_hJJ-UC/’ s

Charles Q. DeWitt
District Director



9. Gom Adams, Secretary of State of the State of Florida,
.).Do.HereSy Cerfify Bhat the {o“c_awing is a frue and correct copy of

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of
CAPE HAZE MARINE LABORATORY, INC., —--- the original charter
~having been filed in the Circuit Court of Charlotte County,
.. Florida, on the 13th day of June, A. D., 1955, according
. .to documents filed in this office, --- AMENDING ARTICLE I,
¥/ changing the corporate name to

MOTE MARINE LABORATORY, INC.,
a corporation not feor profit, organized and existing under
the Laws of the State of Florida, filed in the Office of the
Secretary of State on the 21st day of November, A. D., 1967,

pursuant to Chapter 617, Florida Statutes, as shown by the
records of this cffice. '

Given under my hand and the Great Seal of the
State of Slgrida at Gallahassee, the Capifai,

this fﬁe 21st day Of November,

AD. 19 67.

Secrefary of Stafe
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Trustees
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Sarasota, Florida

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (Laboratory), a
nonprofit organization, which comprise the statements of financial position as of September 30, 202| and
2020, and the related statements of activities and cash flows, and statements of functional expenses for
the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.



Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, and the changes in
net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements of Mote
Marine Laboratory, Inc. as a whole. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform
Administration Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and Chapter 10.650,
Rules of the Auditor General, is presented for the purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part
of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of the Laboratory’s management and
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United State of America. In our opinion, the Schedule of
Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 13, 2022 on
our consideration of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
the effectiveness of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting and

compliance.
' [Frcheoes (,4

Sarasota, Florida
April 13, 2022



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statements of Financial Position
September 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,351,517 $ 11,279,117
Accounts receivable 4295917 4,901,537
Pledges receivable, net 7,847,579 7,752,054
Due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 529,282 719,638
Prepaid expenses and other assets 126,016 67,297
Investments - certificates of deposit 392,197 627,629
Patents, net 88,139 95,780
Investment in deferred compensation plan 595,355 604,044
Land 7,498,190 7,498,190
Property and equipment, net 14,999,685 16,381,831
Construction in progress 15,972,540 5,195,720
Beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 20,678,361 17,141,448
Total Assets $ 89,374,778 $ 72,264,285
Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,543,776 $ 1,085,721
Accrued payroll 931,701 820,946
Memberships relating to future periods 639,825 375913
Funds advanced on research programs 4,840,451 9,041,015
Deferred compensation payable 595,355 604,044
Lines of credit 1,402,101 1,402,101
Paycheck Protection Program forgiveable loan - 2,318,259
Notes payable 6,715,042 6,076,783
Total liabilities 18,668,251 21,724,782
Net Assets:
Without donor restrictions:
Undesignated 35,585,348 21,044,957
Board designated 390,818 390,818
Total net assets without donor restrictions 35,976,166 21,435,775
With donor restrictions:
Purpose and time restrictions 24,684,247 19,064,139
Perpetual in nature 10,046,114 10,039,589
Total net assets with donor restrictions 34,730,361 29,103,728
Total net assets 70,706,527 50,539,503
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 89,374,778 $ 72,264,285

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Statement of Activities

Year Ended September 30, 2021
(With Summarized Totals for 2020)

Support, Revenue and Reclassifications:
Program revenue:
Research revenue:
Federal
State
Other
Aquarium:
Admission fees
Gift shop
Other
Memberships
Education
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate
Other programs
Contributions:
Construction
Aquarium
Other programs
Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness
Non-cash contributions
Grants from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Investment income
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net
Realized gain on investments, net
Realized gain (loss) on disposal of assets
Change in beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Net assets released from restrictions
Total support, revenue and
reclassifications

Expenses:
Program services:
Research
Education
Aquarium
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate
MARP facility operations
Other
Supporting services:
Administrative and general
Fundraising
Total expenses

Change in net assets
Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

Without Donor With Donor 2020
Restrictions Restrictions Total Total
$ 4,697,906 - 4,697,906 3,224,509
5,242,015 - 5,242,015 7718918
7,004,272 531,674 7,535,946 4,754,268
5,485,931 - 5,485,931 2,740,772
556,749 - 556,749 266,065
371,717 - 371,717 220,129
604,506 - 604,506 1,002,248
472,256 - 472,256 431,498
875,077 - 875,077 893,264
517,396 3,399,997 3,917,393 506,683
- 7,833,755 7,833,755 9,255,770
92,085 8,600 100,685 33,334
2,702,482 31,000 2,733,482 2,768,428
2,318,259 2,318,259 -
84,381 605,700 690,081 332,563
524,748 - 524,748 985,483
22,025 5710 27,735 41,524
(2,939) (5,673) (8,612) 1,148
2,689 - 2,689 1,017
(653) (296) (949) 19,876
369,390 3,167,523 3,536,913 273,634
9,951,357 (9,951,357) - -
41,891,649 5,626,633 47,518,282 35,471,131
16,842,052 - 16,842,052 14,110,002
980,292 - 980,292 1,082,389
4,232,382 - 4,232,382 3,979,596
505,156 - 505,156 739,137
639,506 - 639,506 498,002
692,048 - 692,048 435,814
1,437,163 - 1,437,163 1,942,504
2,022,659 - 2,022,659 2,017,957
27,351,258 - 27,351,258 24,805,401
14,540,39 | 5,626,633 20,167,024 10,665,730
21,435,775 29,103,728 50,539,503 39,873,773
$ 35.976,166 34730361 70,706,527 50,539,503

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statement of Activities
Year Ended September 30, 2020
(With Summarized Totals for 2021)

Without Donor With Donor 2021
Restrictions Restrictions Total Total
Support, Revenue and Reclassifications:
Program revenue:
Research revenue:
Federal $ 3,224,509 $ - $ 3,224,509 $ 4,697,906
State 7718918 - 7,718918 5,242,015
Other 4,754,018 250 4,754,268 7,535,946
Aquarium: - -
Admission fees 2,740,772 - 2,740,772 5,485,931
Gift shop 266,065 - 266,065 556,749
Other 220,129 - 220,129 371,717
Memberships 1,002,248 - 1,002,248 604,506
Education 431,498 - 431,498 472,256
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate 893,264 - 893,264 875,077
Other programs 506,683 - 506,683 3,917,393
Contributions: -
Construction - 9,255,770 9,255,770 7,833,755
Aquarium - 33,334 33,334 100,685
Other programs 2,738,578 29,850 2,768,428 2,733,482
Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness 2,318,259
Non-cash contributions 332,563 - 332,563 690,081
Grants from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 985,483 - 985,483 524,748
Investment income 40,441 1,083 41,524 27,735
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net - 1,148 1,148 (8,612)
Realized gain on investments, net 1,017 - 1,017 2,689
Realized gain (loss) on disposal of assets 21,000 (1,124) 19,876 (949)
Change in beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 26,383 247,251 273,634 3,536,913
Net assets released from restrictions 4,819,710 (4,819,710) - -
Total support, revenue and
reclassifications 30,723,279 4,747,852 35,471,131 47,518,282
Expenses:
Program services:
Research 14,110,002 - 14,110,002 16,842,052
Education 1,082,389 - 1,082,389 980,292
Aquarium 3,979.596 - 3,979,596 4,232,382
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate 739,137 - 739,137 505,156
MAP facility operations 498,002 - 498,002 639,506
Other 435814 - 435814 692,048
Supporting services: -
Administrative and general 1,942,504 - 1,942,504 1,437,163
Fundraising 2,017,957 - 2,017,957 2,022,659
Total expenses 24,805,401 - 24,805,401 27,351,258
Change in net assets 5,917,878 4,747,852 10,665,730 20,167,024
Net assets at beginning of year 15,517,897 24,355,876 39,873,773 50,539,503
Net assets at end of year $ 21435775 $ 29,103,728 $ 50,539,503 $ 70,706,527

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Realized (gain) loss on disposal of assets
Unrealized / realized (gain) loss on investments, net
Change in beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Non-cash contributions
Proceeds from donated assets held for sale
Contribution from forgiveness of note payable
Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness
Change in operating assets:
Accounts receivable
Pledges receivable, net
Due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Change in operating liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Memberships relating to future periods
Funds advanced on research programs
Total adjustments
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Proceeds from maturity of certificate of deposit
Patent costs
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net change in lines of credit
Repayments of notes payable
Proceeds from Paycheck Protection Program loan
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year, consist of the following:
Cash
Restricted cash

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash:
Investing and Financing Activity:
Cash paid for interest
Construction in progress purchased through financing
Construction in progress non-cash contribution
Forgiveness of note payable reclassified as contribution
Forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program Loan

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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2021 2020
20,167,024  $ 10,665,730
2,879,804 2,928,660
949 (19,876)
5,923 (2,165)
(3.536,913) (273.634)
(690,081) (308,479)
83,209 330,496
- (2,000,000)
(2,318,259) .
605,620 (3.345,835)
(95,525) (4,043,218)
190,356 (605,526)
(58.719) 82,002
2,458,055 681,874
110,755 (126,303)
263,912 (381,429)
(4,200,564) 1,859,414
(4,301,478) (5,224,019)
15,865,546 5,441,711
(10,156,952) (5.394,120)
- 1,500
235,432 232,258
(9,467) (13,306)
(9.930,987) (5,173,668)
. (65.500)
(862.159) (529,386)
- 2,318,259
(862,159) 1,723,373
5,072,400 1,991,416
11,279,117 9,287,701
$_ 16351517 $_ 11279117
15,799,009 10,977,549
552,508 301,568
$ 16351517  $_ 11279117
$ 161,922 $ 193,237
$ 1500418 $ -
$ 600,000  $ -
$ - $__ 2000,000
$_ 2318259 $ -




Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended September 30, 2021
(With Summarized Totals for 2020)

Program Services
Protect our Reefs MAP Facility

Research Education Aquarium License Plate Operations
Salaries and benefits $ 7,756,169 $ 616372 $ 2,586,002 $ 175,997 $ 74,126
Contracted services 1,972,978 214,158 130,951 61,981 2,863
Depreciation - - 230,583 - 320,971
Repairs and maintenance 409,849 1,121 508,227 123,970 72,257
Travel, meals and seminars 236,841 8,819 11,484 5,170 -
Research supplies 1,325,336 15,090 2,647 22,805 57
Merchandise - 250 23,304 - -
Office expense 128,654 27,872 358,019 5,858 2210
Electricity 45,210 21 164,357 51,285 82,547
Insurance 21,912 - 46,768 10,304 37,989
Telephone 23,950 5,596 10,198 12,953 3,855
Promotion and advertising 135,047 38,520 36,830 9,062 -
Expendable supplies 697 4,625 11,963 - -
Printing and publication 6,439 1,967 10,312 307 -
Vessel 44,262 - 7,966 (105) 2,408
Vehicle - - 2,123 2,239 -
Interest - - - - -
Accounting and legal 5,074 1,586 1,586 - -
Equipment rental 23,171 8 3,043 1,292 19,966
Library - - - - -
Licenses and fees 69,233 2,547 25,595 2,202 20,257
Rent 25,501 21,705 - - -
Miscellaneous - - - - -
12,230,323 960,257 4,171,958 485,320 639,506
Overhead allocation 4,320,607 8,965 - 16,185 -
Rental use charges allocation:
Vessel, vehicle and equipment 291,122 11,070 60,424 3,651 -
Total Expenses $ 16,842,052 $ 980,292 $ 4,232,382 % 505,156 $ 639,506

Percent of Total




Supporting Services 2021 2020

Administrative Fund Functional Functional
Other Total and General Raising Total Expenses Expenses
$ 243444 $ 11,452,110 $ 2,018/456 $ 1,465,197 $ 3,483,653 $ 14935763 $ 13,848,042
12,866 2,395,797 129,863 141,591 271,454 2,667,251 2,167,088
- 551,554 2,311,142 - 2,311,142 2,862,696 2,910,709
180,206 1,295,630 322,639 8,561 331,200 1,626,830 1,497,803
18,032 280,346 10,730 97,708 108,438 388,784 595,092
4,148 1,370,083 17,229 - 17,229 1,387,312 871,091
- 23,554 - - - 23,554 13,558
47,592 570,205 85,470 99,372 184,842 755,047 490,291
62,815 406,235 276,601 - 276,601 682,836 619,924
31,447 148,420 362,241 - 362,241 510,661 492,757
4,437 60,989 38,284 2,099 40,383 101,372 112,056
9,468 228,927 6,864 110,045 116,909 345,836 367,585
- 17,285 - - - 17,285 46,248
155 19,180 640 72,680 73,320 92,500 79,622
97,559 152,090 232 - 232 152,322 110,279
76 4,438 39,839 - 39,839 44,277 31,868
5,573 5,573 156,349 - 156,349 161,922 193,237
107,509 115,755 59,937 4,440 64,377 180,132 79,615
10,537 58,017 46,987 675 47,662 105,679 97,429
40,525 40,525 - - - 40,525 24,362
26,571 146,405 44,502 13,353 57,855 204,260 111,337
100 47,306 - - - 47,306 27,447
17,108 17,108 - - - 17,108 17,961
920,168 19,407,532 5,928,005 2,015,721 7,943,726 27,351,258 24,805,401
3,786 4,349,543 (4,349,543) - (4,349,543) - -
(231,906) 134,361 (141,299) 6,938 (134,361) - -
$ 692,048 $ 23,891,436 $ 1,437,163 $ 2,022,659 $ 3,459,822 § 27,351,258 $_ 24,805,401
87% 6% 7% 100%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended September 30, 2020
(With Summarized Totals for 2021)

Salaries and benefits
Contracted services
Depreciation

Repairs and maintenance
Travel, meals and seminars
Research supplies
Merchandise

Office expense
Electricity

Insurance

Telephone

Promotion and advertising
Expendable supplies
Printing and publication
Vessel

Vehicle

Interest

Accounting and legal
Equipment rental

Library

Licenses and fees

Rent

Miscellaneous

Overhead allocation

Rental use charges allocation:
Vessel, vehicle and equipment

Total Expenses

Percent of Total

Program Services

$

Protect our Reefs MAP Facility

Research Education Aquarium License Plate Operations
6,856,785 $ 753,895 $ 2,376,766 $ 312,523 § 22,072
1,475,660 184,090 144,821 80,796 9,146

- - 291,436 - 348,931
296,670 6,863 540,864 83,547 59,009
238,679 29,598 18,934 3,664 -
819,440 12,522 66 27,178 -

- - 13,558 - -
86,688 17,922 201,383 (3.357) 6,164
23,625 - 152,314 37,156 74,342
18,236 3,842 58,928 9,455 37,988
26,733 6,682 17,653 12,886 3,787

106,282 31,891 33,057 82,693 -
5914 13,576 26,668 - -
7,742 1,469 1,503 1,405 -
18,366 616 6,398 8,671 3,312
1,056 416 2,829 i85 -

- - - 933 -
13,747 - - - -
40,511 1,203 3,086 1,382 2,253
35,881 2,827 14,740 2,239 20,021
26,447 - - - -

10 - - - -
10,098,472 1,067,412 3,905,004 661,356 587,025
3,724,237 - - 63,554 (89,098)
287,293 14,977 74,592 14,227 75
14,110,002 $ 1,082,389 $ 3,979,596 $ 739.137 498,002




2020 2021

Supporting Services Total Total
Admiinistrative Fund Functional Functional
Other Total and General Raising Total Expenses Expenses
285655 $ 10,607,696 $ 1,908,098 $ 1,332,248 % 3,240,346 $ 13,848,042 $ 14935763
9,617 1,904,130 111,254 151,704 262,958 2,167,088 2,667,251
- 640,367 2,270,342 - 2,270,342 2,910,709 2,862,696
125,513 1,112,466 366,949 18,388 385,337 1,497,803 1,626,830
32,670 323,545 29,818 241,729 271,547 595,092 388,784
1,371 860,577 10,514 - 10,514 871,091 1,387,312
- 13,558 - - - 13,558 23,554
30,905 339,705 70,133 80,453 150,586 490,291 755,047
68,474 355911 264,013 - 264,013 619,924 682,836
64,455 192,904 299,853 - 299,853 492,757 510,661
4310 72,051 37,605 2,400 40,005 112,056 101,372
7,303 261,226 11,280 95,079 106,359 367,585 345,836
- 46,158 90 - 90 46,248 17,285
2,065 14,184 1,890 63,548 65,438 79,622 92,500
72,440 109,803 276 200 476 110,279 152,322
204 4,690 27,163 15 27,178 31,868 44,277
- 933 192,304 - 192,304 193,237 161,922
- 13,747 65,868 - 65,868 79,615 180,132
7,575 56,010 24,252 17,167 41,419 97,429 105,679
- - 24,362 - 24,362 24,362 40,525
761 76,469 28,973 5,895 34,868 111,337 204,260
1,000 27,447 - - - 27,447 47,306
- 0 17,951 - 17,951 17,961 17,108
714,318 17,033,587 5,762,988 2,008,826 7,771,814 24,805,401 27,351,258
(49,245) 3,649,448 (3,649,448) - (3,649,448) - -
(229,259) 161,905 (171,036) 9,131 (161,905) - -
435814 $ 20,844,940 $ 1,942,504 $ 2,017,957 $ 3.960461 $ 24,805,401 $ 27,351,258
84% 8% 8% 100%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020

. Organization

Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (Laboratory), a nonprofit corporation, operates and maintains a marine and
environmental sciences laboratory for the encouragement and development of the study of marine
sciences and the advancement of the general knowledge of kindred subjects through education, training,
scientific research, exchange of scientific information and dissemination of information to the public. The
Laboratory began operations in 1955,

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Financial Statements

The financial statements and notes are representations of the Laboratory’s management who is
responsible for their integrity and objectivity. The accounting policies conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and have been consistently applied in the preparation
of the financial statements.

Basis of Accounting
The Laboratory prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due from program fees and grants receivable. A
significant portion of grants receivable are research grants.

Substantially all research grants are cost reimbursement grants. Research grants receivable consists of
billed and unbilled costs incurred on research contracts. Due to the nature of the grants, management
considers them to be collectible and no allowance has been established. These amounts are included in
accounts receivable on the statements of financial position.

Based on the Laboratory’s collection history, management believes no allowance for uncollectible amounts
is necessary.

Bequest Receivable
Bequests are recorded as support when the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated as
provided by the executor of the estate.

Pledges Receivable

Pledges are recorded as support when the donor's commitment has been received. Pledges receivable
due in more than one year are reflected at the present value of estimated future cash flows using an
appropriate discount rate in the year pledged.



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, if purchased, or fair market value at the date of gift, if donated.

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line half-year
method. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Years
Vehicles 3
Vessels 5
Buildings and improvements 5-40
Furniture, fixtures and exhibits 5-10
Laboratory equipment 5-20
Trailers 5-10

The Laboratory capitalizes all fixed asset purchases or donations with an estimated useful life of greater
than one year and a cost or fair market value of $5,000 or greater.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue associated with research grants or contracts is generally recognized as related costs are incurred.
Membership revenue is recognized ratably throughout the membership year.

All contributions are considered to be available for use without donor restriction unless specifically
restricted by the donor. Contributions which are designated by the donor to be used in future periods,
or for specific purposes, are recorded as net assets with donor restrictions. When the purpose of the
restriction is accomplished, or passage of time has occurred, net assets with donor restrictions are
reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities as net
assets released from restrictions.

Gifts of cash restricted for the purpose of acquiring or constructing long-lived assets are recorded as net
assets with donor restrictions until the long-lived assets are acquired or constructed at which time the
net assets are released from the restriction and reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions. Any
conditional gifts for which the conditions are not met at year-end are recorded as refundable advances.

Patents
Patents are stated at the cost to acquire. Amortization is provided for using the straight-line method over

the estimated useful life of ten years.

Contributed Services and Nonfinancial Assets

A substantial number of volunteers have made significant contributions of their time to the operations of
the Laboratory. The amount of volunteer hours contributed to the Laboratory during the years ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020 were 160,208 and 156,660 hours, respectively. The estimated value of
these donated services has not been recorded in the accompanying financial statements because it does
not meet the criteria for recognition under generally accepted accounting principles.

However, management estimates the fair value of these services contributed to the Laboratory during the
years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 amounted to $4,572,324 and $4,261,152, respectively. These
estimates are based on an article published in the NonProfit Times that estimates volunteer time to be
worth $28.54 and $27.20 per hour in 2021 and 2020, respectively, according to the Independent Sector,
a Washington D.C. based coalition of nonprofits and foundations.

-9.



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Contributed Services and Nonfinancial Assets (Continued)

Contributed nonfinancial assets are recognized at their estimated fair value when they create or enhance
nonfinancial assets, they require specialized skills that would need to be purchased if they were not
donated, or they are nonfinancial assets which are directed by the Laboratory for its benefit and have
been provided at no cost. Amounts are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation
using published rates and prices. Contributed nonfinancial assets for the year ended September 30, 2021
totaled $600,000 and is included in construction in progress on the statements of financial position. There
were no contributed nonfinancial assets for the year ended September 30, 2020.

Donated property and vessels, which are not classified by management for use by the Laboratory, are
recorded as assets held for sale. The carrying value of such assets is adjusted to the lower of fair market
value or the recorded value at the date of gift in order to more closely reflect the net realizable value.

Advertising and Promotion
Advertising and promotion costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising and promotion expense for the
years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $345,836 and $367,585, respectively.

Income Tax Status
The Laboratory is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Under the Income Taxes topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification, the Laboratory has
reviewed and evaluated the relevant technical merits of each of its tax positions in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes, and determined that there are no uncertain tax positions that would have a material impact
on the financial statements of the Laboratory.

The Laboratory files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and the State of Florida. The tax
periods open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which the Laboratory is subject include
fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 through September 30, 2021.

Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value

Certain of the Laboratory’s financial instruments are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis but
nevertheless certain financial instruments are recorded at amounts that approximate fair value due to
their liquid or short-term nature. Such financial assets and financial liabilities include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc., prepaid expenses and other
assets, accounts payable, accrued payroll, memberships relating to future periods, funds advanced on
research programs and deferred compensation payable.

Overhead Allocation

Overhead is allocated to research programs at a rate established with the cognizant federal agency, The
Department of Commerce and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Certain research
contracts limit the amount of reimbursement for overhead expenses to a rate specified in the individual
contracts.

-10 -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional
basis in the statement of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs
and supporting services that benefited. The expenses that are allocated include salaries, benefits, payroll
taxes, depreciation, and other expenses for services which are allocated on the basis of estimated time
and effort.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash on hand and highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at date of acquisition
are considered to be cash and cash equivalents. Cash restricted for the endowment and included as cash
and cash equivalents in the financial statements amounted to $552,508 and $301,568 as of September 30,
2021 and 2020, respectively.

Beneficial Interest in the Net Assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.

The Laboratory follows the Not-for-Profit Entities Topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification.
The Not-for-Profit Entities Topic establishes standards for transactions in which a donor makes a
contribution to a not-for-profit organization (the recipient) that agrees to transfer those assets to another
entity (the beneficiary). The statement requires that, if the specified beneficiary is financially interrelated
to the recipient organization, the beneficiary must recognize its interest in the net assets of the recipient
organization. As presented in the financial statements, the Laboratory is financially interrelated to Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc. and therefore, is required to report its beneficial interest in the net assets of Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc.

Reclassifications

To facilitate comparison of financial data, certain amounts in the 2020 financial statements have been
reclassified to conform to the 2021 reporting presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on the
change in net assets previously reported.

3. Liquidity and Availability
Financial assets available within one year of the statement of financial position date for general

expenditures are as follows:

2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16351,517 $ 11,279,117
Accounts receivable 4,295917 4,901,537
Pledges receivable 7,847,579 7,752,054
Due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 529,282 719,638
Investments - certificates of deposit 392,197 627,629
Beneficial interest in the net assets of Mote Marine
Foundation, Inc. 20,678,361 17,141,448
Total financial assets available 50,094,853 42,421,423
Less: Amounts unavailable for general expenditures within one year
due to:
Investments - certificates of deposit without donor restrictions
maturing after one year (392,197) (627,629)
Restricted by donors with purpose and time restrictions (24,684,247) (19,064,139)
Restricted by donors in perpetuity (10,046,114) (10,039,589)

Total amounts unavailable for general expenditures within one
year : (35,122,558) (29,731,357)




Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

3. Liquidity and Availability (Continued)

2021 2020
Less: Amounts unavailable to management without Board approval:
Board designated for SEA project (390,818) (390,818)
Total financial assets available to management for general
expenditure within one year $ 14581,477 $ 12,299,248

The Laboratory manages its liquid assets in accordance with regular budgeting processes developed
through the coordinated efforts of management and the Board of Trustees. Monthly reporting by
management to those charged with governance ensures the results from operating activities are
monitored closely.

The Board of Trustees has designated $390,818 as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, for the
construction of the Mote Science Education Aquarium. Although the Laboratory does not intend to spend
from board designated funds, these amounts could be made available if necessary.

4. Pledges Receivable

At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Laboratory held written unconditional pledges receivable in the
amounts of $7,942,514 and $7,810,000, respectively. The pledges have been restricted by the donors for
future projects. Management considers all pledges receivable to be fully collectible as of September 30,
2021 and 2020, therefore no allowance for uncollectible pledges has been established.

Pledges receivable consist of the following as of September 30:

2021 2020
Pledges receivable $ 7942514 % 7,810,000
Less: discount to net present value (rates of 1% and .40%) (94,935) (57,946)
Pledges receivable, net 7,847,579 7,752,054
Less amount due in less than one year 3,739,647 2,177,500
Amount collectible in one to five years $ 4107932 $ 5,574,554
5. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consists of the following at September 30:
2021 2020
Costs billed on research grants and other contracts $ 1442217 % 3,401,103
Unbilled costs incurred on research grants 2,844,855 1,497,584
Accounts receivable - other 8,845 2,850

$ 4295917 $ 4,901,537

During the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Laboratory had no write-offs of uncollectible
accounts receivable.



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

6. Investments

The Laboratory has certificates of deposit that earn interest at rates ranging between 3.0% and 3.45% and
mature in one to twenty-five months. As of September 30, 2021, the certificates of deposit totaled
$392,197 and are stated at fair value. As of September 30, 2020, the certificates of deposit totaled
$627,629 and are stated at fair value. Of these amounts, $127,576 and $370,754 is restricted for
endowments as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. There were no unrealized gains on the
certificates of deposit for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Laboratory had realized gains of $2,689 and $1,017 on the sales of investments in for the years ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Additionally, assets held at a community foundation during the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
incurred unrealized losses of $8,612 and unrealized gains of $1,148, respectively.

7. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following as of September 30:

2021 2020

Vehicles $ 591,237 % 705,541
Vessels 1,544,500 1,575,515
Buildings and improvements 42,570,072 42,616,856
Furniture, fixtures and exhibits 5,199,638 8,560,012
Laboratory equipment 9,583,282 11,082,647
Trailers 109,131 109,902

59,597,860 64,650,473
Less accumulated depreciation 44,598,175 48,268,642

$ 14999685 $ 16,381,831

Depreciation expense was $2,862,696 and $2,910,709 for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Construction in progress consists of the following at September 30:

2021 2020
Mote Science Education Aquarium preconstruction $ 15905034 3 5,195,720
Aquarium and Laboratory improvements 67,506 -

$ 15972540 $ 5,195,720

In accordance with contract provisions, the Laboratory has segregated and identified property and
equipment that has been purchased or improved with funds received from government agencies. Title to
these assets acquired with government agency funds vests with the Laboratory as long as the Laboratory
has a contract with the agency. Upon contract termination, title to these assets reverts to the agencies.
At September 30, 2021 and 2020, property and equipment purchased or improved with funds received
from government agencies, net of accumulated depreciation, totaled $756,662 and $95,831, respectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

8. Patents
During the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Laboratory incurred costs to maintain certain
patents. The costs capitalized and the related amortization provided for is as follows:

2021 2020
Patents $ 197,344 $ 190,453
Less: accumulated amortization 109,205 94,673
$ 88,139 $ 95,780

No significant residual value is estimated for these patents. Amortization expense for the years ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $17,108 and $17,951, respectively.

The following table represents the total estimated amortization of patents for the five succeeding years
and thereafter ending September 30:

2022 3 16,971
2023 16,284
2024 15,320
2025 13,619
Thereafter 25,945

$ 88,139

9. Long-Term Debt
Notes Payable
Notes payable consists of the following as of September 30:

2021 2020
Note payable in 180 monthly instaliments of $17,579 plus interest
based on overnight LIBOR plus 2.18%, maturing on August 5, 2028
and secured with personal property and pledges and guaranteed by
Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. with a $1,500,000 limitation. Interest
rate at September 30, 2021 was 2.26%. $ 1,880,960 $% 2,091,909
Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $624, interest at 2.39%
due 2021, secured by vehicle. 622 8,002
Note payable in 48 monthly installments of $348, interest at 3.64%
due 2022, secured by vehicle. 1,381 5,431
Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $665, interest at 2.39%
due 2021, secured by vehicle. 663 8,530
Note payable in 48 monthly installments of $382, interest at 3.64%
due 2022, secured by vehicle. 1,516 5,957
Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $413, interest at 2.39%
due 2021, secured by vehicle. 411 5,289
Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $427, interest at 4.44%
due 2024, secured by vehicle. 13,654 18,060

- 14 -
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9. Long-Term Debt (Continued)
Notes Payable (Continued)

2021 2020

Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $695, interest at 3.99%
due 2024, secured by vehicle. 19,794 27,180
Note payable in 119 monthly installments of $13,668 plus 4.2%
interest, with final payment of $1,348,395 due on October |, 2028,
secured by mortgage on real property located in Sarasota County. 1,989,276 2,066,425
Note payable annually at $200,000 plus 0.5% interest. A final balloon
payment is due July 11, 2027. Additionally, the payment scheduled
for fiscal year 2021 is due as part of the final balloon payment. 1,840,000 1,840,000
Note payable for insurance premiums financed by a third party. The
note is payable in 22 installments of $63,845, which include principal
and interest at 3.99%, due in 2023. 966,765 -

6,715,042 6,076,783
Less current portion 1,250,216 330,146
Non-current portion $ 5464826 $ 5746637

Interest expense incurred under these notes payable totaled $140,352 and $155,466 for the years ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Lines of Credit

Pursuant to loan agreements with two banks, the Laboratory has a revolving line of credit of $1,500,000
with each bank. One loan agreement expires on December 14, 2021 and the other is open-ended subject
to renewal provisions. Interest on one line of credit is charged at the bank’s prime rate less a margin of
1.25% with a 0% floor and is payable monthly. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, borrowings outstanding
under this line of credit and secured by pledges and accounts receivable of the Laboratory amounted to

$1,217,102,

Interest on the second revolving line of credit is charged at one month LIBOR plus 1.90% per annum,
payable monthly. There were no borrowings outstanding at September 30, 2021 and 2020. This line of
credit is secured by assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.

The Laboratory also has a line of credit of $185,000 from Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority. The loan
represents advanced funding for the improvements to the Airport Aquarium and has no expiration date
or interest rate and will be repaid with any funds raised associated with the Airport Aquarium. At
September 30, 2021 and 2020, borrowings outstanding totaled $185,000.

The multiple lines of credit outstanding at September 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $1,402,101.

Interest expense incurred under these lines of credit totaled $21,570 and $37,771 for the years ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Certain loan agreements described above require that the Laboratory meet certain debt covenant
compliance requirements. As of September 30, 2021, the Laboratory was in full compliance with all
requirements.
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9. Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Paycheck Protection Program Forgivable Loan

On April 16, 2020, the Laboratory qualified for and received a loan pursuant to the Paycheck Protection
Program, a program implemented by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the SBA) under the
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act for an aggregate principal amount of $2,318,259 (the
PPP Loan). The Laboratory applied for forgiveness of the PPP Loan in September 2020. On April 30, 2021,
the Laboratory received notice of forgiveness from the SBA of the entire principal of $2,318,259 and the
1% calculated accrued interest of $24,072. The Laboratory has recorded $2,318,259 as Paycheck
Protection Program loan forgiveness in the statement of activities for the year ended September 30, 2021.
The Laboratory did not accrue interest on the PPP Loan. The outstanding balance of the PPP Loan was
$2,318,259 as of September 30, 2020.

Future Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Aggregate maturities of long-term debt at September 30, are as follows:

2022 $ 1,250,216
2023 736,170
2024 508,469
2025 503,993
2026 507,977
Thereafter 3,208,217
Total $ 6,715,042

10. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions
Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes as of September 30:

Subject to expenditure for specific purpose: 2021 2020
Future projects $ 659,700 $ 119,697
Construction 13,660,702 11,741,595
Library expenses 26,587 26,587
Beneficial interest in net assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 10,337,258 7,176,260

Total purpose restrictions 24,684,247 19,064,139

Perpetual in nature:

Cultural endowment 600,000 600,000
Keys endowment 12,050 12,050
Beneficial interest in the net assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 9,434,064 9,427,539
Total perpetual in nature restrictions 10,046,114 10,039,589
Total net assets with donor restrictions $ 34730361 $ 29,103,728

II. Net Assets Released from Restrictions
Net assets released from donor restriction by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes as of
September 30:

2021 2020
Aquarium expenses $ 32883 $ 33,334
Other - 345,349
Library 2,000 -
Construction 9,916,474 4,441,027

$ 9951357 § 4819710
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12. Retirement Plan

The Laboratory provides a 403(b) retirement plan. The Laboratory matches employee contributions
based on an employee's length of service and gross salary. Retirement plan expense was $578,363 and
$612,105 for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

13. Matching Requirements on Governmental Grants

The Laboratory is awarded grants from federal agencies which require matching contributions by the
Laboratory. The matching requirements were met or exceeded on completed federal grants during 202
and 2020.

14. Rental Use Charges
Periodically, certain programs require utilization of vessels, vehicles and equipment provided by the
Laboratory. Each program is charged rent, based on use, at a pre-established rental fee that reflects the
cost of operating the asset.

I15. Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk

The Laboratory maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed federally insured
limits. Accounts are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to certain limits.
At any given time, the Laboratory may have cash and investment balances exceeding the insured amount.
The Laboratory has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any
significant credit risk on cash and investments.

16. Related Party Transactions

The Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. (Foundation), a financially interrelated organization, provides support
to the Laboratory in the form of grants. For the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the
Laboratory received grants from the Foundation in the amount of $524,748 and $985,483, respectively.

Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. is dependent on Laboratory personnel for administration and certain aspects
of fund raising.

From time to time, the Laboratory will provide grants, receive donations and pay certain expenses on
behalf of the Foundation. As of September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Foundation owed the Laboratory
$529,282 and $719,638 respectively.

Certain trustee members are affiliated with organizations that transact with the Laboratory. Trustee
members are required to complete conflict of interest disclosure statements and abstain from voting on
related issues.

During the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, a trustee donated the use of an aircraft for travel
accommodations for employees and trustees. The value of this donation for the years ended September
30, 2021 and 2020 is estimated to be $2,603 and $2,364, respectively.

From time to time, the trustees make pledges and contributions to the Laboratory.

17. Leased Facility

The Laboratory has a leasehold agreement with a municipality for real property on which the Laboratory
has constructed its facilities. The agreement requires the Laboratory to pay the municipality one dollar
per year until the agreement expires in the year 2050. The fair market value of the leasehold agreement
is not determinable and therefore has not been recorded in the accompanying financial statements.
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18. Endowments

The Laboratory’s endowment consists of funds established for several purposes. Its endowment includes
donor-restricted endowment funds. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, net assets associated with endowment funds are classified and reported based on the
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. It is typical to establish all endowment funds in Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc.

Interpretation of Relevant Law

The Board of Trustees of the endowment has interpreted the Florida Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act (FUPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of
the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary.
As a result of this interpretation, the Laboratory classifies as net assets with donor restrictions in
perpetuity (a) the original value of gifts donated to the perpetual endowment and (b) the original value of
subsequent gifts to the perpetual endowment.

Endowment Net Asset Composition
As of September 30, 2021, endowment net assets consisted of the following:
With
Donor
Restrictions

Donor-restricted endowment funds:

Endowment balance $ 612,050
Un-appropriated income with purpose restrictions 14,281
Total donor-restricted endowment funds $ 626,331

As of September 30, 2020, endowment net assets consisted of the following:

With
Donor
Restrictions
Donor-restricted endowment funds:
Endowment balance $ 612,050
Un-appropriated income with purpose restrictions 10,809
Total donor-restricted endowment funds $ 622,859
Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended September 30, 2021 are as follows:
With
Donor

Restrictions

Endowment net assets, October |, 2020 $ 622,859
Endowment investment return:
Investment income 205
Realized and unrealized gains 3,267
Total endowment investment return 3,472
Appropriation of endowment for expenditures -
Endowment net assets, September 30, 2021 $ 626,331
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18. Endowments (Continued)
Changes in Endowment Net Assets (Continued)
Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended September 30, 2020 are as follows:
With
Donor
Restrictions

Endowment net assets, October 1, 2019 $ 622,492
Endowment investment return:
Investment income 344
Realized and unrealized gains 23
Total endowment investment return 367
Appropriation of endowment for expenditures -
Endowment net assets, September 30, 2020 $ 622,859

Funds with Deficiencies

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor restricted endowment funds
may fall below the level classified as net assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature. These
deficiencies result from unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred shortly after the investment of new
contributions of net assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature and continued
appropriation for certain programs that was deemed prudent by the Board of Trustees. There were no
deficiencies of this nature reported in net assets without donor restrictions as of September 30, 2021 and
2020.

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters

The Laboratory has adopted investment policies and spending polices for endowment assets that attempt
to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-
restricted funds that the Laboratory must hold in perpetuity or for donor-specified periods. Under this
policy, as approved by the Board of Trustees, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is
intended to produce a long-term rate of return on assets of to match or exceed the rate of return
determined from the sum of the annual distribution percentage, inflation measured by the CPI, and real
growth of 1%.

The Cultural Endowment Program has a primary investment constraint to preserve principal along with
restrictions on investment instruments, so the Laboratory uses an alternative approved investment policy
for this program.

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Laboratory relies on a total return strategy in which
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current
yield (interest and dividends). The Laboratory targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater
emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk
constraints.
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18. Endowments (Continued)

Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy

The Laboratory has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year 5% percent of its endowment funds
average fair value over the period of 12 quarters through the calendar year end preceding the fiscal year
in which the distribution is planned. In establishing this policy, the Laboratory considered the long-term
expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the long term, the Laboratory expects the current
spending policy to allow its endowment to grow at an average of 1% percent annually. This is consistent
with the Laboratory’s objective to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in
perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts and
investment return. The established policy for the Cultural Endowment Program distributes 100% of
current income for use in operating costs for cultural activities expecting no further growth in this
endowment.

19. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Laboratory adopted the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification which provides enhanced guidance for using fair value to measure assets and
liabilities and clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants
would use when pricing the assets or liabilities and establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the information
used to develop those assumptions. The Laboratory has adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-
06, improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements, which requires the Laboratory to present fair value
measurements separately for each class of assets and liabilities held as of September 30, 2021 and 2020.

The following tables present information about the Laboratory’s assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, and indicate the fair
value hierarchy of the valuation techniques used to determine such fair value. The three levels for
measuring fair value are based on the reliability of inputs and are as follows:

Level | - quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, such as publicly traded
equity securities. This level includes common and preferred stock, cash and money market funds, mutual
funds, corporate bonds and bond funds, and government obligations.

Level 2 - inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level | that are observable, either directly or
indirectly. Such inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets, observable inputs other than quoted
prices (interest rates, yield curves, etc.), or inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 - inputs are unobservable data points for the asset or liability, and include situations where there
is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The inputs reflect the Laboratory’s assumptions
based on the best information available in the circumstance.

The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory’s assets measured at fair value

on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2021:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV*

Beneficial interest in the

net assets of Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc.  $ 20,894,243 $ 18,136,475 $ 2,736,253 $ - $ 21,515
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19. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)
The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory's assets measured at fair value
on a non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2021:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV*

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote

Marine Foundation, Inc.  $ 16,144 $ - $ - $ 16,144 $ -
Pledges receivable 7,847,579 - - 7,847,579 -
Ending balance $ 7863723 $ - $ - $ 7863723 % -

The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory’s assets measured at fair value
on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2020:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV#*

Beneficial interest in the

net assets of Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc. $ 17,516,824 $ 14,857,801 $ 2,623,498 $ - $ 35,525

The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory’s assets measured at fair value
on a non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2020:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV*

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote

Marine Foundation, Inc.  $ 39,797 % - $ - $ 39,797 $ -
Pledges receivable 7,752,054 - - 7,752,054 -
Ending balance $ 7791851 $ - $ - $ 7,791,851 $ -

(¥)Certain investments of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. that are measured at fair value using the net
asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been categorized in the
fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in the tables above are intended to permit
reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the statements of financial
position.

20. Subsequent Events

The Laboratory has evaluated all events subsequent to the statement of financial position date of
September 30, 2021 and through the date these financial statements were available to be issued, April 13,
2022, and have determined that, except as set forth below, there are no subsequent events that require
disclosure.

In October 2021, the Laboratory transferred cash in the amount of $5,736,170 to an escrow account
pursuant to the terms of an agreement between the Laboratory and Sarasota County. The depositing of
funds into the escrow account allowed the Laboratory to begin the Enabling Work phase of construction
of the Mote Science Education Aquarium.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance
‘Year Ended September 30, 2021

Assistance
Listing # Pass-through Transfer
or Entity Identification Total to
Grantor CSFA# or Grant Numb Expenditures Subrecipients
Federal Contracts and Grants
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER
Department of Agriculture
Agricultural Research Service
Agricultural Research Basic and Applied Research
Passed through Florida Atlantic University 10.001 59-6034-9-007 135341 § 135,341 -
Department of Commerce
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)
Ocean Exploration 11,081 NAI80AROI 10291 7,260 7,260 2516
Integrated Ocean Observing System (I0OS)
Passed through Texas A&M University 11.012 NAI6NOS0120018 107,158
Passed through Southeast Coastal Ocean Observing Regional Association 11.012 NA16NOS0120028 66,556 173,714 -
Sea Grant Support
Passed through University of Florida 11417 NABOAR4 170085 65,261
Passed through University of Miami 11417 NAI9OAR4170414 77018 142,279 33,733
Fisheries Development and Utilization Research and
Development Grants and Cooperative Agreements Program 11.427 NA20NMF4270199 124,115
11.427 NA|8NMF4270201 38,840 162,955 16,617
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
(NOAA) Cooperative Institutes
Passed through Research Foundation CUNY 11.432 16126-Z7813001 6,383 6,383 -
Marine Fisheries Initiative 11433 NAI5NMF4330152 65,574 65,574 14,443
Marine Mammal Data Program 11.439 NAIINMFI390178 22,638
11.439 NA20NMF4390106 41,003
11.439 NAI8NMF4390064 3,360
11.439 NA17NMF4390089 10,790 77,791 2,443
Unallied Management Projects
Passed through National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 11.454 NA6NMF4540085 8,932
11.454 NA16NMF4540289 500
11.454 NA20NMF4540082 191,192 200,624 20,500
Habitat Conservation 11.463 NA9NMF4630259 740,456 740,456 -
Unallied Science Program
Passed through Nationa! Fish and Wildlife Foundation 11.472 NA8NMF4720287 2,265
11.472 NA20NMF4720265 93,399
11.472 NAITSNMF47202%0 195,706
Passed through Florida Fish & Wildlife Conservation Commission 11472 NAISNMF4720018 47,374 338,744 79,862
Office for Coastal Management
Passed through National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 11473 NA|8NOS54730204 505,267
11473 NA20NOS4730027 170,209 675,476 -
Center for Sponsored Coastal Ocean Research Coastal Ocean Program
11478 NA9NOS4780183 514,997 332,591
Passed through Florida International University 11478 NAI8NOS4780171 17,664 532,661 -
Environmental Protection Agency
Office of Water
Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstrations,
and Training Grants and Cooperative Agreements -
Section 104(b)(3) of the Clean Water Act
Passed through Florida Fish & Wildlife Conservation Commission 66.436 01000820 20,789 20,789 -




Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2021

Assistance
Listing # Pass-through Transfer
or Entity Identification Total to
Grantor CSFA# or Grant Numb Expenditures Subrecipients
Federal Contracts and Grants (Continued)
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER (Continued)
National Science Foundation
Geosciences 47.050 1452538 78272
47.050 2050892 114,217
47.050 1928817 15421
47.050 OCE - 1757419 17.485
47.050 1923926 51,261 276,656 -
Education and Human Resources 47.076 1922351 578,250 578,250 24,263
U.S. Department of Defense
Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA)
Research and Technology Development
Passed through Florida Adantic University 12910 AWD - 001612/ AWD - 002091 110,237 110,237 -
Department of the Interior
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
State Wildlife Grants
Passed through Florida Fish & Wildlife Conservation Commission 15.634 FL-T-F18AF00492 32,302 32,302 -
National Park Service
National Park Service Conservation, Protection, Qutreach and Education 15.954 PISAC01005 87,189 87,189 -
Department of Treasury
Resources and Ecosystems Sustainability, Tourist Opportunities,
and Revived Economies of the Gulf Coast States
Passed through The Nature Conservancy 21.015 RDCGRI170068 63,353
Passed through the Florida Institute of Oceanography 21,015 8-RCEGR020005-01-02 37,094 100,447 -
Department of State
General Department of State Assistance 19.700 51S-70017G33038 156,100 156,100 139,006
TOTAL RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER $ 4,621,228 $ 665,974
‘Total Federal Contracts and Grants $ _4,621,228 $ 665,974
State Contracts and Grants
State of Florida
Florida Fish & Wildlife Conservation Commission
Cooperative Red Tide Research Program - Reduction
of Harmful Impacts from Red Tide - Red Tide Mitigation
and Technology Development initiative 77010 15003 162,511
77.010 19153 3,330,116 75,609
77.010 20034 1,026,695 4,519,322
Marine Fisheries Assessment 77.023 16024-Al 36,142
77.023 16024-A3 158,256
77.023 20,317 85,158 279,556 -
Mote Marine Laboratory Coral Reef Restoration Program 77.036 20151 739,999 739,999 -
Department of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles
Protect Wild Dolphins License Plate Project 76011 1600 554 554 -
Protect Qur Reefs License Plate Project 76.069 POR 1,016,724 1,016,724 46,043
Sea Turtle License Plate Project 76.070 20-004C 265
76.070 20-022R 2,551
76.070 21-033C 16,095 18911 -
Department of Environmental Protection
Coral Reef Protection and Restoration Grant 37.107 C2002 75,371 75371 -
Department of Economic Opportunity
Division of Housing and Community Development 40.038 HL120 1,010,268 1,010,268 -
Total State Contracts and Grants $ 7,660,705 § 121,652
Total Federal and State Contracts and Grants $ 12281933 § 787,626




Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance
Year Ended September 30, 2021

I. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award and state financial assistance activity of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. under programs of the
federal government and State of Florida for the year ended September 30, 2021. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General. Because the
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc., it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein

certain types of expenditures are not aflowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

3. Indirect Cost Election
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. has not elected to use the 10% de minimis cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance, and has a federally negotiated rate with its cognizant agency.
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial
Statements Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing
Standards

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Trustees
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Sarasota, Florida

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General, the
financial statements of Mote Marine Laboratory Inc. (Laboratory), which comprise the statement of
financial position as of September 30, 2021, and the related statement of activities, and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon
dated April 13, 2022.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Laboratory's internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Laboratory’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Laboratory’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and
correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.



Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Laboratory’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

' rckeos f

Sarasota, Florida
April 13, 2022
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Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and State
Project; and Report on Internal Control over Compliance Required by
the Uniform Guidance and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General

of the State of Florida

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Trustees
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Sarasota, Florida

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance
Project

We have audited Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.’s (Laboratory) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the requirements described in the State
of Florida Department of Financial Services Statements Projects Compliance Supplement that could have
a direct and material effect on each of the Laboratory’s major federal programs and state financial
assistance projects for the year ended September 30, 2021. The Laboratory’s major federal programs and
state financial assistance projects are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions
of its federal and state awards applicable to its federal programs and state financial assistance projects.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Laboratory’s major federal
programs and state financial assistance projects based on our audit of the types of compliance
requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and
the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and Chapter
10.650, Rules of the Auditor General. Those standards, and the Uniform Guidance and Chapter 10.650,
Rules of the Auditor General require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could
have a direct and material effect on a major federal program and state financial assistance project occurred.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Laboratory's compliance with those
requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program and state financial assistance project. However, our audit does not provide a legal
determination of the Laboratory’'s compliance.



Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance Project

In our opinion, Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its
major federal programs and state financial assistance projects for the year ended September 30, 2021.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Laboratory is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing
our audit of compliance, we considered the Laboratory’s internal control over compliance with the types
of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program and state
financial assistance project to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and state financial
assistance project and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the
Uniform Guidance and Chapter 10.650 Rules of the Auditor General, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Laboratory's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program or state financial assistance project on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control
over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement
of a federal program or state financial assistance project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected,
on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program or state financial assistance project that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
Uniform Guidance and the Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General. Accordingly, this report is not
suitable for any other purpose.

/&94,,;3, (Gt

Sarasota, Florida
April 13, 2022
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended September 30, 2021

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements
Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:

e Material weakness(es) identified? yes___ X no

¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes___X _ none reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted? yes__X __no

Federal and State Awards
Internal control over major programs and projects:

» Material weakness(es) identified? yes___X__no

o Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes___X__ none reported

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs and projects: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to

be reported in accordance with section 2 CFR
200.516(a) and the provisions of the Florida Single
Audit Act in accordance with Chapter 10.650 of

the Rules of the Auditor General yes__X__no




Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2021

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results (Continued)

Identification of major programs and projects:

CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster

10.001
11.011
11.012
11.417
11.427

11.432

11.433
11.439
11.454
11.463
11.472
11.473
11.478

66.436

47.050
47.076
12.910
15.634
15.954

21.015

19.700

Research and Development Cluster:

Agricultural Research Basic and Applied Research

Ocean Exploration

Integrated Ocean Observing System (I00S)

Sea Grant Support

Fisheries Development and Utilization Research
and Development Grants and Cooperative
Agreements Program

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
(NOAA) Cooperative Institutes

Marine Fisheries Initiative

Marine Mammal Data Program

Unallied Management Projects

Habitat Conservation

Unallied Science Program

Office for Coastal Management

Center for Sponsored Coastal Ocean Research
Coastal Ocean Program

Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstrations,
and Training Grants and Cooperative
Agreements — Section 104(b)(3) of the
Clean Water Act

Geosciences

Education and Human Resources

Research and Technology Development

State Wildlife Grants

National Park Service Conservation, Protection,
Outreach and Education

Resources and Ecosystems Sustainability, Tourist
Opportunities, and Revived Economies of
the Gulf Coast States

General Department of State Assistance



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2021

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results (Continued)

CSFA Numbers Name of State Projects
76.069 Protect Our Reefs License Plate Project
77.010 Cooperative Red Tide Research Program-

Reduction of Harmful Impact from Red Tide

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B Federal programs: $_750.000
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B State projects: $__750.000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? ___x  yes no

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings

None

Section lll - Federal and State Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None

Section IV - Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings and Questioned Costs

No prior audit findings or questioned costs to be addressed

Section V - Other

No management letter is required because there were no findings to be reported in a management
letter as required by Section 215.97 (9)(f) and 215.97 (10)(d) of the Florida Statutes, Auditor General
Rule 10.654 (I)(e) or 10.656 (3)(e).
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Trustees
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Sarasota, Florida

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (Laboratory), a nonprofit
organization, which comprise the statements of financial position as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the
related statements of activities, cash flows, and functional expenses for the years then ended, and the
related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Laboratory as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its net assets and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Laboratory
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Laboratory’s ability to
continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be
issued.



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 2 whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Laboratory’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Laboratory’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Other Matters

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance, as required
by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General of the State of
Florida is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.



Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 22, 2024,
on our consideration of the Laboratory’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Laboratory's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Laboratory's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

/g(,émj_ (Grcbesen

Sarasota, Florida
February 22, 2024



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statements of Financial Position
September 30, 2023 and 2022

2023 2022
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,541,540 $ 15,353,772
Accounts receivable 4,967,920 4,919,837
Promises to give, net 7,581,319 9,554,050
Due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 449,892 470,049
Prepaid expenses and other assets 273,957 179,710
Investments - certificates of deposit 119,840 119,193
Patents, net 79,923 79,286
Investment in deferred compensation plan 591,270 611,078
Land 7,519,082 7,519,082
Property and equipment, net 14,270,964 14,064,103
Construction in progress 70,864,506 30,339,458
Beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 18,589,544 16,481,634
Total Assets $ 137,849,757 $ 99,691,252
Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 5,322,220 $ 2,680,699
Accrued payroll 1,179,701 1,058,914
Memberships relating to future periods 585,397 546,511
Funds advanced on research programs 3,368,561 5,154,051
Deferred revenue 2,250,000 -
Deferred compensation payable 591,270 611,078
Lines of credit 16,226,314 1,397,647
Notes payable 4,731,392 5,466,368
Total liabilities 34,254,855 16,915,268
Net Assets:
Without donor restrictions:
Undesignated 75,009,760 51,673,165
Board designated 390818 390,818
Total net assets without donor restrictions 75,400,578 52,063,983
With donor restrictions: '
Purpose and time restrictions 18,145,227 20,664,511
Perpetual in nature 10,049,097 10,047,490
Total net assets with donor restrictions 28,194,324 30,712,001
Total net assets 103,594,902 82,775,984
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 137,849,757 $ 99,691,252

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statement of Activities
Year Ended September 30, 2023
(With Summarized Totals for 2022)

Without Donor With Donor 2022
Restrictions Restrictions Total Total
Support, Revenue and Reclassifications:
Program revenue:
Research revenue:
Federal $ 5,591,380 $ - $ 5,591,380 $ 5,677,236
State 7,399,790 - 7,399,790 6,814,217
Other 3,705,517 - 3,705,517 5,122,356
Aquarium:
Admission fees 6,552,472 - 6,552,472 6,230,784
Gift shop 633,173 - 633,173 644,078
Other 383,051 - 383,051 699,109
Memberships 1,070,026 - 1,070,026 1,118,070
Education 748,989 - 748,989 617,845
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate 1,569,844 - 1,569,844 1,350,873
Other programs 268,534 6,085,000 6,353,534 2,165,202
Contributions:
Construction - 11,145,408 11,145,408 13,556,039
Education 452,627 122,037 574,664 495,808
Aquarium 84,481 113,822 198,303 139,718
Other programs 4,927,143 3,979,056 8,906,199 2,884,852
Non-cash contributions 203,504 75,430 278,934 115,532
Grants from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 361,842 - 361,842 465,741
Investment income 7.463 103,988 111,451 68,043
Unrealized gain (Joss) on investments, net 727 2,458 3,185 (121,052)
Realized gain (foss) on investments, net 4,131 3i6 4,447 (14,393)
Realized loss on disposal of assets - - - (1,599)
Change in beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 178,965 1,928,945 2,107,910 (4,196,727)
Net assets released from restrictions 26,074,137 (26,074,137) - -
Total support, revenue and
reclassifications 60,217,796 (2,517,677) 57,700,119 43,832,432
Expenses:
Program services:
Research 22,516,029 - 22,516,029 19,693,397
Education 1,525,406 - 1,525,406 1,221,417
Aquarium 5,239,570 - 5,239,570 4,679,048
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate 1,238,729 - 1,238,729 970,118
Other 1,565,151 - 1,565,151 944,684
Supporting services:
Research facilities and operations 1,017,161 - 1,017,161 788,080
Administrative and general 1,296,409 - 1,296,409 1,224,295
Fundraising 2,482,746 - 2,482,746 2,241,936
Total expenses 36,881,201 - 36,881,201 31,762,975
Change in net assets 23,336,595 (2,517,677) 20,818,918 12,069,457
Net assets at beginning of year 52,063,983 30,712,001 82,775,984 70,706,527
Net assets at end of year $ 75400578 $_ 28,194,324 $ 103,594,902 $ 82,775,984

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statement of Activities
Year Ended September 30, 2022
(With Summarized Totals for 2023)

Without Donor With Donor 2023
Restrictions Restrictions Total Total
Support, Revenue and Reclassifications:
Program revenue:
Research revenue:
Federal $ 5,677,236 $ - $ 5677236 $ 5,591,380
State 6,814,217 - 6,814,217 7,399,790
Other 5,023,170 99,186 5,122,356 3,705,517
Aquarium:
Admission fees 6,230,784 - 6,230,784 6,552,472
Gift shop 644,078 - 644,078 633,173
Other 699,109 - 699,109 383,051
Memberships 1,118,070 - 1,118,070 1,070,026
Education 617,845 - 617,845 748,989
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate 1,350,873 - 1,350,873 1,569,844
Other programs 358,684 1,807,218 2,165,902 6,353,534
Contributions:
Construction - 13,556,039 13,556,039 11,145,408
Education 470,808 25,000 495,808 574,664
Aquarium 94,826 44,892 139,718 198,303
Other programs 2,859,602 25,250 2,884,852 8,906,199
Non-cash contributions 99,328 16,204 115,532 278,934
Grants from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 465,741 - 465,741 361,842
Investment income 16,144 51,899 68,043 111,451
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net (8,318) (112,734) (121,052) 3,185
Realized gain (loss) on investments, net 5,152 (19,545) (14,393) 4,447
Realized loss on disposal of assets (1,599) - (1,599) -
Change in beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. (366,359) (3,830,368) (4,196,727) 2,107,910
Net assets released from restrictions 15,681,401 (15,681,401) - -
Total support, revenue and
reclassifications 47,850,792 (4,018,360) 43,832,432 57,700,119
Expenses:
Program services:
Research 19,693,397 - 19,693,397 22,516,029
Education 1,221,417 - 1,221,417 1,525,406
Agquarium 4,679,048 - 4,679,048 5,239,570
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate 970,118 - 970,118 1,238,729
Other 944,684 - 944,684 1,565,151
Supporting services:
Research facilities and operations 788,080 - 788,080 1,017,161
Administrative and general 1,224,295 - 1,224,295 1,296,409
Fundraising 2,241,936 - 2,241,936 2,482,746
Total expenses 31,762,975 - 31,762,975 36,881,201
Change in net assets 16,087,817 (4,018,360) 12,069,457 20,818,918
Net assets at beginning of year 35,976,166 34,730,361 70,706,527 82,775,984
Net assets at end of year $ 52,063,983 $ 30712001 $ 82775984 $ 103,594,902

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Realized loss on disposal of assets
Unrealized / realized loss (gain) on investments, net
Change in beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Non-cash contributions
Proceeds from donated assets held for sale
Change in operating assets:
Accounts receivable
Promises to give, net
Due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Change in operating liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Memberships relating to future periods
Funds advanced on research programs
Deferred revenue
Total adjustments
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Proceeds from maturity of certificate of deposit
Patent costs
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net change in lines of credit
Repayments of notes payable
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year, consist of the following:
Cash
Restricted cash

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash:
Operating, Investing, and Financing Activity:
Cash paid for interest
Construction in progress included in accounts payable
Construction in progress non-cash contribution

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

2023 2022
$ 20818918 $ 12069457
2,625,339 2,517,601

- 1,599
(7.632) 135,445
(2,107,910) 4,196,727
(278,934) (115,532)
237,040 ]
(48,083) (623,920)
1,972,731 (1,706,471)
20,157 59,233
(94.247) (53,694)
(317.189) (149,636)
120,787 127,213
38,886 (93314)
(1,785,490) 313,600
2,250,000 ]
2,625,455 4,608,851
23,444,373 16,678,308
(40,330,493) (16,670,197)
. 3,200

- 253,091
(19,803) (9,019)
(40,350,296) (16,422,925)
14,828,667 (4,454)
(734,976) (1,248,674)
14,093,691 (1,253,128)
(2.812,232) (997,745)
15,353,772 16,351,517
$ 12,541,540 $ 15,353,772
11,956,890 14,780,482
584,650 573,290
$___ 12,541,540 $__ 15353772
204,201 $ 207,150
4,716,298 $ 1,757,588

“ B B

48,879

$ -




Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended September 30, 2023

(With Summarized Totals for 2022)

Salaries and benefits
Contracted services
Depreciation

Repairs and maintenance
Travel, meals and seminars
Research supplies
Merchandise

Office expense
Electricity

Insurance

Telephone

Promotion and advertising
Expendable supplies
Printing and publication
Vessel

Vehicle

Interest

Accounting and legal
Equipment rental
Library

Licenses and fees

Rent

Miscellaneous

Overhead allocation

Rental use charges allocation:
Vessel, vehicle and equipment

Total Expenses

Percent of Total

Program Services

$

Protect our Reefs

Research Education Aquarium License Plate Other Total
9,280,990 $ 958,532 $ 3,152,033 § 519,426 $ 757413 $ 14,668,394
3,649,264 306,929 111,068 74,905 56,248 4,198,414

- - 174,670 - 51,778 226,448
602,925 2,597 630,332 140,005 184,863 1,560,722
631,007 48,856 39813 11,181 138,280 869,137

2,116,460 33,553 (226) 87,625 1,076 2,238,488
2,629 10,606 56,447 177 540 70,399
198,489 28,632 395,382 16,546 132,396 771,445
72,382 - 251,592 95,705 102,755 522,434
35,363 - 41,845 10,603 38,004 125,815
28,172 6,893 10,972 13,956 7,820 67,813
192,888 57,939 62,544 16,100 47,628 377,099
2,403 6,191 7,436 749 1,599 18,378
12,094 2712 36,826 974 11,225 63,831
30,876 400 - 4,033 189,740 225,049
50,084 - 8,533 538 31,418 90,573
9,088 9216 13,703 - 21,139 44,846
5.196 3l 15,290 58,133 29,181 107,831
292 45 - - 64,924 65,261
41,656 5,126 108,373 3,100 16,862 175,117
35,631 30,323 2,390 - 11,180 79,524
- - - - 24,128 24,128
16,997,889 1,500,281 5,119,023 1,053,756 1,920,197 26,591,146
5,109,606 2,332 35,094 169,497 - 5,316,529
408,534 22,793 85,453 15,476 (355,046) 177,210
22,516,029 $ 1,525,406 $ 5,239,570 $ 1,238,729 $ 1,565,151 $ 32,084,885
87%



Supporting Services 2023 2022

Research Facilities Administrative Fund Functional Functional
and Operations and General Raising Total Expenses Expenses
1,198,756 $ 1,367,661 $ 1,586,252 $ 4,152,669 $ 18,821,063 $ 16,537,074
39,576 87,177 178,493 305,246 4,503,660 3,768,040
555,991 1,822,097 - 2,378,088 2,604,536 2,499,729
715,425 87,899 9,430 812,754 2,373,476 1,903,454
15,100 25817 299,331 340,248 1,209,385 946,675
43,925 153 - 44,078 2,282,566 1,610,588
- - 1,439 1,439 71,838 35,947
17,177 141,465 91,564 250,206 1,021,651 893,318
485,283 - - 485,283 1,007,717 873,108
357,956 242,803 202 600,961 726,776 614,010
13,723 39,984 3,024 56,731 124,544 109,269
- 1,172 151,168 152,340 529,439 494,497
82 14,116 - 14,198 32,576 30,280
10,176 2,926 89,896 102,998 166,829 151,181
573 - - 573 225,622 144,843
90,820 l,180 - 92,000 182,573 252,417
642 203,559 - 204,201 204,201 207,150
- 62,358 2,564 64,922 109,768 217,523
43,529 28,201 48,992 120,722 228,553 110,495
- - - - 65,261 55,063
29,595 64,018 16,785 110,398 285,515 220,261
- - - - 79,524 70,181
- - - - 24,128 17,872
3,618,329 4,192,586 2,479,140 10,290,055 36,881,201 31,762,975
(2,462,829) (2,853,700) - (5,316,529) - -
(138,339) (42,477) 3,606 (177,210) - -
1,017,161 $ 1,296409 $ 2482746 $ 4796316 $ 36,881,201 $__ 31.762975
3% 3% 7% 100%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended September 30, 2022
(With Summarized Totals for 2023)

Salaries and benefits
Contracted services
Depreciation

Repairs and maintenance
Travel, meals and seminars
Research supplies
Merchandise

Office expense
Electricity

Insurance

Telephone

Promotion and advertising
Expendable supplies
Printing and publication
Vessel

Vehicle

Interest

Accounting and legal
Equipment rental

Library

Licenses and fees

Rent

Miscellaneous

Overhead allocation

Rental use charges allocation:
Vessel, vehicle and equipment

Total Expenses

Percent of Total

Program Services

Protect our Reefs

Research Education Aguarium License Plate Other Total
8483348 §$ 767,754 $ 2,908,473 $ 321972 % 282,252 $ 12,763,799
2,960,830 221,352 101,029 113,367 60,260 3,456,838

- - 186,757 36,446 5,078 228,281
471,310 559 543,157 195,695 96,935 1,307,656
458,105 36,395 30,541 10,022 88,478 623,541

1,518,051 19,507 4,407 42,370 2,592 1,586,927
1,585 3,398 27,809 395 - 33,187
143,531 32,626 420,039 23,834 106,280 726,310
54,754 - 187,590 81,573 94,534 418,451
32,118 - 51,743 11,191 17,593 112,645
27,458 5,369 11,097 14,412 4,796 63,132
174,808 52,758 61,709 12,485 38,601 340,361
5,850 8,918 15,463 - - 30,231
12,057 3,778 22,000 4,377 6,537 48,749
109,459 - - 25 35,359 144,843
48,311 500 10,340 5,258 113,277 177,686
- - - - 26,195 26,195
1,078 337 1,168 - 135.876 138,459
8,489 - 2,876 8,278 15,684 35,327
- - - - 55,063 55,063
75,856 2,942 20,737 4,009 10,976 114,520
46,082 15,099 - - 9,000 70,181
- - - - 17,872 17,872
14,633,080 1,171,292 4,606,935 885,709 1,223,238 22,520,254
4,787,790 13,713 312 70,632 - 4,872,447
272,527 36,412 71,801 13,777 (278,554) 115,963
19,693,397 $ 1,221,417 % 4,679,048 % 970,118 $ 944,684 $ 27,508,664
87%



Supporting Services 2022 2023

Research Facilities Administrative Fund Functional Functional
and Operations and General Raising Total Expenses Expenses
1,049,108 $ 1,290,222 $ 1,433,945 3,773,275 $§ 16,537,074 $ 18,821,063
9,465 113,725 188,012 311,202 3,768,040 4,503,660
335819 1,935,629 - 2,271,448 2,499,729 2,604,536
490,624 98,384 6,790 595,798 1,903,454 2,373,476
37,883 35,793 249,458 323,134 946,675 1,209,385
10,802 11,984 875 23,661 1,610,588 2,282,566
- 2,644 e 2,760 35,947 71,838
22,983 80,756 63,269 167,008 893,318 1,021,651
454,657 - - 454,657 873,108 1,007,717
205,072 296,293 - 501,365 614,010 726,776
15,902 27,840 2,395 46,137 109,269 124,544
390 9,172 144,574 154,136 494,497 529,439
- 49 - 49 30,280 32,576
2,325 3,104 97,003 102,432 151,181 166,829
- - - - 144,843 225,622
74,731 - - 74,731 252,417 182,573
1,188 179,767 - 180,955 207,150 204,201
- 78,121 943 79,064 217,523 109,768
11,143 26,200 37.825 75,168 110,495 228,553
- - - - 55,063 65,261
31,168 62,733 11,840 105,741 220,261 285,515
- - - - 70,181 79,524
- - - - 17,872 24,128
2,753,260 4,252,416 2,237,045 9,242,721 31,762,975 36,881,201

(1,914,892) (2,957,555) - (4,872,447) - -

(50,288) (70,566) 4,891 (115,963) - -
788,080 $ 1,224,295 % 2,241,936 $ 4254311 $ 31,762,975 $_ 36,881,201

2% 4% 7% 100%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2023 and 2022

I. Organization

Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (Laboratory), a nonprofit corporation, operates and maintains a marine and
environmental sciences laboratory for the encouragement and development of the study of marine
sciences and the advancement of the general knowledge of kindred subjects through education, training,
scientific research, exchange of scientific information and dissemination of information to the public. The
Laboratory began operations in 1955.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Financial Statements

The financial statements and notes are representations of the Laboratory’s management who is
responsible for their integrity and objectivity. The accounting policies conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and have been consistently applied in the preparation
of the financial statements.

Basis of Accounting
The Laboratory prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due from program fees and grants receivable. A
significant portion of grants receivable are research grants.

Substantially all research grants are cost reimbursement grants. Research grants receivable consists of
billed and unbilled costs incurred on research contracts. Due to the nature of the grants, management
considers them to be collectible and no allowance has been established. These amounts are included in
accounts receivable on the statements of financial position.

Based on the Laboratory’s collection history, management believes no allowance for uncollectible amounts
is necessary.

Bequest Receivable
Bequests are recorded as support when the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated as
provided by the executor of the estate.

Promises to Give

Promises to give are recorded as support when the donor’s commitment has been received. Promises to
give due in more than one year are reflected at the present value of estimated future cash flows using an
appropriate discount rate in the year promised.

- 10 -



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2023 and 2022

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, if purchased, or fair market value at the date of gift, if donated.

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line half-year
method. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Years
Vehicles 3
Vessels 5
Buildings and improvements 5-40
Furniture, fixtures and exhibits 5-10
Laboratory equipment 5-20
Trailers 5-10

The Laboratory capitalizes all fixed asset purchases or donations with an estimated useful life of greater
than one year and a cost or fair market value of $5,000 or greater.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue associated with research grants or contracts is generally recognized as related costs are incurred.
Membership revenue is recognized ratably throughout the membership year.

All contributions are considered to be available for use without donor restriction unless specifically
restricted by the donor. Contributions which are designated by the donor to be used in future periods,
or for specific purposes, are recorded as net assets with donor restrictions. When the purpose of the
restriction is accomplished, or passage of time has occurred, net assets with donor restrictions are
reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities as net
assets released from restrictions.

Gifts of cash restricted for the purpose of acquiring or constructing long-lived assets are recorded as net
assets with donor restrictions until the long-lived assets are acquired or constructed at which time the
net assets are released from the restriction and reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions. Any
conditional gifts for which the conditions are not met at year-end are recorded as refundable advances.

Patents
Patents are stated at the cost to acquire. Amortization is provided for using the straight-line method over

the estimated useful life of ten years.

Contributed Services and Nonfinancial Assets

A substantial number of volunteers have made significant contributions of their time to the operations of
the Laboratory. The amount of volunteer hours contributed to the Laboratory during the years ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022 were 159,796 and 152,911 hours, respectively. The estimated value of
these donated services has not been recorded in the accompanying financial statements because it does
not meet the criteria for recognition under generally accepted accounting principles.

However, management estimates the fair value of these services contributed to the Laboratory during the
years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 amounted to $5,081,514 and $4,579,692, respectively. These
estimates are based on an article published in the Nonprofit Times that estimates volunteer time to be
worth $31.80 and $29.95 per hour in 2023 and 2022, respectively, according to the Independent Sector,
a Washington D.C. based coalition of nonprofits and foundations.



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2023 and 2022

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Contributed Services and Nonfinancial Assets (Continued)

Contributed nonfinancial assets are recognized at their estimated fair value when they create or enhance
nonfinancial assets, they require specialized skills that would need to be purchased if they were not
donated, or they are nonfinancial assets which are directed by the Laboratory for its benefit and have
been provided at no cost. Amounts are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation
using published rates and prices. Contributed nonfinancial assets for the years ended September 30, 2023
and 2022 totaled $48,879 and $0, respectively, and is included in construction in progress on the
statements of financial position.

Donated property and vessels, which are not classified by management for use by the Laboratory, are
recorded as assets held for sale. The carrying value of such assets is adjusted to the lower of fair market
value or the recorded value at the date of gift in order to more closely reflect the net realizable value.

Advertising and Promotion
Advertising and promotion costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising and promotion expense for the
years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 totaled $523,869 and $494,497, respectively.

Income Tax Status
The Laboratory is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Under the Income Taxes topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification, the Laboratory has
reviewed and evaluated the relevant technical merits of each of its tax positions in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes, and determined that there are no uncertain tax positions that would have a material impact
on the financial statements of the Laboratory.

The Laboratory files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and the State of Florida. The tax
periods open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which the Laboratory is subject include
fiscal years ended September 30, 2020 through September 30, 2023.

Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value

Certain of the Laboratory’s financial instruments are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis but
nevertheless certain financial instruments are recorded at amounts that approximate fair value due to
their liquid or short-term nature. Such financial assets and financial liabilities include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc., prepaid expenses and other
assets, accounts payable, accrued payroll, memberships relating to future periods, funds advanced on
research programs, deferred revenue and deferred compensation payable.

Overhead Allocation

Overhead is allocated to research programs at a rate established with the cognizant federal agency, The
Department of Commerce and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Certain research
contracts limit the amount of reimbursement for overhead expenses to a rate specified in the individual
contracts.

-12-



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2023 and 2022

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional
basis in the statement of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs
and supporting services that benefited. The expenses that are allocated include salaries, benefits, payroll
taxes, depreciation, and other expenses for services which are allocated on the basis of estimated time
and effort.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash on hand and highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at date of acquisition
are considered to be cash and cash equivalents. Cash restricted for endowment and included as cash and
cash equivalents in the financial statements amounted to $584,650 and $573,290 as of September 30, 2023
and 2022, respectively.

Beneficial Interest in the Net Assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.

The Laboratory follows the Not-for-Profit Entities Topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Cedification.
The Not-for-Profit Entities Topic establishes standards for transactions in which a donor makes a
contribution to a not-for-profit organization (the recipient) that agrees to transfer those assets to another
entity (the beneficiary). The statement requires that, if the specified beneficiary is financially interrelated
to the recipient organization, the beneficiary must recognize its interest in the net assets of the recipient
organization. As presented in the financial statements, the Laboratory is financially interrelated to Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc. and therefore, is required to report its beneficial interest in the net assets of Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc.

Deferred Revenue
The Laboratory recognizes as deferred revenue payments received in advance for Laboratory obligations
which have not yet been performed. Revenue is recognized as the Laboratory performs those obligations.

Reclassifications

To facilitate comparison of financial data, certain amounts in the 2022 financial statements have been
reclassified to conform to the 2023 reporting presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on the
change in net assets previously reported.

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncement

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASC Topic 842, Leases, to increase transparency and comparability
among organizations related to their leasing arrangements. The Laboratory adopted Topic 842 on
October |, 2022, using the optional transition method to the modified retrospective approach, which
eliminates the requirements to restate the prior-period financial statements. The Laboratory made an
accounting policy election under Topic 842 not to recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases
with a term of 12 months or less. Topic 842 did not have an impact on the Laboratory's financial
statements.

-13-



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2023 and 2022

3. Liquidity and Availability
Financial assets available within one year of the statement of financial position date for general
expenditures are as follows:

2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12541540 $ 15,353,772
Accounts receivable 4,967,920 4,919,837
Promises to give, net — current portion 4,399,927 3,994,892
Due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 449,892 470,049
Beneficial interest in the net assets of Mote Marine

Foundation, Inc. 18,589,544 16,481,634

Total financial assets available 40,948,823 41,220,184
Less: Amounts unavailable for general expenditures within one year due to:

Restricted by donors with purpose and time restrictions (18,145,227) (20,664,51 1)

Restricted by donors in perpetuity (10,049,097) (10,047,490)

Total amounts unavailable for general expenditures within one year (28,194,324) (30,712,001)
Less: Amounts unavailable to management without Board approval:
Board designated for Mote SEA project (390,818) (390,818)

Total financial assets available to management for general
expenditure within one year $ 12,363,681 $ 10,117,365

The Laboratory manages its liquid assets in accordance with regular budgeting processes developed
through the coordinated efforts of management and the Board of Trustees. Monthly reporting by
management to those charged with governance ensures the results from operating activities are
monitored closely.

The Board of Trustees has designated $390,818 as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for the
construction of the Mote Science Education Aquarium (Mote SEA). Although the Laboratory does not
intend to spend from board designated funds, these amounts could be made available if necessary.

4, Promises to Give

At September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Laboratory held written unconditional promises to give in the
amounts of $8,111,846 and $10,146,661, respectively. The promises to give have been restricted by the
donors for future projects. Management considers all promises to give to be fully collectible as of
September 30, 2023 and 2022, therefore no allowance for uncollectible promises to give has been
established.

Promises to give consist of the following as of September 30:

2023 2022
Promises to give $ 811,846 $ 10,146,661
Less: discount to net present value (rate of 5%) (530,527) (592,611)
Promises to give, net 7,581,319 9,554,050
Less amount due in less than one year 4,399,927 3,994,892
Amount collectible in one to five years $ 3,181,392 % 5,559,158

-14-



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2023 and 2022

5. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consists of the following at September 30:

2023 2022
Costs billed on research grants and other contracts $ 1,331,562 % 1,074,397
Unbilled costs incurred on research grants 3,623,258 3,832,799
Accounts receivable - other 13,100 12,641

$ 4967920 § 4919837

During the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Laboratory had no write-offs of uncollectible
accounts receivable.

6. Investments

The Laboratory has a certificate of deposit that earns interest of 3.45% and matures October 24, 2023.
As of September 30, 2023, the certificates of deposit totaled $119,840 and are stated at fair value. As of
September 30, 2022, the certificates of deposit totaled $119,193 and are stated at fair value. Of these
amounts, $118,258 and $93,787 is restricted for endowments as of September 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. There were no unrealized gains on the certificates of deposit for the years ended September
30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Laboratory had realized gains of $4,447 and realized losses of $14,393 on the sales of investments for
the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Additionally, assets held at a community foundation during the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
incurred unrealized gains of $3,185 and unrealized losses of $121,052, respectively.

7. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following as of September 30:

2023 2022

Vehicles $ 811,885 $ 678,209
Vessels 1,937,404 1,838,971
Buildings and improvements 43,420,330 43,017,919
Furniture, fixtures and exhibits 5,525,686 5,305,515
Laboratory equipment 11,992,101 10,183,910
Trailers _ 148,222 118,663

63,835,628 61,143,187
Less accumulated depreciation 49,564,664 47,079,084

$ 14270964 $ 14,064,103

Depreciation expense was $2,606,173 and $2,499,729 for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Construction in progress consists of the following at September 30:

2023 2022
Mote Science Education Aquarium construction $ 70624802 $ 30,280,619
Aquarium and Laboratory improvements 239,704 58,839

$ 70864506 $ 30,339,458
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2023 and 2022

7. Property and Equipment (Continued)

In accordance with contract provisions, the Laboratory has segregated and identified property and
equipment that has been purchased or improved with funds received from government agencies. Title to
these assets acquired with government agency funds vests with the Laboratory as long as the Laboratory
has a contract with the agency, unless contract terms specify otherwise. Upon contract termination, title
to these assets reverts to the agencies. At September 30, 2023 and 2022, property and equipment
purchased or improved with funds received from government agencies, net of accumulated depreciation,
totaled $334,393 and $209,542, respectively.

8. Patents
During the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Laboratory incurred costs to maintain certain
patents. The costs capitalized and the related amortization provided for is as follows:

2023 2022
Patents $ 226,166 $ 206,363
Less: accumulated amortization 146,243 127,077
$ 79,923 $ 79,286

No significant residual value is estimated for these patents. Amortization expense for the years ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022 totaled $19,166 and $17,872, respectively.

The following table represents the total estimated amortization of patents for the five succeeding years
and thereafter ending September 30:

2024 $ 18,202
2025 16,501
2026 15,538
2027 8,018
2028 8,000
Thereafter 13,664

$ 79,923

9. Long-Term Debt
Notes Payable
Notes payable consists of the following as of September 30:

2023 2022

Note payable in 180 monthly instaliments of $17,579 plus interest
based on overnight SOFR plus 2.18%, maturing on August 5, 2028
and secured with personal property and promises to give and
guaranteed by Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. with a $1,500,000
limitation. Interest rate at September 30, 2023 was 7.58%. $ 1,459,063 $ 1,670,012

Note payable in 60 monthly instaliments of $427, interest at 4.44%
due 2024, secured by vehicle. 4,234 9,048

Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $695, interest at 3.99%
due 2024, secured by vehicle. 4,112 12,109
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2023 and 2022

9. Long-Term Debt (Continued)
Notes Payable (Continued)

2023 2022

Note payable in 119 monthly installments of $13,668 plus 4.2%
interest, with final payment of $1,348,395 due on October 1, 2028,
secured by mortgage on real property located in Sarasota County. 1,823,983 1,908,383
Note payable annually at $200,000. A final balloon payment is due
July 11, 2027. Secured by mortgage on real property located in
Monroe County. 1,440,000 1,640,000
Note payable for insurance premiums financed by a third party. The
note is payable in 22 instaliments of $63,845, which include principal
and interest at 3.99%, due in 2023. Note was paid in full during the
year ended September 30, 2023. - 226,816

4,731,392 5,466,368
Less current portion 508,402 737,698
Non-current portion $ 422299 $ 4,728,670

Interest expense incurred under these notes payable totaled $185,113 and $172,685 for the years ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Lines of Credit
Pursuant to loan agreements with two banks, the Laboratory has a revolving line of credit of $1,500,000

with each bank.

The first bank’s revolving line of credit had a due date of November |1, 2022 and was paid in full during
the year ended September 30, 2023. Interest is charged at the bank’s prime rate less a margin of 1.25%
with a 0% floor and is payable monthly. At September 30, 2023 and 2022, borrowings outstanding under
this line of credit, secured by promises to give and accounts receivable of the Laboratory, amounted to
$0 and $1,212,647, respectively. This line of credit was not renewed and is no longer open.

The second bank’s revolving line of credit was renewed on April 26, 2023 and is due on demand. Interest
is charged at SOFR plus a margin of 2.50%, payable monthly, and is guaranteed by Mote Marine Foundation,
Inc. There were no borrowings outstanding at September 30, 2023 and 2022.

The Laboratory also has a line of credit of $185,000 from Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority. The loan
represents advanced funding for the improvements to the Airport Aquarium and has no expiration date
or interest rate and will be repaid with any funds raised associated with the Airport Aquarium. At
September 30, 2023 and 2022, borrowings outstanding totaled $185,000.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Laboratory obtained an additional line of credit with a
maturity date of December 31, 2027. Interest is 0% for the first 24 months, from the date of the first
disbursement of funds. Commencing on the 25 month, the outstanding balance will bear interest at 8%,
which increases to 16% on the first day of the 40t month. Upon completion of Mote SEA, $125,000 of
principal will be due monthly, or $1,500,000 annually, until maturity, at which point all principal and interest
are due. At September 30, 2023 and 2022, borrowings outstanding under this line of credit amounted to
$16,041,314 and $0, respectively.
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9. Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Lines of Credit (Continued)

The multiple lines of credit outstanding at September 30, 2023 and 2022 totaled $16,226,314 and
$1,397,647, respectively.

Interest expense incurred under these lines of credit totaled $19,088 and $34,465 for the years ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Certain loan agreements described above require that the Laboratory meet certain debt covenant
compliance requirements. As of September 30, 2023, the Laboratory was in full compliance with all
requirements.

Future Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Aggregate maturities of long-term debt at September 30, are as follows:

2024 $ 508,402
2025 1,503,873
2026 2,007,851
2027 14,053,315
2028 516,327
Thereafter 2,367,938
Total $ 20,957,706

10. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions
Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes as of September 30:

2023 2022
Subject to expenditure for specific purpose:
Future projects $ 4,077,773 % 428,448
Education 191,910 -
Construction 5,442,689 13,702,459
Library expenses - 28,087
Beneficial interest in net assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 8,432,855 6,505,517
Total purpose restrictions 18,145,227 20,664,511
Perpetual in nature:
Cultural endowment 600,000 600,000
Keys endowment 12,050 12,050
Beneficial interest in the net assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 9,437,047 9,435,440
Total perpetual in nature restrictions 10,049,097 10,047,490
Total net assets with donor restrictions $ 28194324 $ 30,712,001
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11. Net Assets Released from Restrictions
Net assets released from donor restriction by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes as of
September 30:

2023 2022
Aquarium expenses $ 37,081 $ 32,926
Research expenses 303,639 310,412
Other 96,267 94,258
Library 28,087 -
Education 7,865 -
Construction 25,601,198 15,243,805

$ 26,074,137 $ 15,681,401

i2. Retirement Plan

The Laboratory provides a 403(b) retirement plan. The Laboratory matches employee contributions
based on an employee's length of service and gross salary. Retirement plan expense was $708,216 and
$531,442 for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

13. Matching Requirements on Governmental Grants

The Laboratory is awarded grants from federal agencies which require matching contributions by the
Laboratory. The matching requirements were met or exceeded on completed federal grants during 2023
and 2022.

[4. Rental Use Charges
Periodically, certain programs require utilization of vessels, vehicles and equipment provided by the
Laboratory. Each program is charged rent, based on use, at a pre-established rental fee that reflects the
cost of operating the asset.

I5. Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk

The Laboratory maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed federally insured
limits. Accounts are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to certain limits.
At any given time, the Laboratory may have cash and investment balances exceeding the insured amount.
The Laboratory has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any
significant credit risk on cash and investments.

16. Related Party Transactions

The Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. (Foundation), a financially interrelated organization, provides support
to the Laboratory in the form of grants. For the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the
Laboratory received grants from the Foundation in the amount of $361,842 and $465,741, respectively.

Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. is dependent on Laboratory personnel for administration and certain aspects
of fund raising.

From time to time, the Laboratory will provide grants, receive donations and pay certain expenses on
behalf of the Foundation. As of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Foundation owed the Laboratory
$449,892 and $470,049, respectively.

Certain trustee members are affiliated with organizations that transact with the Laboratory. Trustee
members are required to complete conflict of interest disclosure statements and abstain from voting on
related issues.
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16. Related Party Transactions (Continued)
From time to time, the trustees make promises to give and contributions to the Laboratory.

17. Leased Facility

The Laboratory has a leasehold agreement with a municipality for real property on which the Laboratory
has constructed its facilities. The agreement requires the Laboratory to pay the municipality one dollar
per year until the agreement expires in the year 2050. The fair market value of the leasehold agreement
is not determinable and therefore has not been recorded in the accompanying financial statements.

18. Endowments

The Laboratory’s endowment consists of funds established for several purposes. Its endowment includes
donor-restricted endowment funds. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, net assets associated with endowment funds are classified and reported based on the
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. It is typical to establish all endowment funds in Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc.

Interpretation of Relevant Law

The Board of Trustees of the endowment has interpreted the Florida Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act (FUPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of
the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary.
As a result of this interpretation, the Laboratory classifies as net assets with donor restrictions in
perpetuity (a) the original value of gifts donated to the perpetual endowment and (b) the original value of
subsequent gifts to the perpetual endowment.

Endowment Net Asset Composition
As of September 30, 2023, endowment net assets consisted of the following:

With
Donor
Restrictions
Donor-restricted endowment funds:
Endowment balance $ 612,050
Total donor-restricted endowment funds $ 612,050
As of September 30, 2022, endowment net assets consisted of the following:
With
Donor

Restrictions
Donor-restricted endowment funds:

Endowment balance $ 612,050
Total donor-restricted endowment funds $ 612,050
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18. Endowments (Continued)
Changes in Endowment Net Assets
Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended September 30, 2023 are as follows:
With
Donor
Restrictions

Endowment net assets, October |, 2022 $ 612,050
Endowment investment return:
Investment income 154
Realized and unrealized gains 684
Total endowment investment return 838
Appropriation of endowment for expenditures (838)
Endowment net assets, September 30, 2023 $ 612,050
Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended September 30, 2022 are as follows:
With
Donor

Restrictions

Endowment net assets, October |, 2021 $ 626,331
Endowment investment return:
Investment income 1,522
Realized and unrealized losses (2,297)
Total endowment investment loss (775)
Appropriation of endowment for expenditures (13,506)
Endowment net assets, September 30, 2022 $ 612,050

Funds with Deficiencies

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor restricted endowment funds
may fall below the level classified as net assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature. These
deficiencies result from unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred shortly after the investment of new
contributions of net assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature and continued
appropriation for certain programs that was deemed prudent by the Board of Trustees. There were no
deficiencies of this nature reported in net assets without donor restrictions as of September 30, 2023 and

2022,

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters

The Laboratory has adopted investment policies and spending polices for endowment assets that attempt
to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-
restricted funds that the Laboratory must hold in perpetuity or for donor-specified periods. Under this
policy, as approved by the Board of Trustees, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is
intended to produce a long-term rate of return on assets of to match or exceed the rate of return
determined from the sum of the annual distribution percentage, inflation measured by the CPI, and real
growth of 1%.

The Cultural Endowment Program has a primary investment constraint to preserve principal along with
restrictions on investment instruments, so the Laboratory uses an alternative approved investment policy
for this program.
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18. Endowments (Continued)

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Laboratory relies on a total return strategy in which
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current
yield (interest and dividends). The Laboratory targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater
emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk
constraints.

Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy

The Laboratory has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year 5% percent of its endowment funds
average fair value over the period of 12 quarters through the calendar year end preceding the fiscal year
in which the distribution is planned. In establishing this policy, the Laboratory considered the long-term
expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the long term, the Laboratory expects the current
spending policy to allow its endowment to grow at an average of 1% percent annually. This is consistent
with the Laboratory's objective to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in
perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts and
investment return. The established policy for the Cultural Endowment Program distributes 100% of
current income for use in operating costs for cultural activities expecting no further growth in this
endowment.

19. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Laboratory adopted the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification which provides enhanced guidance for using fair value to measure assets and
liabilities and clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants
would use when pricing the assets or liabilities and establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the information
used to develop those assumptions. The Laboratory has adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-
06, Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements, which requires the Laboratory to present fair value
measurements separately for each class of assets and liabilities held as of September 30, 2023 and 2022.

The following tables present information about the Laboratory’s assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, and indicate the fair
value hierarchy of the valuation techniques used to determine such fair value. The three levels for
measuring fair value are based on the reliability of inputs and are as follows:

Level | - quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, such as publicly traded
equity securities. This level includes common and preferred stock, cash and money market funds, mutual
funds, corporate bonds and bond funds, and government obligations.

Level 2 - inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level | that are observable, either directly or
indirectly. Such inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets, observable inputs other than quoted
prices (interest rates, yield curves, etc.), or inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 - inputs are unobservable data points for the asset or liability, and include situations where there

is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The inputs reflect the Laboratory’s assumptions
based on the best information available in the circumstance.
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19. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)
The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory’s assets measured at fair value
on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2023:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV#*

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc. $ 18,779,976 $ 16,003,676 $ 2,776,300 $ - $ -

The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory’s assets measured at fair value
on a non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2023:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV*

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote

Marine Foundation, Inc.  § 16,181 $ - $ - $ 16,181 3% -
Promises to give 7,581,319 - - 7,581,319 -
Ending balance $ 7597500 $ - $ - $ 7597500 $ -

The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory’s assets measured at fair value
on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2022:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV#*

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc.  $ 16,602,252 $ 14,143,604 $ 2457981 § - $ 667

The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory’s assets measured at fair value
on a non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2022:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV#

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote

Marine Foundation, Inc.  $ 16,181 $ - $ - $ 16,181 $ -
Promises to give 9,554,050 - - 9,554,050 -
Ending balance $ 9570231 $ - $ - $ 9570231 $ -

(*) Certain investments of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. that are measured at fair value using the net
asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been categorized in the
fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in the tables above are intended to permit
reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the statements of financial
position.
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20. Commitments
At September 30, 2023, the Laboratory had commitments of approximately $70,416,473 for construction

and acquisition of property and equipment, all of which is related to the Mote SEA project.

2|. Subsequent Events

The Laboratory has evaluated all events subsequent to the statement of financial position date of
September 30, 2023 and through the date these financial statements were available to be issued, February
22, 2024, and have determined that there are no subsequent events that require disclosure.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance
Year Ended September 30, 2023

Assistance
Listing # Pass-through Transfer
or Entity Identification Total to
Grantor CSFA# or Grant Number Expenditures Subrecipients
Federal Contracts and Grants
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER
Department of Agriculture
Agricultural Research Service
Agricultural Research Basic and Applied Research
Passed through Florida Atlantic University 10.001 59-6034-9-007 $ 13,118 $ 13,118 § -
Grants for Agricultural Research, Special Research Grants 10.200 2023-70007-40205 16,436 16,436 -
Agriculture and Food Research Initiative (AFRI) 10310 2021-67017-33829 114,838 114,838 -
Department of Commerce
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)
Ocean Exploration 11.011 NAI80AROI 10291 1,057 1,057 -
Integrated Ocean Observing System (IQOS)
Passed through Southeast Coastal Ocean Qbserving Regional Association 11.012 NA23NO50120081 748 -
Passed through University of Louisiana at Lafayette 11.012 NA2INOS0120092 9,861 -
Passed through Texas A&M University 11.012 NA2INO50120092 121,100 -
Passed through Southeast Coastal Ocean Observing Regional Association 11.012 NA2INOS0120097 11,685 -
Passed through University of South Carolina 11.012 NA2INOS0120097 9,550 152,944 -
Ocean Acidification Program {OAP) 11.017 NA220AR0170209 7,108 7,108 -
NOAA Smali Business Innovation Research (SBIR) Program
Passed through SC Sea Grant Consortium 11.021 NA220AR41701 14 7,200
11.021 NA220AR4170091 20,385
Passed through University of Central Florida 11.021 NA210OAR02 10492 1,692
11.021 NA21OAR0210492 8% 29,366
Fisheries Development and Utilization Research and
Development Grants and Cooperative Agreements Program 11.427 NA20NMF427019% 95,937 -
11427 NA22NMF4270150 80,908 176,845 25,300
Marine Fisheries Initiative 11433 NAISNMF4330152 9,715 9,715
Marine Mammal Data Program 11.439 NA22NMF4390284 24,952
11.439 NAI8NMF4390064 2,355
11.439 NAIINMF4390178 4,589
11.439 NA20NMF4390106 13,643 -
11.439 NA21NMF4390403 18,024 63,563 -
Unallied Management Projects 11.454 NA2INMF4540281 115,113 115,113 -
Habitat Conservation 11463 NAT9NMF4630259 611,056
Passed through National Marine Sanctuary Foundation 11.463 NA20NMF4630328 35434
Passed through College of the Florida Keys 11.463 NA20NMF4630328 209 646,699
Congressionally Identified Awards and Projects 11.469 NA23NMF4690433 6,757 6,757 -
Unallied Science Program
Passed through National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 11,472 NA22ZNMF4720362 10,012 -
11.472 NA20NMF4720265 13,580 .
11.472 NA2INMF4720530 189,499 43917
11.472 NA21NMF4720532 133,780 -
Passed through Florida Fish & Wildlife Conservation Commission 11.472 NAISNMF4720018 54,625 401,496 -
Office for Coastal Management
Passed through National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 11.473 NAI8NOS4730204 137,057 -
Passed through National Marine Sanctuary Foundation 11.473 NA20NQS54730027 779,790 916,847 -
Center for Sponsored Coastal Ocean Research Coastal Ocean Program
Passed through University of Maryland Center Environmental Science 11.478 NA22NOS4780172 166,447 -
11478 NAI9NOS4780183 1,052,647 826,329
Passed through Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution 11.478 NA21NOS4780156 227,848 1,446,942 -
Coral Reef Conservation Program
Passed through University of Southern California 11.482 NA2INMF820300 28,632 28,632 -
Environmental Protection Agency
Geographic Programs - South Florida Geographic Initiatives Program
66.484 02020722 58,972 .
66.484 02042723 16,447 75419 -




Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance {(Continued)

Year Ended September 30, 2023

Assistance
Listing # Pass-through Transfer
or Entity Identification Total to
Grantor CSFA# or Grant Number Expenditures Subrecipients
Federal Contracts and Grants (Continued)
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER (Continued)
National Science Foundation
Geosciences 47.050 1923926 211,013 -
47.050 2050892 134,365
Passed through Florida Atlantic University 47.050 2143655 40,830
47.050 2309081 55.830
47.050 2325316 1,325 443,463
Biological Sciences 47,074 2222273 36,679 36,679
STEM Education (formerly Education and Human Resources) 47.076 1922351 244,707 244,707 2,679
U.S. Department of Defense
Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA)
Research and Technology Development
Passed through Florida Atlantic University 12910 AWD - 001612 100,872 100,872
Department of the Interior
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
Prescott Marine Marmmal Rescue Assistance 15.683 F22AP03071-00 96,600 96,600 -
National Park Service
National Park Service Conservation, Protection, Qutreach, and Education 15.954 PI9ACO1005 5,533 5,533 -
Department of Treasury
Resources and Ecosystems Sustainability, Tourist Opportunities,
and Revived Economies of the Gulf Coast States
Passed through The Nature Conservancy 21015 RDCGR 170068 5,407 -
Passed through the Florida Institute of Oceanography 21015 8-RCEGR020005-01-02 121,024 126,431 -
Department of State
General Department of State Assistance 19.700 SIS-70017G33038 188,531 188,531 101,384
TOTAL RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER $ 5465711 % 999.609
Total Federal Contracts and Grants $ 5465711 §% 999,609
State Contracts and Grants
State of Florida
Florida Fish & Wildlife C vation Corr
Cooperative Red Tide Research Program - Reduction
of Harmful Impacts from Red Tide - Red Tide Mitigation
and Technology Development Initiative 77010 15003 1,17 -
77010 19183 3.422,278 874,235
77010 20034 1,016,197 .
77010 22122 124,948 4,574,540
Marine Fisheries Assessment 77023 20317 285,967 285,967 -
Mote Marine Laboratory Coral Reef Restoration Program 77036 21069 979,836 979.836
Monitoring and Support Coral Restoration 77.044 21354 38,554 38,554 -
Department of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles
Protect Our Reefs License Plate Project 76.069 POR 1,569,863 1,569,863 55,752
Sea Turde License Plate Project 76070 22-003R 2,585 2,585 -
Department of Environmental Protection
Coral Reef Protection and Restoration Grant 37.107 C2002 938,409 938,409 695,028
Department of Education and Commissioner of Education
K-15--FCO Facility--Repairs Maintenance and Construction 48.152 417-96520-3D001 5,000,000 5,000,000 -
Total State Contracts and Grants $ 13,389,754 3 1,625,015
Total Federal and State Contracts and Grants $.18,855465 3 2,624,624
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Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance
Year Ended September 30, 2023

|. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award and state financial assistance activity of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. under programs of the federal
government and State of Florida for the year ended September 30, 2023. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Unifarm Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida. Because the Schedule
presents only a selected portion of the operations of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc,, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of Mote Marine Laboratory,
Inc.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of

expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

3. Indirect Cost Election )
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. has not elected to use the 10% de minimis cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance, and has a federally negotiated rate with its cognizant agency.
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial
Statements Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing
Standards

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Trustees
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Sarasota, Florida

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Mote Marine Laboratory Inc.
(Laboratory), which comprise the statement of financial position as of September 30, 2023, the related
statement of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes
to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated February 22, 2024.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Laboratory’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Laboratory's internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Laboratory's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and
correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Laboratory’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

| (Froteoey ,{’d

Sarasota, Florida
February 22, 2024
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Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and State
Project; and Report on Internal Control over Compliance Required by
the Uniform Guidance and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General

of the State of Florida

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Trustees
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Sarasota, Florida

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance
Project

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance Project

We have audited Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.’s (Laboratory) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the requirements
described in the State of Florida Department of Financial Services State Projects Compliance Supplement that
could have a direct and material effect on each of the Laboratory’'s major federal programs and state
financial assistance projects for the year ended September 30, 2023. The Laboratory’s major federal
programs and state financial assistance projects are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section
of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the Laboratory complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal
programs and state financial assistance projects for the year ended September 30, 2023.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance Project

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards);
the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance); and Chapter
10.650, Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida. Our responsibilities under those standards and
the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Laboratory and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each
major federal program and state financial assistance project. Our audit does not provide a legal
determination of the Laboratory's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the
Laboratory’s federal programs and state financial assistance projects.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an
opinion on the Laboratory’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, the Uniform Guidance, and Chapter 10.650 Rules
of the Auditor General of the State of Florida, will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The
risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered
material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Laboratory’s compliance with
the requirements of each major federal program and state financial assistance project as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, the Uniform Guidance,
and Chapter 10.650 Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on
a test basis, evidence regarding the Laboratory’'s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

e Obtain an understanding of the Laboratory’s internal control over compliance relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Laboratory’s internal
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program or state financial assistance project on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement
of a federal program or state project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program or state
financial assistance project that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance (Continued)

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses,
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over
compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance and the Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida.
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

' [Froteoey (,4

Sarasota, Florida
February 22, 2024
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended September 30, 2023

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor’s report issued on whether the
financial statements audited were prepared in

accordance with GAAP: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

e Material weakness(es) identified? yes

e Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes

Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted? yes

Federal and State Awards
Internal control over major programs and projects:

e Material weakness(es) identified? yes

e Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for

major programs and projects: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to

be reported in accordance with section 2 CFR

200.516(a) and the provisions of the Florida Single

Audit Act in accordance with Chapter 10.650 of

the Rules of the Auditor General yes
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2023

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results (Continued)

Identification of major programs and projects:

CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster

10.001
10.200
10.310

11.011
11.012
11.017
11.021
11.427

11.433
11.439
11.454
11.463
11.469
11.472
11.473
11.478

11.482

66.484

47.050
47.074
47.076
12.910
15.683
15.954

21.015

19.700

Research and Development Cluster:

Agricultural Research Basic and Applied Research

Agricultural Research, Special Research Grants

USDA/NIFA — USDA National Institute of Food and

Agriculture

Ocean Exploration

Integrated Ocean Observing System (I0OS)

Ocean Acidification Toolkits for Educators

Small Business Innovation Research

Fisheries Development and Utilization Research
and Development Grants and Cooperative
Agreements Program

Marine Fisheries Initiative

Marine Mammal Data Program

Unallied Management Projects

Habitat Conservation

Congressionally Identified Awards and Projects

Unallied Science Program

Office for Coastal Management

Center for Sponsored Coastal Ocean Research
Coastal Ocean Program

Coral Reef Conservation Program and Restoration
Center

Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstrations,
and Training Grants and Cooperative
Agreements — Section 104(b)(3) of the
Clean Water Act

Geosciences

Biological Sciences

Education and Human Resources

Research and Technology Development

Prescott Marine Mammal Rescue Assistance

National Park Service Conservation, Protection,
Outreach, and Education

Resources and Ecosystems Sustainability, Tourist
Opportunities, and Revived Economies of
the Gulf Coast States

General Department of State Assistance
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2023

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results (Continued)

CSFA Numbers Name of State Projects
77.010 Cooperative Red Tide Research Program-
Reduction of Harmful Impact from Red Tide
37.107 Coral Reef Protection and Restoration Grant
48.152 K-15--FCO Facility--Repairs Maintenance and
Construction

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B Federal programs: $_ 750,000
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B State projects: $_750.000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X___yes no

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings

None

Section |1l - Federal and State Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None

Section IV - Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings and Questioned Costs

No prior audit findings or questioned costs to be addressed

Section V - Other

No management letter is required because there were no findings to be reported in a management
letter as required by Section 215.97 (9)(f) and 215.97 (10)(d) of the Florida Statutes, Auditor General
Rule 10.654 (1)(e) or 10.656 (3)(e).
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Trustees
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Sarasota, Florida

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (Laboratory), a
nonprofit organization, which comprise the statements of financial position as of September 30, 2022 and
2021, and the related statements of activities, cash flows, and functional expenses for the years then ended,
and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Laboratory as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, and the changes in its net assets and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Laboratory
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Laboratory’s ability to
continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be
issued.



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our obijectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Laboratory’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

¢ Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Laboratory’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Other Matters

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance, as required
by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.



Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 21, 2023,

on our consideration of the Laboratory's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Laboratory’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Laboratory’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

' [Frebcoey ,(,4

Sarasota, Florida
February 21, 2023



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statements of Financial Position
September 30, 2022 and 2021

2022 2021
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,353,772 $ 16,351,517
Accounts receivable 4,919,837 4,295,917
Pledges receivable, net 9,554,050 7,847,579
Due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 470,049 529,282
Prepaid expenses and other assets 179,710 126,016
Investments - certificates of deposit 119,193 392,197
Patents, net 79,286 88,139
Intangibles, net 334,750 -
Investment in deferred compensation plan 611,078 595,355
Land 7,519,082 7,498,190
Property and equipment, net 14,064,103 14,999,685
Construction in progress 30,004,708 15,972,540
Beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 16,481,634 20,678,361
Total Assets $ 99,691,252 $ 89,374,778
Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 2,680,699 $ 3,543,776
Accrued payroll 1,058,914 931,701
Memberships relating to future periods 546,511 639,825
Funds advanced on research programs 5,154,051 4,840,451
Deferred compensation payable 611,078 595,355
Lines of credit 1,397,647 1,402,101
Notes payable 5,466,368 6,715,042
Total liabilities 16,915,268 18,668,251
Net Assets:
Without donor restrictions:
Undesignated 51,673,165 35,585,348
Board designated 390,818 390,818
Total net assets without donor restrictions 52,063,983 35,976,166
With donor restrictions:
Purpose and time restrictions 20,664,511 24,684,247
Perpetual in nature 10,047,490 10,046,114
Total net assets with donor restrictions 30,712,001 34,730,361
Total net assets 82,775,984 70,706,527
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 99,691,252 $ 89,374,778

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Statement of Activities

Year Ended September 30, 2022
(With Summarized Totals for 2021)

Support, Revenue and Reclassifications:
Program revenue:
Research revenue:
Federal
State
Other
Aquarium:
Admission fees
Gift shop
Other
Memberships
Education
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate
Other programs
Contributions:
Construction
Education
Aquarium
Other programs
Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness
Non-cash contributions
Grants from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Investment income
Unrealized loss on investments, net
Realized gain (loss) on investments, net
Realized loss on disposal of assets
Change in beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Net assets released from restrictions
Total support, revenue and
reclassifications

Expenses:
Program services:
Research
Education
Aquarium
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate
MAP facility operations
Other
Supporting services:
Administrative and general
Fundraising
Total expenses

Change in net assets
Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

Without Donor With Donor 2021
Restrictions Restrictions Total Total
$ 5,677,236 $ - $ 5,677,236 4,697,906
6,814,217 - 6,814,217 5,242,015
5,023,170 99,186 5,122,356 7,535,946
6,230,784 - 6,230,784 5,485,931
644,078 - 644,078 556,749
699,109 - 699,109 371,717
1,118,070 - 1,118,070 604,506
617,845 - 617,845 472,256
1,350,873 - 1,350,873 875,077
358,684 1,807,218 2,165,902 3,917,393
- 13,556,039 13,556,039 7,833,755
470,808 25,000 495,808 -
94,826 44,892 139,718 100,685
2,859,602 25,250 2,884,852 2,733,482
- - - 2,318,259
99,328 16,204 115,532 690,081
465,741 - 465,741 524,748
16,144 51,899 68,043 27,735
(8,318) (112,734) (121,052) (8,612)
5,152 (19,545) (14,393) 2,689
(1,599) - (1,599) (949)
(366,359) (3,830,368) (4,196,727) 3,536,913
15,681,401 (15,681,401) - -
47,850,792 (4,018,360) 43,832,432 47,518,282
19,693,397 - 19,693,397 16,842,052
1,221,417 - 1,221,417 980,292
4,679,048 - 4,679,048 4,232,382
970,118 - 970,118 505,156
628,510 - 628,510 639,506
1,191,368 - 1,191,368 692,048
1,137,181 - 1,137,181 1,437,163
2,241,936 - 2,241,936 2,022,659
31,762,975 - 31,762,975 27,351,258
16,087,817 (4,018,360) 12,069,457 20,167,024
35,976,166 34,730,361 70,706,527 50,539,503
$ 52,063,983 $_ 30,712,001 $ 82,775,984 70,706,527

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Statement of Activities
Year Ended September 30, 2021

(With Summarized Totals for 2022)

Support, Revenue and Reclassifications:
Program revenue:
Research revenue:
Federal
State
Other
Aquarium:
Admission fees
Gift shop
Other
Memberships
Education
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate
Other programs
Contributions:
Construction
Education
Aquarium
Other programs
Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness
Non-cash contributions
Grants from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Investment income
Unrealized loss on investments, net
Realized gain (loss) on investments, net
Realized loss on disposal of assets
Change in beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.
Net assets released from restrictions
Total support, revenue and
reclassifications

Expenses:
Program services:
Research
Education
Aquarium
Protect Our Reefs-License Plate
MAP facility operations
Other
Supporting services:
Administrative and general
Fundraising
Total expenses

Change in net assets
Net assets at beginning of year

Net assets at end of year

Wi ithout Donor With Donor 2022
Restrictions Restrictions Total Total
$ 4,697,906 - 4,697,906 5,677,236
5,242,015 - 5,242,015 6,814,217
7,004,272 531,674 7,535,946 5,122,356
5,485,931 - 5,485,931 6,230,784
556,749 - 556,749 644,078
371,717 - 370,717 699,109
604,506 - 604,506 1,118,070
472,256 - 472,256 617,845
875,077 - 875,077 1,350,873
517,396 3,399,997 3,917,393 2,165,902
- 7,833,755 7,833,755 13,556,039
- - - 495,808
92,085 8,600 100,685 139,718
2,702,482 31,000 2,733,482 2,884,852
2,318,259 - 2,318,259 -
84,381 605,700 690,081 115,532
524,748 - 524,748 465,741
22,025 5710 27,735 68,043
(2,939) (5,673) (8,612) (121,052)
2,689 - 2,689 (14,393)
(653) (296) (949) (1,599)
369,390 3,167,523 3,536,913 (4,196,727)
9,951,357 (9,951,357) - -
41,891,649 5,626,633 47,518,282 43,832,432
16,842,052 - 16,842,052 19,693,397
980,292 - 980,292 1,221,417
4,232,382 - 4,232,382 4,679,048
505,156 - 505,156 970,118
639,506 - 639,506 628,510
692,048 - 692,048 1,191,368
1,437,163 - 1,437,163 1,137,181
2,022,659 - 2,022,659 2,241,936
27,351,258 - 27,351,258 31,762,975
14,540,391 5,626,633 20,167,024 12,069,457
21,435,775 29,103,728 50,539,503 70,706,527
$  35976,166 34,730,361 70,706,527 82,775,984

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to

net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Realized loss on disposal of assets

Unrealized / realized loss on investments, net

Change in beneficial interest in the net assets
of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.

Non-cash contributions

Proceeds from donated assets held for sale

Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness

Change in operating assets:

Accounts receivable

Pledges receivable, net

Due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Change in operating liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued payroll

Memberships relating to future periods

Funds advanced on research programs

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Proceeds from maturity of certificate of deposit
Patent costs
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net change in lines of credit
Repayments of notes payable
Net cash used in financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year, consist of the following:

Cash
Restricted cash

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash:
Operating, Investing, and Financing Activity:
Cash paid for interest

Construction in progress included in accounts payable
Construction in progress purchased through financing

Construction in progress non-cash contribution

Forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program Loan

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

2022

$ 12,069,457

2,517,601
1,599
135,445

4,196,727
(115,532)

(623,920

(1,706,471)
59,233

(388,444)

(149,636)
127,213
(93,314)
313,600

4,274,101
16,343,558

(16,335,447)
3,200
253,091

(9,019)

(16,088,175)

(4,454)

(1,248,674)
(1,253,128)

(997,745)

16,351,517
$ 15,353,772

14,780,482
573,290
$ 15,353,772

207,150

1,757,588

$

$

$ -

$ -

$

2021

$ 20,167,024

2,879,804
949
5,923

(3.536,913)
(690,081)
83,209
(2.318,259)

605,620
(95,525)
190,356
(58,719)

(12,974)
110,755
263,912

(4,200,564)
(6,772,507)
13,394,517

(7,685,923)

235,432
9,467

(7,459,958)

(862,159)
(862,159)

5,072,400

11,279,117
$ 16,351,517

15,799,009
552,508

$ 16,351,517

$ 161,922
$ 2,471,029
$ 1,500,418
$ 600,000
$

2,318,259



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended September 30, 2022
(With Summarized Totals for 2021)

Salaries and benefits
Contracted services
Depreciation

Repairs and maintenance
Travel, meals and seminars
Research supplies
Merchandise

Office expense
Electricity

Insurance

Telephone

Promotion and advertising
Expendable supplies
Printing and publication
Vessel

Vehicle

Interest

Accounting and legal
Equipment rental

Library

Licenses and fees

Rent

Miscellaneous

Overhead allocation

Rental use charges allocation:
Vessel, vehicle and equipment

Total Expenses

Percent of Total

Program Services

Protect our Reefs MAP Facility
Research Education Aguarium License Plate Operations
8,483,348 3% 767,754 % 2,908,473 $ 321,972 % 61,054
2,960,830 221,352 101,029 113,367 826
- - 186,757 36,446 316,997
471,310 559 543,157 195,695 64,150
458,105 36,395 30,541 10,022 -
1,518,051 19,507 4,407 42,370 544
1,585 3,398 27,809 395 -
143,531 32,626 420,039 23,834 726
54,754 - 187,590 81,573 111,090
32118 - 51,743 11,191 44,460
27,458 5,369 11,097 14,412 3,716
174,808 52,758 61,709 12,485 -
5,850 8918 15,463 - -
12,057 3,778 22,000 4,377 -
109,459 - - 25 -
48,311 500 10,340 5.258 6,130
1,078 337 1,168 - -
8,489 - 2,876 8,278 (2,141)
75,856 2,942 20,737 4,009 20,958
46,082 15,099 - - -
14,633,080 1,171,292 4,606,935 885,709 628,510
4,787,790 13,713 312 70,632 -
272,527 36,412 71,801 13,777 -
19,693.397 % 1221417 $ 4,679,048 % 970,118 $ 628,510




Supporting Services 2022 2021

Administrative Fund Functional Functional
Other Total and General Raising Total Expenses Expenses
357,788 % 12,900,389 $ 2,202,740 $ 1,433,945 $ 3,636,685 $ 16,537,074 $ 14,935,763
60,648 3,458,052 121,976 188,012 309,988 3,768,040 2,667,251
23,900 564,100 1,935,629 - 1,935,629 2,499,729 2,862,696
163,552 1,438,423 458,241 6,790 465,031 1,903,454 1,626,830
125,070 660,133 37,084 249,458 286,542 946,675 388,784
4,236 1,589,115 20,598 875 21,473 1,610,588 1,387,312
- 33,187 2,644 116 2,760 35,947 23,554
114,221 734,977 95,072 63,269 158,341 893,318 755,047
117,710 552,717 320,391 - 320,391 873,108 682,836
17,593 157,105 456,905 - 456,905 614,010 510,661
6,425 68,477 38,397 2,395 40,792 109,269 101,372
38,601 340,361 9,562 144,574 154,136 494,497 345,836
- 30,231 49 - 49 30,280 17,285
8,862 51,074 3,104 97,003 100,107 151,181 92,500
35,359 144,843 - - - 144,843 152,322
113,321 183,860 68,557 - 68,557 252,417 44,277
26,195 26,195 180,955 - 180,955 207,150 161,922
135,876 138,459 78,121 943 79,064 217,523 180,132
19,185 36,687 35,983 37,825 73,808 110,495 105,679
55,063 55,063 - - - 55,063 40,525
11,034 135,536 72,885 11,840 84,725 220,261 204,260
9,000 70,181 - - - 70,181 47,306
17,872 17,872 - - - 17,872 17,108
1,461,511 23,387,037 6,138,893 2,237,045 8,375,938 31,762,975 27,351,258
- 4,872,447 (4,872,447) - (4,872,447) - -
(270,143) 124,374 (129,265) 4,891 (124,374) - -
1,191,368 $ 28,383,858 $ 1,137,181 $ 2,241,936 $ 3,379,117 % 31,762,975 $ 27,351,258
89% 4% 7% 100%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
-8-



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Statement of Functional Expenses
Year Ended September 30, 2021
(With Summarized Totals for 2022)

Salaries and benefits
Contracted services
Depreciation

Repairs and maintenance
Travel, meals and seminars
Research supplies
Merchandise

Office expense
Electricity

Insurance

Telephone

Promotion and advertising
Expendable supplies
Printing and publication
Vessel

Vehicle

Interest

Accounting and legal
Equipment rental

Library

Licenses and fees

Rent

Miscellaneous

Overhead allocation

Rental use charges allocation:
Vessel, vehicle and equipment

Total Expenses

Percent of Total

Program Services

Protect our Reefs MAP Facility

Research Education Aquarium License Plate Operations
$ 7,756,169 $ 616372 % 2,586,002 $ 175,997 $ 74,126
1,972,978 214,158 130,951 61,981 2,863
- - 230,583 - 320,971
409,849 1,121 508,227 123,970 72,257
236,841 8819 11,484 5,170 -
1,325,336 15,090 2,647 22,805 57
- 250 23,304 - -
128,654 27,872 358,019 5,858 2,210
45210 21 164,357 51,285 82,547
21,912 - 46,768 10,304 37,989
23,950 5,596 10,198 12,953 3,855
135,047 38,520 36,830 9,062 -
697 4,625 11,963 - -
6,439 1,967 10,312 307 -
44,262 - 7,966 (105) 2,408
- - 2,123 2,239 -
5,074 1,586 1,586 - -
23,171 8 3,043 1,292 19,966
69,233 2,547 25,595 2,202 20,257
25,501 21,705 - - -
12,230,323 960,257 4,171,958 485,320 639,506
4,320,607 8,965 - 16,185 -
291,122 11,070 60,424 3,651 -
$ 16,842,052 $ 980,292 $ 4,232,382 $ 505,156 $ 639,506




2021 2022

Supporting Services Total Total
Administrative Fund Functional Functional
Other Total and General Raising Total Expenses Expenses
243444 $ 11,452,110 $ 2,018,456 $ 1,465,197 $ 3,483,653 $ 14935763 $ 16,537,074
12,866 2,395,797 129,863 141,591 271,454 2,667,251 3,768,040
- 551,554 2,311,142 - 2,311,142 2,862,696 2,499,729
180,206 1,295,630 322,639 8,561 331,200 1,626,830 1,903,454
18,032 280,346 10,730 97,708 108,438 388,784 946,675
4,148 1,370,083 17,229 - 17,229 1,387,312 1,610,588
- 23,554 - - - 23,554 35,947
47,592 570,205 85,470 99,372 184,842 755,047 893,318
62,815 406,235 276,601 - 276,601 682,836 873,108
31,447 148,420 362,241 - 362,241 510,661 614,010
4,437 60,989 38,284 2,099 40,383 101,372 109,269
9,468 228,927 6,864 110,045 116,909 345,836 494,497
- 17,285 - - - 17,285 30,280
155 19,180 640 72,680 73,320 92,500 151,181
97,559 152,090 232 - 232 152,322 144,843
76 4,438 39,839 - 39,839 44,277 252,417
5,573 5,573 156,349 - 156,349 161,922 207,150
107,509 115,755 59,937 4,440 64,377 180,132 217,523
10,537 58,017 46,987 675 47,662 105,679 110,495
40,525 40,525 - - - 40,525 55,063
26,571 146,405 44,502 13,353 57.855 204,260 220,261
100 47,306 - - - 47,306 70,181
17,108 17,108 - - - 17,108 17,872
920,168 19,407,532 5,928,005 2,015,721 7,943,726 27,351,258 31,762,975

3,786 4,349,543 (4,349,543) - (4,349,543) - -

(231,906) 134,361 (141,299) 6,938 (134,361) - -
692048 $ 23891436 $ 1,437,163 % 2,022,659 $ 3,459,822 $ 27,351,258 $_ 31.762.975

87%

6%

7%

100%

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Organization

Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (Laboratory), a nonprofit corporation, operates and maintains a marine and
environmental sciences laboratory for the encouragement and development of the study of marine
sciences and the advancement of the general knowledge of kindred subjects through education, training,
scientific research, exchange of scientific information and dissemination of information to the public. The
Laboratory began operations in 1955.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Financial Statements

The financial statements and notes are representations of the Laboratory’s management who is
responsible for their integrity and objectivity. The accounting policies conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and have been consistently applied in the preparation
of the financial statements.

Basis of Accounting
The Laboratory prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due from program fees and grants receivable. A
significant portion of grants receivable are research grants.

Substantially all research grants are cost reimbursement grants. Research grants receivable consists of
billed and unbilled costs incurred on research contracts. Due to the nature of the grants, management
considers them to be collectible and no allowance has been established. These amounts are included in
accounts receivable on the statements of financial position.

Based on the Laboratory’s collection history, management believes no allowance for uncollectible amounts
is necessary.

Bequest Receivable
Bequests are recorded as support when the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated as
provided by the executor of the estate.

Pledges Receivable

Pledges are recorded as support when the donor’s commitment has been received. Pledges receivable
due in more than one year are reflected at the present value of estimated future cash flows using an
appropriate discount rate in the year pledged.

- 10 -



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, if purchased, or fair market value at the date of gift, if donated.

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line half-year
method. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Years
Vehicles 3
Vessels 5
Buildings and improvements 5-40
Furniture, fixtures and exhibits 5-10
Laboratory equipment 5-20
Trailers 5-10

The Laboratory capitalizes all fixed asset purchases or donations with an estimated useful life of greater
than one year and a cost or fair market value of $5,000 or greater.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue associated with research grants or contracts is generally recognized as related costs are incurred.
Membership revenue is recognized ratably throughout the membership year.

All contributions are considered to be available for use without donor restriction unless specifically
restricted by the donor. Contributions which are designated by the donor to be used in future periods,
or for specific purposes, are recorded as net assets with donor restrictions. When the purpose of the
restriction is accomplished, or passage of time has occurred, net assets with donor restrictions are
reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statements of activities as net
assets released from restrictions.

Gifts of cash restricted for the purpose of acquiring or constructing long-lived assets are recorded as net
assets with donor restrictions until the long-lived assets are acquired or constructed at which time the
net assets are released from the restriction and reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions. Any
conditional gifts for which the conditions are not met at year-end are recorded as refundable advances.

Patents
Patents are stated at the cost to acquire. Amortization is provided for using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful life of ten years.

Contributed Services and Nonfinancial Assets

A substantial number of volunteers have made significant contributions of their time to the operations of
the Laboratory. The amount of volunteer hours contributed to the Laboratory during the years ended
September 30, 2022 and 2021 were 152,911 and 160,208 hours, respectively. The estimated value of
these donated services has not been recorded in the accompanying financial statements because it does
not meet the criteria for recognition under generally accepted accounting principles.

However, management estimates the fair value of these services contributed to the Laboratory during the
years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 amounted to $4,579,692 and $4,572,324, respectively. These
estimates are based on an article published in the Nonprofit Times that estimates volunteer time to be
worth $29.95 and $28.54 per hour in 2022 and 2021, respectively, according to the Independent Sector,
a Washington D.C. based coalition of nonprofits and foundations.



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Contributed Services and Nonfinancial Assets (Continued)

Contributed nonfinancial assets are recognized at their estimated fair value when they create or enhance
nonfinancial assets, they require specialized skills that would need to be purchased if they were not
donated, or they are nonfinancial assets which are directed by the Laboratory for its benefit and have
been provided at no cost. Amounts are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation
using published rates and prices. Contributed nonfinancial assets for the years ended September 30, 2022
and 2021 totaled $0 and $600,000, respectively, and is included in construction in progress on the
statements of financial position.

Donated property and vessels, which are not classified by management for use by the Laboratory, are
recorded as assets held for sale. The carrying value of such assets is adjusted to the lower of fair market
value or the recorded value at the date of gift in order to more closely reflect the net realizable value.

Advertising and Promotion
Advertising and promotion costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising and promotion expense for the
years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 totaled $494,497 and $345,836, respectively.

Income Tax Status
The Laboratory is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Under the Income Taxes topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification, the Laboratory has
reviewed and evaluated the relevant technical merits of each of its tax positions in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes, and determined that there are no uncertain tax positions that would have a material impact
on the financial statements of the Laboratory.

The Laboratory files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and the State of Florida. The tax
periods open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which the Laboratory is subject include
fiscal years ended September 30, 2019 through September 30, 2022.

Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value

Certain of the Laboratory’s financial instruments are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis but
nevertheless certain financial instruments are recorded at amounts that approximate fair value due to
their liquid or short-term nature. Such financial assets and financial liabilities include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc., prepaid expenses and other
assets, accounts payable, accrued payroll, memberships relating to future periods, funds advanced on
research programs and deferred compensation payable.

Overhead Allocation

Overhead is allocated to research programs at a rate established with the cognizant federal agency, The
Department of Commerce and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Certain research
contracts limit the amount of reimbursement for overhead expenses to a rate specified in the individual
contracts.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional
basis in the statement of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs
and supporting services that benefited. The expenses that are allocated include salaries, benefits, payroll
taxes, depreciation, and other expenses for services which are allocated on the basis of estimated time
and effort.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash on hand and highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at date of acquisition
are considered to be cash and cash equivalents. Cash restricted for the endowment and included as cash
and cash equivalents in the financial statements amounted to $573,290 and $552,508 as of September 30,
2022 and 2021, respectively.

Beneficial Interest in the Net Assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.

The Laboratory follows the Not-for-Profit Entities Topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification.
The Not-for-Profit Entities Topic establishes standards for transactions in which a donor makes a
contribution to a not-for-profit organization (the recipient) that agrees to transfer those assets to another
entity (the beneficiary). The statement requires that, if the specified beneficiary is financially interrelated
to the recipient organization, the beneficiary must recognize its interest in the net assets of the recipient
organization. As presented in the financial statements, the Laboratory is financially interrelated to Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc. and therefore, is required to report its beneficial interest in the net assets of Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc.

Reclassifications

To facilitate comparison of financial data, certain amounts in the 2021 financial statements have been
reclassified to conform to the 2022 reporting presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on the
change in net assets previously reported.

3. Liquidity and Availability
Financial assets available within one year of the statement of financial position date for general
expenditures are as follows:

2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents $ 15353772 $ 16,351,517
Accounts receivable 4,919,837 4295917
Pledges receivable, net — current portion 3,994,892 3,739,647
Due from Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 470,049 529,282
Beneficial interest in the net assets of Mote Marine

Foundation, Inc. 16,481,634 20,678,361

Total financial assets available 41,220,184 45,594,724
Less: Amounts unavailable for general expenditures within one year due to:

Restricted by donors with purpose and time restrictions (20,664,511) (24,684,247)

Restricted by donors in perpetuity (10,047,490) (10,046,114)

Total amounts unavailable for general expenditures within one year (30,712,001) (34,730,361)
Less: Amounts unavailable to management without Board approval:

Board designated for Mote SEA project (390,818) (390,818)

Total financial assets available to management for general
expenditure within one year $ 10,117,365 $ 10,473,545

- 13-



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

3. Liquidity and Availability (Continued)

The Laboratory manages its liquid assets in accordance with regular budgeting processes developed
through the coordinated efforts of management and the Board of Trustees. Monthly reporting by
management to those charged with governance ensures the results from operating activities are
monitored closely.

The Board of Trustees has designated $390,818 as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, for the
construction of the Mote Science Education Aquarium (Mote SEA). Although the Laboratory does not
intend to spend from board designated funds, these amounts could be made available if necessary.

4, Pledges Receivable

At September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Laboratory held written unconditional pledges receivable in the
amounts of $10,146,66 1 and $7,942,514, respectively. The pledges have been restricted by the donors for
future projects. Management considers all pledges receivable to be fully collectible as of September 30,
2022 and 2021, therefore no allowance for uncollectible pledges has been established.

Pledges receivable consist of the following as of September 30:

2022 2021
Pledges receivable $ 10,146,661 $ 7,942,514
Less: discount to net present value (rates of 1% and .40%) (592,611) (94,935)
Pledges receivable, net 9,554,050 7,847,579
Less amount due in less than one year 3,994,892 3,739,647
Amount collectible in one to five years $ 5559158 § 4,107,932
5. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consists of the following at September 30:
2022 2021
Costs billed on research grants and other contracts $ 1074397 $ 1,442,217
Unbilled costs incurred on research grants 3,832,799 2,844,855
Accounts receivable - other 12,641 8,845

$ 4919837 $ 4295917

During the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Laboratory had no write-offs of uncollectible
accounts receivable.

6. Investments

The Laboratory has a certificate of deposit that earns interest of 3.45% and matures October 24, 2023.
As of September 30, 2022, the certificates of deposit totaled $119,193 and are stated at fair value. As of
September 30, 2021, the certificates of deposit totaled $392,197 and are stated at fair value. Of these
amounts, $69,631 and $127,576 is restricted for endowments as of September 30, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. There were no unrealized gains on the certificates of deposit for the years ended September
30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Laboratory had realized losses of $14,393 and realized gains of $2,689 on the sales of investments in
for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Additionally, assets held at a community foundation during the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021
incurred unrealized losses of $121,052 and unrealized gains of $8,612, respectively.

-14-



Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

7. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following as of September 30:

2022 2021

Vehicles $ 678209 $ 591,237
Vessels 1,838,971 1,544,500
Buildings and improvements 43,017,919 42,570,072
Furniture, fixtures and exhibits 5,305,515 5,199,638
Laboratory equipment 10,183,910 9,583,282
Trailers 118,663 109,131

61,143,187 59,597,860
Less accumulated depreciation 47,079,084 44,598,175

$ 14,064,103 $ 14,999,685

Depreciation expense was $2,499,729 and $2,862,696 for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

Construction in progress consists of the following at September 30:

2022 2021
Mote Science Education Aquarium construction $ 29945869 $ 15905,034
Aquarium and Laboratory improvements 58,839 67,506

$ 30,004,708 $ 15,972,540

In accordance with contract provisions, the Laboratory has segregated and identified property and
equipment that has been purchased or improved with funds received from government agencies. Title to
these assets acquired with government agency funds vests with the Laboratory as long as the Laboratory
has a contract with the agency, unless contract terms specify otherwise. Upon contract termination, title
to these assets reverts to the agencies. At September 30, 2022 and 2021, property and equipment
purchased or improved with funds received from government agencies, net of accumulated depreciation,
totaled $209,542 and $756,662, respectively.

8. Patents
During the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Laboratory incurred costs to maintain certain
patents. The costs capitalized and the related amortization provided for is as follows:

2022 2021
Patents $ 206,363 $ 197,344
Less: accumulated amortization 127,077 109,205
$ 79,286 $ 88,139

No significant residual value is estimated for these patents. Amortization expense for the years ended
September 30, 2022 and 202 totaled $17,872 and $17,108, respectively.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

8. Patents (Continued)
The following table represents the total estimated amortization of patents for the five succeeding years

and thereafter ending September 30:

2023 $ 17,186
2024 16,222
2025 14,521
2026 13,789
2027 6,038
Thereafter 11,530

$ 79,286

9. Long-Term Debt
Notes Payable
Notes payable consists of the following as of September 30:

2022 2021
Note payable in 180 monthly installments of $17,579 plus interest
based on overnight LIBOR plus 2.18%, maturing on August 5, 2028
and secured with personal property and pledges and guaranteed by
Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. with a $1,500,000 limitation. Interest
rate at September 30, 2022 was 5.25%. $ 1670012 % 1,880,960
Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $624, interest at 2.39%
due 2021, secured by vehicle. Note was paid in full during the year
ended September 30, 2022. - 622
Note payable in 48 monthly installments of $348, interest at 3.64%
due 2022, secured by vehicle. Note was paid in full during the year
ended September 30, 2022. - 1,381
Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $665, interest at 2.39%
due 2021, secured by vehicle. Note was paid in full during the year
ended September 30, 2022. - 663
Note payable in 48 monthly installments of $382, interest at 3.64%
due 2022, secured by vehicle. Note was paid in full during the year
ended September 30, 2022. - 1,516
Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $413, interest at 2.39%
due 2021, secured by vehicle. Note was paid in full during the year
ended September 30, 2022. - 411
Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $427, interest at 4.44%
due 2024, secured by vehicle. 9,048 13,654
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

9. Long-Term Debt (Continued)
Notes Payable (Continued)

2022 2021

Note payable in 60 monthly installments of $695, interest at 3.99%
due 2024, secured by vehicle. 12,109 19,794
Note payable in |19 monthly installments of $13,668 plus 4.2%
interest, with final payment of $1,348,395 due on October |, 2028,
secured by mortgage on real property located in Sarasota County. 1,908,383 1,989,276
Note payable annually at $200,000. A final balloon payment is due
July 11, 2027. 1,640,000 1,840,000
Note payable for insurance premiums financed by a third party. The
note is payable in 22 installments of $63,845, which include principal
and interest at 3.99%, due in 2023. 226,816 966,765

5,466,368 6,715,042
Less current portion 737,698 1,250,216
Non-current portion $ 4728670 $ 5,464,826

Interest expense incurred under these notes payable totaled $172,685 and $140,352 for the years ended
September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Lines of Credit

Pursuant to loan agreements with two banks, the Laboratory has a revolving line of credit of $1,500,000
with each bank. One loan agreement has a due date of November |1, 2022 and the other is open-ended
subject to renewal provisions. Interest on one line of credit is charged at the bank’s prime rate less a
margin of 1.25% with a 0% floor and is payable monthly. At September 30, 2022 and 2021, borrowings
outstanding under this line of credit and secured by pledges and accounts receivable of the Laboratory
amounted to $1,212,647 and $1,217,101, respectively.

Interest on the second revolving line of credit is charged at one month LIBOR plus 1.90% per annum,
payable monthly. There were no borrowings outstanding at September 30, 2022 and 2021. This line of
credit is secured by assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc.

The Laboratory also has a line of credit of $185,000 from Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority. The loan
represents advanced funding for the improvements to the Airport Aquarium and has no expiration date
or interest rate and will be repaid with any funds raised associated with the Airport Aquarium. At
September 30, 2022 and 2021, borrowings outstanding totaled $185,000.

During the year ended September 30, 2022, the Laboratory obtained an additional line of credit with a
maturity date of December 31, 2027. Various interest rates are charged based on the number of days that
the principal is outstanding, ranging from 0% to 16%. No funds were borrowed on this line of credit during
the year ended September 30, 2022.

The multiple lines of credit outstanding at September 30, 2022 and 2021 totaled $1,397,647 and
$1,402,101, respectively.

Interest expense incurred under these lines of credit totaled $34,465 and $21,570 for the years ended
September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

9. Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Lines of Credit (Continued)

Certain loan agreements described above require that the Laboratory meet certain debt covenant
compliance requirements. As of September 30, 2022, the Laboratory was in full compliance with all
requirements.

Paycheck Protection Program Forgivable Loan

On April 16, 2020, the Laboratory qualified for and received a loan pursuant to the Paycheck Protection
Program, a program implemented by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the SBA) under the
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act for an aggregate principal amount of $2,318,259 (the
PPP Loan). The Laboratory applied for forgiveness of the PPP Loan in September 2020. On April 30,
2021, the Laboratory received notice of forgiveness from the SBA of the entire principal of $2,318,259
and the 1% calculated accrued interest of $24,072. The Laboratory has recorded $2,318,259 as Paycheck
Protection Program loan forgiveness in the statement of activities for the year ended September 30, 2021.
The Laboratory did not accrue interest on the PPP Loan.

Future Maturities of Long-Term Debt
Aggregate maturities of long-term debt at September 30, are as follows:

2023 $ 737,698
2024 508,484
2025 503,993
2026 507,977
2027 512,131
Thereafter 2,696,085
Total $ 5,466,368

10. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions
Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes as of September 30:

Subject to expenditure for specific purpose: 2022 2021
Future projects $ 428,448 $ 659,700
Construction 13,702,459 13,660,702
Library expenses 28,087 26,587
Beneficial interest in net assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 6,505,517 10,337,258

Total purpose restrictions 20,664,511 24,684,247

Perpetual in nature:

Cultural endowment 600,000 600,000
Keys endowment 12,050 12,050
Beneficial interest in the net assets of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. 9,435,440 9,434,064
Total perpetual in nature restrictions 10,047,490 10,046,114
Total net assets with donor restrictions $ 30,712,00f $ 34,730,361
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

I1. Net Assets Released from Restrictions
Net assets released from donor restriction by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes as of
September 30:

2022 2021
Aquarium expenses $ 32926 $ 32,883
Research expenses 310412 -
Other 94,258 -
Library - 2,000
Construction 15,243,805 9,916,474

$ 15681401 $ 9,951,357

12. Retirement Plan

The Laboratory provides a 403(b) retirement plan. The Laboratory matches employee contributions
based on an employee's length of service and gross salary. Retirement plan expense was $531,442 and
$578,363 for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

13. Matching Requirements on Governmental Grants

The Laboratory is awarded grants from federal agencies which require matching contributions by the
Laboratory. The matching requirements were met or exceeded on completed federal grants during 2022
and 2021.

14. Rental Use Charges
Periodically, certain programs require utilization of vessels, vehicles and equipment provided by the
Laboratory. Each program is charged rent, based on use, at a pre-established rental fee that reflects the
cost of operating the asset.

15. Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk

The Laboratory maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may exceed federally insured
limits. Accounts are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to certain limits.
At any given time, the Laboratory may have cash and investment balances exceeding the insured amount.
The Laboratory has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any
significant credit risk on cash and investments.

16. Related Party Transactions

The Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. (Foundation), a financially interrelated organization, provides support
to the Laboratory in the form of grants. For the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the
Laboratory received grants from the Foundation in the amount of $465,741 and $524,748, respectively.

Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. is dependent on Laboratory personnel for administration and certain aspects
of fund raising.

From time to time, the Laboratory will provide grants, receive donations and pay certain expenses on
behalf of the Foundation. As of September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Foundation owed the Laboratory
$470,049 and $529,282, respectively.

Certain trustee members are affiliated with organizations that transact with the Laboratory. Trustee

members are required to complete conflict of interest disclosure statements and abstain from voting on
related issues.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
September 30, 2022 and 2021

16. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

During the year ended September 30, 2021, a trustee donated the use of an aircraft for travel
accommodations for employees and trustees. The value of this donation for the year ended September
30, 2021, is estimated at $2,603.

From time to time, the trustees make pledges and contributions to the Laboratory.

I7. Leased Facility

The Laboratory has a leasehold agreement with a municipality for real property on which the Laboratory
has constructed its facilities. The agreement requires the Laboratory to pay the municipality one dollar
per year until the agreement expires in the year 2050. The fair market value of the leasehold agreement
is not determinable and therefore has not been recorded in the accompanying financial statements.

18. Endowments

The Laboratory’s endowment consists of funds established for several purposes. Its endowment includes
donor-restricted endowment funds. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, net assets associated with endowment funds are classified and reported based on the
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Itis typical to establish all endowment funds in Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc.

Interpretation of Relevant Law

The Board of Trustees of the endowment has interpreted the Florida Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act (FUPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of
the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary.
As a result of this interpretation, the Laboratory classifies as net assets with donor restrictions in
perpetuity (a) the original value of gifts donated to the perpetual endowment and (b) the original value of
subsequent gifts to the perpetual endowment.

Endowment Net Asset Composition
As of September 30, 2022, endowment net assets consisted of the following:
With
Donor
Restrictions

Donor-restricted endowment funds:

Endowment balance $ 612,050
Total donor-restricted endowment funds $ 612,050

As of September 30, 2021, endowment net assets consisted of the following:
With
Donor
Restrictions

Donor-restricted endowment funds:

Endowment balance $ 612,050
Un-appropriated income with purpose restrictions 14,281
Total donor-restricted endowment funds $ 626,331
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18. Endowments (Continued)
Changes in Endowment Net Assets
Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended September 30, 2022 are as follows:

With
Donor
Restrictions
Endowment net assets, October |, 2021 $ 626,331
Endowment investment return:
Investment income 1,522
Realized and unrealized losses (2,297)
Total endowment investment loss (775)
Appropriation of endowment for expenditures (13,506)
Endowment net assets, September 30, 2022 $ 612,050
Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended September 30, 2021 are as follows:
With
Donor

Restrictions

Endowment net assets, October |, 2020 $ 622,859
Endowment investment return:
Investment income 205
Realized and unrealized gains 3,267
Total endowment investment return 3,472
Appropriation of endowment for expenditures -
Endowment net assets, September 30, 2021 $ 626,331

Funds with Deficiencies

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor restricted endowment funds
may fall below the level classified as net assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature. These
deficiencies result from unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred shortly after the investment of new
contributions of net assets with donor restrictions that are perpetual in nature and continued
appropriation for certain programs that was deemed prudent by the Board of Trustees. There were no
deficiencies of this nature reported in net assets without donor restrictions as of September 30, 2022 and
2021.

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters

The Laboratory has adopted investment policies and spending polices for endowment assets that attempt
to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-
restricted funds that the Laboratory must hold in perpetuity or for donor-specified periods. Under this
policy, as approved by the Board of Trustees, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is
intended to produce a long-term rate of return on assets of to match or exceed the rate of return
determined from the sum of the annual distribution percentage, inflation measured by the CPI, and real
growth of 1%.

The Cultural Endowment Program has a primary investment constraint to preserve principal along with
restrictions on investment instruments, so the Laboratory uses an alternative approved investment policy
for this program.
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18. Endowments (Continued)

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Laboratory relies on a total return strategy in which
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current
yield (interest and dividends). The Laboratory targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater
emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk
constraints.

Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy

The Laboratory has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year 5% percent of its endowment funds
average fair value over the period of 12 quarters through the calendar year end preceding the fiscal year
in which the distribution is planned. In establishing this policy, the Laboratory considered the long-term
expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the long term, the Laboratory expects the current
spending policy to allow its endowment to grow at an average of 1% percent annually. This is consistent
with the Laboratory’s objective to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in
perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts and
investment return. The established policy for the Cultural Endowment Program distributes 100% of
current income for use in operating costs for cultural activities expecting no further growth in this
endowment.

19. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Laboratory adopted the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification which provides enhanced guidance for using fair value to measure assets and
liabilities and clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants
would use when pricing the assets or liabilities and establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the information
used to develop those assumptions. The Laboratory has adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-
06, Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements, which requires the Laboratory to present fair value
measurements separately for each class of assets and liabilities held as of September 30, 2022 and 2021.

The following tables present information about the Laboratory’s assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, and indicate the fair
value hierarchy of the valuation techniques used to determine such fair value. The three levels for
measuring fair value are based on the reliability of inputs and are as follows:

Level | - quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, such as publicly traded
equity securities. This level includes common and preferred stock, cash and money market funds, mutual
funds, corporate bonds and bond funds, and government obligations.

Level 2 - inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level | that are observable, either directly or
indirectly. Such inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets, observable inputs other than quoted
prices (interest rates, yield curves, etc.), or inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 - inputs are unobservable data points for the asset or liability, and include situations where there

is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The inputs reflect the Laboratory’s assumptions
based on the best information available in the circumstance.
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19. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities (Continued)
The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory’s assets measured at fair value
on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2022:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV#

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote
Marine Foundation, inc.  $ 16,602,252 $ 14,143,604 $ 2457981 $ - $ 667

The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory’s assets measured at fair value
on a non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2022:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV*

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote

Marine Foundation, Inc.  $ 16,181 $ - $ - $ 16,181 $ -
Pledges receivable 9,554,050 - . 9,554,050 -
Ending balance $ 9570231 §% - $ - $ 9570231 $ -

The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory's assets measured at fair value
on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2021:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV*

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote
Marine Foundation, Inc.  $ 20,894243 $ 18,136,475 $ 2736253 §$ - $ 21,515

The following sets forth the fair value hierarchy by level for the Laboratory's assets measured at fair value
on a non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2021:

Description Total Level | Level 2 Level 3 NAV*

Beneficial interest in the
net assets of Mote

Marine Foundation, Inc.  $ 16,181 $ - $ - $ 16,181 § -
Pledges receivable 7,847,579 - - 7,847,579 -
Ending balance $ 7863760 % - $ - $ 7863760 % -

(*)Certain investments of Mote Marine Foundation, Inc. that are measured at fair value using the net
asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been categorized in the
fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in the tables above are intended to permit
reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the statements of financial
position.
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20. Commitments

At September 30, 2022, the Laboratory had commitments of approximately $ 109,240,000 for construction
and acquisition of property and equipment, all of which is related to the Mote SEA project. Also, in
connection with the Mote SEA project, the Laboratory has received contributions restricted for
construction of $13,556,039 and $7,833,755 for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021,

respectively.

2]. Subsequent Events

The Laboratory has evaluated all events subsequent to the statement of financial position date of
September 30, 2022 and through the date these financial statements were available to be issued, February
21,2023, and have determined that, there are no subsequent events that require disclosure.
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and

State Financial Assistance
Year Ended September 30, 2022

Assistance
Listing # Pass-through Transfer
or Entity ldentification Total to
Grantor CSFA# or Grant Number Expenditures Subrecipients
Federal Contracts and Grants
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER
Department of Agriculture
Agricultural Research Service
Agricultural Research Basic and Applied Research
Passed through Florida Atantic University 10.001 59-6034-9-007 77884 $ 77884 § -
Agriculture and Food Research Initiative (AFRI) 10310 2021-67017-33829 15,000 15,000 -
Department of Commerce
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)
Ocean Exploration 11011 NAI80AROI 10291 36,569 36,569 -
Integrated Ocean Observing System (I0OS)
Passed through Texas A&M University 11012 NAI6NOS0120018 134,566 9,614
Passed through Southeast Coastal Ocean Qbserving Regional Association 11.012 NAI6NOS0120028 106,222 -
Passed through Texas A&M University 11.012 NA21NOS0120092 28,900 844
Passed through Southeast Coastal Ocean Observing Regional Association 11.012 NA21NOSO0120097 8,546 -
Passed through University of South Carolina 11.012 NA2INOS0120097 7,023 285,257 -
Ocean Acididifcation Program (OAP) 11.017 NA220AR0170209 500 500 -
NOAA Small Business Inovation Research (SBIR) Program
Passed through Live Advantage Bait, LLC 11.021 NA210OAR0210492 28,144 28,144 -
Sea Grant Support
Passed through University of Florida 11417 NA18OAR4170085 101,04 79,149
Passed through University of Miami 1417 NAI9OAR4170414 7,725 -
Passed through Southeast Coastal Ocean Observing Regional Association 11.417 NA220AR4170114 58 108,797
Fisheries Development and Utlization Research and
Development Grants and Cooperative Agreements Program 11.427 NA20NMF4270199 54,420 54,420
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
(NOAA) Cooperative Institutes
Passed through Research Foundation CUNY 11.432 16126-Z7813001 5,628 5,628
Marine Fisheries Initiative 11433 NA15NMF4330152 36,743 36,743
Marine Mammal Data Program 11.439 NA17NMF439008% 6,314
11439 NA8NMF4390064 4,883
11.43% NATINMF4390178 9,456
11.439 NA20NMF4390106 31,061
11.43% NA2INMF4390403 23,574 75,288
Unallied Management Projects
Passed through National Fish and Witdlife Foundation 11.454 NA20NMF4540082 29,237 9,000
11.454 NA21NMF4540281 65,119 94,356 4,419
Habitat Conservation 11.463 NAI9NMF4630259 712,806 -
Passed through National Marine Sanctuary Foundation 11463 NA20NMF4630328 370,538
Passed through College of the Florida Keys 11.463 NA20NMF4630328 10,791 1,094,135
Unallied Science Program
Passed through National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 11.472 NAT9NMF4720290 253,480 17,242
11472 NA20NMF4720265 62,494 3,797
11.472 NA21NMF4720530 29,495 -
11472 NA21NMF4720532 55,215 .
Passed through Florida Fish & Wildlife Conservation Commission 11472 NAISNMF4720018 14,911 415,595 4518
Office for Coastal Management
Passed through National Fish and Witdlife Foundation 11.473 NA8NOS4730204 532,447
11473 NA20NOS4730027 454,868 987,315 -
Center for Sponsored Coastal Ocean Research Coastal Ocean Program
Passed through Florida International University 11.478 NAIT8NOS4780171 62,966 .
11,478 NAT9INOS4780183 929,556 576,636
Passed through Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution 11.478 NA2INOS47801 56 26,482 1,019,004 -
Coral Reef Conservation Program 11.482 NA2INMF820300 40,956 40,956 -
Environmental Protection Agency
Geographic Programs - South Florida Geographic Initiatives Program
66.484 02020722 29,883 29,883 -




Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2022

Assistance
Listing # Pass-through Transfer
or Entity ldentification Total to
Grantor CSFA# or Grant Number Expenditures Subrecipients
Federal Contracts and Grants (Continued)
E LOP T
National Science Foundation
Geosciences 47.050 1923926 89,428
47.050 1923926 33,744
47.050 2050892 133,960
Passed through Florida Adantic University 47.050 2143665 26,209
47.050 OCE - 1757419 7.529 290,870
STEM Education (formerly Education and Human Resources) 47,076 1922351 398,212 398,212 17,576
U.S. Department of Defense
Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA)
Research and Technology Development
Passed through Florida Atlantic University 12910 AWD - 001612 69,357 69,357 5,700
Department of the Interior
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
State Wildlife Grants 15.634 FL-T-FI8AF00492 30,327 30,327
Department of Treasury
Resources and Ecosystems Sustainabitity, Tourist Opportunities,
and Revived Economies of the Gulf Coast States
Passed through The Nature Conservancy 21015 RDCGRI70068 127,197
Passed through the Florida Institute of Oceanography 21.015 8-RCEGR020005-01-02 110,342 237,539 62,382
Department of State
General Department of State Assistance 19.700 5IS-70017G33038 75,462 75,462 -
TOTAL RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER $ 5507241 $ 790,877
Total Federal Contracts and Grants $__5507.241 § 790,877
State Contracts and Grants
State of Florida
Florida Fish & Wildlife Conservation Commission
Cooperative Red Tide Research Program - Reduction
of Harmful Impacts from Red Tide - Red Tide Mitigation
and Technology Development Initiative 77.010 15003 15,688 -
77.010 19153 3,604,561 960,854
77.010 20034 1,070,885 4,691,134 14,109
Marine Fisheries Assessment 77.023 20317 237,932 237,932 -
Mote Marine Laboratory Coral Reef Restoration Program 77.036 20151 800,000 -
77.036 21069 1,298,736 2,098,736
Keys Marine Laboratory infrastructure Expansion to Support
Coral Restoration 77.044 21354 17,223 17,223 -
Department of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles
Protect Wild Dolphins License Plate Project 76011 1600 8,340 8,340 -
Protect Our Reefs License Plate Project 76.069 POR 1,058,171 1,058,171 93,398
Sea Turte License Plate Project 76.070 21-033C 2412
76.070 22-003R 12,532 14,944 -
Department of Environmental Protection
Coral Reef Protection and Restoration Grant 37.107 €2002 323,544 323,544 162,513
Total State Contracts and Grants $ 8,450,024 3 1,230,874
$ 13,957,265 $ 2,021,751

Total Federal and State Contracts and Grants
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and
State Financial Assistance
Year Ended September 30, 2022

I, Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award and state financial assistance activity of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. under programs of the federal
government and State of Florida for the year ended September 30, 2022. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General. Because the Schedule presents only a selected
portion of the operations of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc., it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contined in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of

expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

3. Indirect Cost Election
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. has not elected to use the 10% de minimis cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance, and has a federally negotiated rate with its cognizant agency.
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial
Statements Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing
Standards

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Trustees
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Sarasota, Florida

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General, the
financial statements of Mote Marine Laboratory Inc. (Laboratory), which comprise the statement of
financial position as of September 30, 2022, and the related statement of activities, functional expenses,
and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued
our report thereon dated February 21, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Laboratory’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Laboratory's internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Laboratory's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and
correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Laboratory's financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

| frckeis g

Sarasota, Florida
February 21, 2023
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Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and State
Project; and Report on Internal Control over Compliance Required by
the Uniform Guidance and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General

of the State of Florida

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Trustees
Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Sarasota, Florida

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance
Project

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance Project

We have audited Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.’s (Laboratory) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the requirements
described in the State of Florida Department of Financial Services Statements Projects Compliance
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Laboratory’s major federal
programs and state financial assistance projects for the year ended September 30, 2022. The Laboratory’s
major federal programs and state financial assistance projects are identified in the summary of auditor’s
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the Laboratory complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal
programs and state financial assistance projects for the year ended September 30, 2022.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and State Financial Assistance Project

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards);
the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance); and Chapter
10.650, Rules of the Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance
are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Laboratory and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each
major federal program and state financial assistance project. Our audit does not provide a legal
determination of the Laboratory’'s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the
Laboratory’s federal programs and state financial assistance projects.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an
opinion on the Laboratory’'s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually
or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance
about the Laboratory’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program and state
financial assistance project as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on
a test basis, evidence regarding the Laboratory's compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

e Obtain an understanding of the Laboratory’s internal control over compliance relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Laboratory’s internal
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program or state financial assistance project on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement
of a federal program or state project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program or state
financial assistance project that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses,
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over
compliance may exist that were not identified.
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance (Continued)
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance and the Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General. Accordingly, this report is not
suitable for any other purpose.

(Frobiocin g

Sarasota, Florida
February 21, 2023
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended September 30, 2022

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements
Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

e Material weakness(es) identified? yes__X _nho

¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes___X__ none reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted? yes___ X __nho

Federal and State Awards
Internal control over major programs and projects:

¢ Material weakness(es) identified? yes__x __no

¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes___Xx__ none reported

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs and projects: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to

be reported in accordance with section 2 CFR
200.516(a) and the provisions of the Florida Single
Audit Act in accordance with Chapter 10.650 of

the Rules of the Auditor General yes__ X __no
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2022

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results (Continued)

Identification of major programs and projects:

CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster

10.001
10.310

11.001
11.012
11.017
11.021
11.417
11.427

11.432

11.433
11.439
11.454
11.463
11.472
11.473
11.478

11.482

66.484

47.050
47.076
12910
15.634
21.015

19.700

Research and Development Cluster:

Agricultural Research Basic and Applied Research

USDA/NIFA — USDA National Institute of Food and

Agriculture

Ocean Exploration

Integrated Ocean Observing System (1005)

Ocean Acidification Toolkits for Educators

Small Business Innovation Research

Sea Grant Support

Fisheries Development and Utilization Research
and Development Grants and Cooperative
Agreements Program

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
(NOAA) Cooperative Institutes

Marine Fisheries Initiative

Marine Mammal Data Program

Unallied Management Projects

Habitat Conservation

Unallied Science Program

Office for Coastal Management

Center for Sponsored Coastal Ocean Research
Coastal Ocean Program

Coral Reef Conservation Program and Restoration

Center

Surveys, Studies, Investigations, Demonstrations,
and Training Grants and Cooperative
Agreements — Section 104(b)(3) of the
Clean Water Act

Geosciences

Education and Human Resources

Research and Technology Development

State Wildlife Grants

Resources and Ecosystems Sustainability, Tourist
Opportunities, and Revived Economies of
the Gulif Coast States

General Department of State Assistance
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Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
Year Ended September 30, 2022

Section | - Summary of Auditor’s Results (Continued)

CSFA Numbers Name of State Projects

77.010 Cooperative Red Tide Research Program-
Reduction of Harmful Impact from Red Tide
77.036 Coral Reef Restoration Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B Federal programs: $__750.000
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B State projects: $__750.000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?___x__ yes no

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings

None

Section 11l - Federal and State Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None

Section IV - Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings and Questioned Costs

No prior audit findings or questioned costs to be addressed

Section V - Other

No management letter is required because there were no findings to be reported in a management
letter as required by Section 215.97 (9)(f) and 215.97 (10)(d) of the Florida Statutes, Auditor General
Rule 10.654 (I)(e) or 10.656 (3)(e).
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ANTI-KICKBACK AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF FLORIDA)
: SS

COUNTY OF MANATEE)

I, the undersigned hereby duly sworn, depose and say that no portion of the sum herein bid will be
paid to any employees of the City of Key West as a commission, kickback, reward or gift, directly
or indirectly by me or any member of my firm or by an officer of the corporation.

By: MICHAEL P. CROSBY VQU\ W urﬁ

Sworn and subscribed before me this 16th___ day of APRIL 2025 .

Cdboar b

NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Florida at Large

i,
:_.-’.‘.IY 2 o

DEBRA HOLMES

i ;i Notary Public - State of Florid,
] & rida
A@%@ Commission # HH 422046

o O Y ;
My Comm. Expires Jul 16, 2027

My Commission Expires: 0 7 ~ -27




SWORN STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 287.133(3)(A)
FLORIDA STATUTES, ON PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES

THIS FORM MUST BE SIGNED IN THE PRESENCE OF A NOTARY PUBLIC OR OTHER
OFFICER AUTHORIZED TO ADMINISTER OATHS.

This sworn statement is submitted with Bid or Proposal for

City of Key West RFP No. 25-004 Water Quality Monitoring Program

This sworn statement is submitted by Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc.,
Elizabeth Moore Center for Coral Reef Research and Restoration
(name of entity submitting sworn statement)

whose business address is 24244 Overseas Highway, Summerland Key, FL 33042

and (if applicable) its Federal Employer Identification Number (FEIN) is__59-0756643

(If the entity has no FEIN, include the Social Security Number of the individual

signing this sworn statement n/a

My name is __Michael P. Crosby
(please print name of individual signing)

and my relationship to the entity named above is _ President & CEO

I understand that a “public entity crime” as defined in Paragraph 287.133(1)(g), Florida
Statutes, means a violation of any state or federal law by a person with respect to and
directly related to the transaction of business with any public entity or with an agency or
political subdivision of any other state or with the United States, including but not limited
to, any bid or contract for goods or services to be provided to any public or an agency or
political subdivision of any other state or of the United States and involving antitrust,
fraud, theft, bribery, collusion, racketeering, conspiracy, material misrepresentation.

I understand that “convicted” or “conviction” as defined in Paragraph 287.133(1)(b),
Florida Statutes, means a finding of guilt or a conviction of a public entity crime, with or
without an adjudication guilt, in any federal or state trial court of record relating to
charges brought by indictment information after July 1, 1989, as a result of a jury verdict,
nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere.

I understand that an “affiliate” as defined in Paragraph 287.133(1)(a), Florida Statutes,
means



1. A predecessor or successor of a person convicted of a public entity crime; or

2. Anentity under the control of any natural person who is active in the management
of the entity and who has been convicted of a public entity crime. The term
“affiliate” includes those officers, directors, executives, partners, shareholders,
employees, members, and agents who are active in the management of an affiliate.
The ownership by one person of shares constituting controlling interest in another
person, or a pooling of equipment or income among persons when not for fair
market value under an arm’s length agreement, shall be a prima facie case that one
person controls another person. A person who knowingly enters into a joint
venture with a person who has been convicted of a public entity crime in Florida
during the preceding 36 months shall be considered an affiliate.

I understand that a “person” as defined in Paragraph 287.133(1)(8), Florida Statutes,
means any natural person or entity organized under the laws of any state or of the United
States with the legal power to enter into a binding contract and which bids or applies to
bid on contracts for the provision of goods or services let by a public entity, or which
otherwise transacts or applies to transact business with public entity. The term “person”
includes those officers, directors, executives, pariners, shareholders, employees,
members, and agents who are active in management of an entity.

Based on information and belief, the statement which I have marked below is true in
relation to the entity submitting this sworn statement. (Please indicate which statement

applies).

iX_Neither the entity submitting this sworn statement, nor any officers, directors,
executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who are active
in management of the entity, nor any affiliate of the entity have been charged with
and convicted of a public entity crime subsequent to July 1, 1989, AND (Please
indicate which additional statement applies.)

MLThere has been a proceeding concerning the conviction before a hearing of the
State of Florida, Division of Administrative Hearings. The final order entered by the
hearing officer did not place the person or affiliate on the convicted vendor list.
(Please attach a copy of the final order.)

ﬂThe person or affiliate was placed on the convicted vendor list. There has been
a subsequent proceeding before a hearing officer of the State of Florida, Division of
Administrative Hearings. The final order entered by the hearing officer determined
that it was in the public interest to remove the person or

affiliate from the convicted vendor list. (Please attach a copy of the final order.)

['ZA, The person or affiliate has not been put on the convicted vendor list. (Please



describe any action taken by or pending with the Department of General Services.)

I/{‘J\ P u"j?\
(signature) \\\, A

ov/ie 27

(date)
STATE OF_FLORIDA__
COUNTY OF_MANATEE__
PERSONALLY APPEARED BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority,

MICHAEL P. CROSBY  who, after first being sworn by me, affixed his/her
(name of individual signing)

signature in the space provided above on this 16th day of APRIL ,2025__ .
My commission expires: w M
M- 16-A7
NOTARY PUBLIC

R DEBRA HOLMES
ig @q Notary Public - State of Florida

Commission # HH 422046
My Comm, Expires Jul 16, 2027




CITY OF KEY WEST INDEMNIFICATION FORM

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Consultant expressly agrees to indemnify and hold
harmless the City of Key West, their officers, directors, agents and employees *(herein called the
“indemnitees”) from liabilities, damages, losses and costs, including but not limited to,
reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs, such legal expenses to include costs incurred in
establishing the indemnification and other rights agreed to in this Paragraph, to persons or
property, to the extent caused by the negligence, recklessness, or intentional wrongful
misconduct of the Consultant, its Subcontractors or persons employed or utilized by them in the
performance of the Contract. Claims by indemnitees for indemnification shall be limited to the
amount of Consultant’s insurance or $1 million per occurrence, whichever is greater. The
parties acknowledge that the amount of the indemnity required hereunder bears a reasonable
commercial relationship to the Contract and it is part of the project specifications or the bid
documents, if any.

The indemnification obligations under the Contract shall not be restricted in any way by any
limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for the
Consultant under Workers’” Compensation acts, disability benefits acts, or other employee
benefits acts, and shall extend to and include any actions brought by or in the name of any
employee of the Consultant or of any third party to whom Consultant may subcontract a part or
all of the Work. This indemnification shall continue beyond the date of completion of the work.

CONSULTANT: MOTE MARINE LABORATORY, INC. SEAL:

Signature

MICHAEL P, CROSBY, PhD |
Print Name

PRESIDENT & CEO
Title

DATE: APRIL 16, 2025

fg}":}'}”@ DEBRA HOLMES

< Notary Public - State of Florida
n‘tﬁs Commission # HH 422046
= My Comm. Expires Jul 16, 2027



EQUAL BENEFITS FOR DOMESTIC PARTNERS AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF FLORIDA)
)

COUNTY OF MANATEE)

I, the undersigned hereby duly sworn, depose and say that the firm of MOTE MARINE
LABORATORY, INC. provides benefits to domestic partners of its employees on the same basis
as it provides benefits to employees’ spouses, per City of Key West Code of Ordinances Sec. 2-
799.

w AP L
3 ¥

Sworn and subscribed before me this 16% day of APRIL 2025

NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Florida at Large

My Commission Expires: O7-1b-2 7

VRIS Commission # HH 422046
My Comm, Expires Jul 15, 2027

SN, DEBRA HOLMES
l'? gﬁ?? Notary Public - State of Flarida
o

il B il




CONE OF SILENCE AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF FLORIDA )

: 85

COUNTY OF MANATEE)

I, the undersigned hereby duly sworn, depose and say that all owner(s), partners, officers,

directors, employees and agents representing the firm of MOTE MARINE LABORATORY, INC.

have read and understand the limitations and procedures regarding communications concerning

City of Key West Code of Ordinances Sec. 2-773 Cone of Silence.

AP L

Sworn and subscribed before me this

By:

16th  day of APRIL 2025
NOTARY PUBLIC, State of FLORIDA at Large

My Commission Expires: () 7 - { G- A 7

L DEBRA HOLMES
z‘gE‘%ﬁ Notary Public - State of Florida
o f\°'§

3 Commission # HH 422046
My Comm. Expires Jul 16, 2027




NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF FLORIDA )

SS COUNTY OF MONROE )

I, the undersigned hereby declares that the only persons or parties interested in this Proposal are
those named herein, that this proposal is, in all respects, fair and without fraud, that it is made
without collusion with any official of the Owner, and that the Proposal is made without any
connection or collusion with any person submitting another Proposal on this Contract.

AU QML

Sworn and subscribed before me this

16t day of APRIL , 2025

(detsa e

NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Florida at Large

My Commission Expires: O7-16-R27

g DEBRA HOLMES
+i Notary Public - State of Florida

2RZLIE  Commission # HH 422046
ot My Comm, Expires Jul 16, 2027




LOCAL VENDOR CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO CITY OF KEY WEST CODE OF ORDINANCES
SECTION 2-798

The undersigned, as a duly authorized representative of the vendor listed herein, certifies to the
best of his/her knowledge and belief, that the vendor meets the definition of a “Local Business.”
For purposes of this section, “local business” shall mean a business which:

a. Principle address as registered with the FL Department of State located within 30 miles
of the boundaries of the city, listed with the chief licensing official as having a business
tax receipt with its principle address within 30 miles of the boundaries of the city for
at least one year immediately prior to the issuance of the solicitation.

b. Maintains a workforce of at least 50 percent of its employees from the city or within 30
miles of its boundaries.
c. Having paid all current license taxes and any other fees due the city at least 24 hours

prior to the publication of the call for bids or request for proposals.
» Not a local vendor pursuant to Code od Ordinances Section 2-798
e Qualifies as a local vendor pursuant to Code od Ordinances Section 2-798

If you qualify, please complete the following in support of the self-certification & submit copies
of your County and City business licenses. Failure to provide the information requested will
result in denial of certification as a local business.

Business Name: Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. Phone: 305.745.2729
Elizabeth Moore Center for Coral Reef Research and Restoration Fax:

Current Local Address: 24244 Overseas Highway, Summerland Key, FL 33042

(P.O Box numbers may not be used to establish status)

Length of time at J‘%IS address: >20 yrs
M April 16, 2025

Signature of Authorlzed Representa‘ave Date
STATE OF_FLORIDA \.\
COUNTY OF MANATEE

The foregoing instrument was acknowled& before me this _16th day of APRIL , 2025 .

By MICHAEL P. CROSBY, President & CEQO , of MOTE MARINE LABORATORY, INC
(Name of officer or agent, title of officer or agent) Name of corporation acknowledging)

or has produced_FL Drivers License as identification

(type of identification) 2 l ; : :

Signature of Notary
Debora Holmes
Return Completed form with Print, Type or Stamp Name of Notary
Supporting documents to:
City of Key West Purchasing
Title or Rank

. DEBRA HOLMES
i Notary Public - State of Florida
Commission # HH 422046

™" My Comm, Expires Jul 16, 2027



THE CITY OF KEY WEST E-VERIFY AFFIDAVIT

Beginning January 1, 2021, Florida law requires all contractors doing business with The City of Key
West to register with and use the E-Verify System in order to verify the work authorization status of
all newly hired employees. The City of Key West requires all vendors who are awarded contracts
with the City to verify employee eligibility using the E-Verify System. As before, vendors are also
required to maintain all I-9 Forms of their employees for the duration of the contract term. To enroll
in the E-Verify System, vendors should visit the E-Verify Website located at www.e-verify.gov.

In accordance with Florida Statute § 448.095, it is the responsibility of the Awarded Vendor to
ensure compliance with all applicable E-Verify requirements.

By executing this affidavit, the undersigned contractor verifies it compliance with Florida Statute §
448.095, stating affirmatively that the individual, firm, or corporation which is engaged in the
performance of services on behalf of the City of Key West, has registered with, is authorized to use,
and uses the U.S. Department of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system.

Furthermore, the undersigned contractor agrees that it will continue to use E-Verify throughout the
contract period, and should it employ or contract with any subcontractor(s) in connection with the
performance of services pursuant to this Agreement with The City of Key West, contractor will secure
from such subcontractor(s) similar verification of compliance with Florida Statute § 448.095, by
requiring the subcontractor(s) to provide an affidavit attesting that the subcontractor does not
employ, or subcontract with, an unauthorized alien. Contractor further agrees to maintain records of
such compliance during the duration of the Agreement and provide a copy of each such verification
to The City of Key West within five (5) business days of receipt.

Failure to comply with this provision is a material breach of the Agreement and shall result in
immediate termination of the Agreement without penalty to the City of Key West. Contractor shall
be liable for all costs incurred by the City of Key West to secure replacement Agreement, including
but not limited to, any increased costs for the same services, and cogts due to delay, and rebidding

costs, jif applicable. d’)
OH/ 16/ a5 N
1 L)
Date (Signature of A\.lthorized Representative
\

State of_ FLORIDA,
County of MANATEE,

Personally Appeared Before Me, the undersigned authority, MICHAEL P. CROSBY whoﬁ being
personally know or 0 having produced his/her signature in the space provided above on this 16th
i : M(‘%ﬂ—— ON- e~ X7

day of April, 2025
Commission Expires

3..,” 248" Commission # HH 422046
e My Comm, Expires Jul 16, 2027

Stamp/Seal:




AFFIDAVIT ATTESTING TO NONCOERCIVE CONDUCT
FOR LABOR OR SERVICES

Entity/Vendor Name: MOTE MARINE LABORATORY, INC.
Vendor FEIN: _59-0756643
Vendor’s Authorized Representative: _ MICHAEL P. CROSBY, PRESIDENT & CEO

Address:

(Name and Title)
24244 Overseas Highway

City: SUMMERLAND KEY  State: _ FLORIDA Zip: 33042

Phone Number: __305-745-2729

Email Address: _research@mote.org

As a nongovernmental entity executing, renewing, or extending a contract with a government entity,
Vendor is required to provide an affidavit under penalty of perjury attesting that Vendor does not
use coercion for labor or services in accordance with Section 787.06, Florida Statutes.

As defined in Section 787.06(2)(a), coercion means:

1.
2.

o

Using or threating to use physical force against any person;

Restraining, isolating, or confining or threating to restrain, isolate, or confine any person
without lawful authority and against her or his will;

Using lending or other credit methods to establish a debt by any person when labor or
services are pledged as a security for the debt, if the value of the labor or services as
reasonably assessed is not applied toward the liquidation of the debt, the length and nature
of the labor or service are not respectively limited and defined;

Destroying, concealing, removing, confiscating, withholding, or possessing any actual or
purported passport, visa, or other immigration document, or any other actual or purported
government identification document, of any person;

Causing or threating to cause financial harm to any person;

Enticing or luring any person by fraud or deceit; or

Providing a controlled substance as outlined in Schedule I or Schedule II of Section 893.03
to any person for the purpose of exploitation of that person.

As a person authorized to sign on behalf of Vendor, I certify under penalties of perjury that Vendor
does not use coercion for labor or services in accordance with Section 787.06. Additionally, Vendor
has reviewed Section 787.06, Florida Statutes, and agrees to abide by same.

Certified By: _ MICHAEL P. CROSBY, PRESIDENT & CEO , who is authorized to sign on behalf
of the above referenced compa Q &J
Authorized Signature: LU“'*

Print Name: MICHAEL P. CROSBY, \‘

Title:

PRESIDENT & CEO |

«»“ "%({_ DEBRA HOLMES
Notary Public - State of Florida
: ‘3..) e@ Commission # HH 422046
L2 My Comm, Expires Jul 16, 2027
N




VENDOR CERTIFICATION REGARDING
SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES LISTS

Respondent Vendor Name: MOTE MARINE LABORATORY,INC

Vendor FEIN: _0756643
Vendor’s Authorized Representative Name and Title: MICHAEL P. CROSBY, PRESIDENT & CEO

Address: _24244 OVERSEAS HIGHWAY

City: SUMMERLAND KEY State: FLORIDA

Zip: _ 33042

Phone Number: 305-745-2729

Email Address: research@mote.org

Section 287.135(2)(a), Florida Statutes, prohibits a company from bidding on, submitting a proposal for, or
entering into or renewing a contract for goods or services of any amount if, at the time of contracting or
renewal, the company is on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List, created pursuant to section
215.4725, Florida Statutes, or is engaged in a boycott of Israel. Section 287.135(2)(b), Florida Statutes, further
prohibits a company from bidding on, submitting a proposal for, or entering into or renewing a contract for
goods or services over one million dollars ($1,000,000) if, at the time of contracting or renewal, the company is
on either the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List or the Scrutinized Companies with Activities
in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, both created pursuant to section 215.473, Florida Statutes, or the
company is engaged in business operations in Cuba or Syria.

As the person authorized to sign on behalf of Respondent, I hereby certify that the company identified above
in the section entitled “Respondent Vendor Name” is not listed on either the Scrutinized Companies that
Boycott Israel List, Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List or the Scrutinized Companies with
Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List I understand that pursuant to section 287.135, Florida
Statutes, the submission of a false certification may subject such company to civil penalties, attorney’s fees,
and/or costs and termination of the contract at the option of the awarding governmental entity.

Certified By: _ MICHAEL P. CROSBY

Print Name
who is authorized to sign on behalf of the

|

PRESIDENT & CEO
Print Title

bove referenced company.
O/‘L'J’L\ r"\‘.

Authorized Signature: '
ﬁ"w’% DEBRA HOLMES
i T1 Notary Public - State of Florida
END OF SECTION 4 i %,g ﬁiﬁé Commission # HH 422044
“LET" My Comm. Expires Jul 16, 2027
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10. Project Location and Local Preference
Main Office: The Elizabeth Moore Center for Coral Reef Research and Restoration, Mote Marine
Laboratory, 24244 QOverseas Highway Summerland Key, Florida 33042

Location of Proposed Work: City of Key West; The Elizabeth Moore Center for Coral Reef Research and
Restoration, Mote Marine Laboratory, 24244 Overseas Highway Summerland Key, Florida 33042

Proposed Sample Locations: Proposed sample locations for Task 4 include 1. Smathers Beach, 3. Rest
Beach, 4. Higgs Beach, 5. Fort Zachary Taylor State Park Beach, 5. South Beach, and 6. Dog Beach, and
the mooring field (7 total stations). The overlapping beach stations with FDOH will be sampled at identical
locations.




Effective 05/20/2024 NSF BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH OMB-3145-0279

IDENTIFYING INFORMATION:
NAME: Crosby, Michael
POSITION TITLE: Chief Executive Officer

PRIMARY ORGANIZATION AND LOCATION: Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, Florida,
United States

Professional Preparation:

ORGANIZATION AND LOCATION DEGREE RECEIPT DATE FIELD OF STUDY
(if applicable)
) ) . Marine-Estuarine-
University of Maryland, Baltimore, PHD 06/1986 Environmental
Maryland, United States .
Sciences
Old Dominian University, Norfolk . .
L. . ’ ’ M 1982 M Biol
Virginia, United States 5 06/198 arine BIoTogY
Old Dominion University, Norfolk, . .
Virginia, United States BS 06/1979 Marine Biology
Appointments and Positions
2013 - present Chief Executive Officer, Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, Florida, United
States

2009 - 2010  Assoc. Vice President Research & Economic Development, George Mason
University, Fairfax, Virginia, United States

2008 - 2010  Interim Vice Chancellor Research, University of Hawaii at Hilo, Hilo, Hawaii,
United States

2003 - 2008  Executive Director, U.S. Senior Executive Service (SES), National Science
Board, Arlington, Virginia, United States

2002 - 2003  The Senior International Science Policy Advisor, Office of Under Secretary,
NOAA, Washington, District of Columbia, United States

Products
Products Most Closely Related to the Proposed Project
1. Crosby M, Busse A, Ribble J, Marshall K. Building a more inclusive and impactful marine
STEM undergraduate research experience: The Marine Science Laboratory Alliance Center of
Excellence for broadening participation. Oceanography, 36(4), 102-10. 2024,

2. Crosby M. Length-based Risk Analysis of Management Options for the southern Florida USA
Multispecies Coral Reef Fish Fishery. Fisheries Research, 249, 106210. 2022.

3. Crosby M, Graham J, Hodsdon G, Busse A. BIPOC voices in ocean sciences: A qualitative
exploration of factors impacting career retention. Journal of Geoscience Education. 2022.

4. Crosby M, Lausche B. Models for Implementing the Satoumi Concept via Residential Research
Institute Collaborations with Citizen Scientists in the United States. Ecological Monographs.
2022.

SCV Biographical Sketch v.2024-1 Page 1 of 2



5. Crosby M, Muller E, Koch H. Restored Corals Space Hope for Reefs Worldwide. The Scientist.
2021.

Other Significant Products, Whether or Not Related to the Proposed Project
Certification:

I certify that the information provided is current, accurate, and complete. This includes but is not
limited to current, pending, and other support (both foreign and domestic) as defined in 42 U.S.C. §
6605.

I also certify that, at the time of submission, I am not a party to a malign foreign talent recruitment
program.

Misrepresentations and/or omissions may be subject to prosecution and liability pursuant to, but not
limited to, 18 U.S.C. §§ 287, 1001, 1031 and 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733 and 3802.

Certified by Crosby, Michael in SciENcv on 2025-03-27 12:20:26
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Kevin Claridge
Mote Marine Laboratory,
1600 Ken Thompson Parkway, Sarasota, FL 34236
941-702-0099

Experience

Vice President (02/25/21 — Present) Associate Vice President (10/02/19 - 02/25/21)
Mote Marine Laboratory and Aquarium, Sarasota, FL

Position Duties: Oversee 35 Research Units and a Sponsored Research Programs Office managing internal and
external proposals, grants, contracts, agreements, reports, and intellectual property, for an annual research
budget exceeding $30 million dollars with over 140 multi-disciplinary staff, including 40 PhD’s, across 9
campuses; administering the Florida Red Tide Mitigation and Technology Development Initiative and Seagrass
Restoration Technology Development Initiative with the State of Florida and US Harmful Algal Bloom Control
Technologies Incubator in with the University of Maryland and NOAA; supervise the Beach Condition Reporting
System, Marine Policy Institute, and Librarian/ Archival functions; assist institutional facilities operations,
education programming, and public aquarium; track and advance overall organizational goals in institutional
strategic plan.

Director (06/25/12 - 10/01/19)
Florida Department of Environmental Protection, Office of Resilience and Coastal Protection, Tallahassee, FL

Position Duties: Supervision of approximately 200 multi-disciplinary staff in 19 office locations; executing a
$35+ million annual operating budget; overseeing millions of dollars in contracts and grants; managing
emergency response efforts; leading resource management and restoration of 4.9 million upland and marine
acres; advising on controversial and complex scientific, political, and economic issues; multi/cross-program
coordination of the Outer Continental Shelf, Coastal Zone Management, Coral Reef Conservation, Resilient
Coastlines, and Clean Boating Programs, and 41 Aquatic Preserves, 3 National Estuarine Research Reserves,
Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary; developing new and ensuring adherence to State and Federal
Statutes/Rules, Deepwater Horizon Restoration Program; directing resource trend analyses, metric
development, and program reviews; coordinating with sister agencies, Governor’s Offices, US Congress, State
Legislature, local governments, Regional Ocean Partnerships, NGO’s, stakeholders, and Universities; and
conducting presentations and communicating to the media and general public.

Assistant and Acting District Director (04/01/08 - 06/24/12)
Florida Department of Environmental Protection, Southeast District, West Palm Beach, FL

Position Duties: Leading over 140 multi-disciplinary staff in 3 regional offices; managing a $9 million annual
operating budget; responsible for regulatory issues in 6 counties covering 7027 square miles and a population
of over 6 million; managing the Administration, Environmental Resources, Waste Management, Water
Facilities, and Air Resources Programs and their adherence to Statutes/Rules/Ordinances; coordinating with
related agencies, State Governor’s Offices, State Legislature, local governments, stakeholders and Universities;
speaking in public forums; conducting environmental education/outreach such as clean marina, green lodging
and turf management recognition events; and supporting emergency response efforts.

Environmental Administrator (03/02/04 - 03/31/08)
Florida Department of Environmental Protection, Bureau of Mining and Mineral Regulation, Bartow, FL

Position Duties: Leading a branch office with resource management and regulatory responsibilities; integrating
policy and planning with land and mineral operations oversight while coordinating interagency efforts to
promote natural resources stewardship; supervising 12 staffers and a $200,000 equipment budget; assuring
adherence to Statutes/Rules; reviewing statewide mining related financial responsibility; overseeing multi-
million-dollar restoration contracts; managing 26 public lands and conservation easements covering over 42,000
acres; using GPS and GIS tools; assisting threatened wildlife relocation; recommending funding options to the
NonMandatory Reclamation Committee; and giving expert testimony in Administrative Hearings.



Environmental Specialist I/III (05/08/00 — 03/01/04)
Florida Department of Environmental Protection, Bureau of Mine Reclamation, Tallahassee and Bartow, FL

Position Duties: Processing applications for disturbances to wetlands or Waters of the State; overseeing wetland
mitigation efforts; regulating mine reclamation activities; supervising staff; working with and maintaining land
management equipment; managing public lands and conservation easements; assisting contract management;
and representing the Department in Administrative Hearings.

Education

Graduate Certificate (2002) - Public Management, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL
Master of Science (2000) - Biology, University of Memphis, Memphis, TN

Bachelor of Science (1998) - Environmental Studies, University of North Carolina, Asheville, NC
Associate of Arts (1995) - St. Petersburg College, Clearwater, FL

Additional Experiences and Training

2020 -Present
e National and SE Association of Marine Laboratories, Mote Representative
e Florida Ocean Alliance, Mote Representative
e Florida Institute of Oceanography, Mote Representative
e US Coral Reef Task Force, Restoration Work Group, Mote Representative
e Florida Sea Grant Advisory Council
¢ Aquatic Preserve Society, President

2011 - 2019
e Chair, Alliance Management Team, Gulf of Mexico Alliance
e Florida Representative, BOEM/Florida Intergovernmental Renewable Energy Task Force
¢ Gulf of Mexico Executive Committee Representative and Florida Member, Coastal States Organization
o Steering Committee, US Coral Reef Task Force
e Steering Committee Chair and Member, Governor’s South Atlantic Alliance
¢ Co-agency representative, Florida Institute of Oceanography
e Member, Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary Advisory Council
e Florida Sea Grant, Advisory Council
e Certified Prescribed Burn Manager Training
e Rapid Process Improvement Training, Practical Quality Services Inc.
e Member, South Florida Water Management District, Water Resource Advisory Commission
¢ Ex-Officio, South Florida Regional Planning Council
¢ Executive Committee, Lake Worth Lagoon Initiative
e Mentor, Leader Within Supervisor Training Program

2000 - 2010
e State of Florida Representative, Oil Response Branch Offices
¢ South Florida Representative, Green Lodging and Clean Marina Designations
e Member, Lake Worth Lagoon Selection Committee
e Water Quality Sampling and Stream Condition Indices Training
e PADI SCUBA Diving Certified
e Ex-Officio, Central Florida Regional Planning Council
¢ Reclamation Technical Advisory Committee, Florida Institute of Phosphate Research
e Landcover Change and Advanced GIS Training
e Gopher Tortoise Management and Mitigation Training
¢ Archaeological Resource Management Training
o Licensed Certified Pesticide Applicator
e Biological Invasions - 4(4): 339-347; Jan 2002, “Compensation and Plasticity in an Invasive Plant Species”



CATHERINE J. WALSH, Ph.D.
Senior Scientist, Marine Immunology Program
Mote Marine Laboratory, 1600 Ken Thompson Parkway, Sarasota, FL. 34236

RELEVANT EXPERTISE

I have 34+ years of experience conducting research in immunology with marine species, including
elasmobranch fish (sharks, skates, and rays), and threatened and endangered species, such as sea turtles
and the Florida manatee. My research focuses on assessing health of these species through basic
functional research approaches, i.e., cell culture, western blotting, cell flow cytometry, real time PCR,
ELISA, enzyme assays, and electrophoretic protocols. | have also over 18 years of experience conducting
research with immune system effects of the toxic dinoflagellate, Karenia brevis, on health of marine
species, particularly manatees and sea turtles, and demonstrated a number of immune function parameters
impacted by sublethal brevetoxin exposure. | have served as lab-wide Quality Assurance Officer for Mote
Marine Laboratory since 2000. | have been coordinator of Mote’s NSF-funded Research Experience for
Undergraduates (REU) program in Ocean Sciences since 2012,

PROFESSIONAL PREPARATION

Hope College, Holland, Ml Biology B.S. 1985
Clemson University, Clemson, SC Nutrition M.S. 1987
Clemson University, Clemson, SC Nutrition/Immunology Ph.D. 1991
Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, FL Immunology Postdoctoral ~ 1991-96

APPOINTMENTS

2000-Present  Quality Assurance Officer, Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, FL

2006-Present  Program Manager and Senior Scientist, Marine Immunology Program, Mote Marine
Laboratory, Sarasota, FL

2017-2024 Program Manager and Senior Scientist, Marine Immunology and Manatee Research
Programs, Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, FL

2017-2021 Associate Vice President for Research, Directorate of Marine Biology & Conservation,
Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, FL

2017 Courtesy Instructor, USF, Sarasota-Manatee, Principles of Immunology

2012-Present  Principal Investigator and Site Coordinator, Mote Marine Laboratory NSF-funded
Research Experience for Undergraduates

2007-Present  Adjunct Assistant Professor, Animal and Veterinary Sciences, Clemson University,
Clemson, SC

2002-2022 Patent Agent and IP Director, Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, FL

2002-2006 Manager and Staff Scientist, Marine Immunology Program, Mote Marine Laboratory,
Sarasota, FL

2003 Adjunct Instructor, Biology for Non-Majors, Manatee Community College, Bradenton,
FL

1997-2006 Staff Scientist, Marine Biomedical Program, Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, FL

1991-1996 Postdoctoral Scientist, Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, FL

1987-1991 Graduate Research Assistant, Dairy Sci. Dept., Clemson University, Clemson, SC

1985-1987 Graduate Research Assistant, Food Sci. Dept., Clemson University, Clemson, SC

1984 Laboratory Assistant, Michigan Molecular Institute, Midland, Ml

1982-1985 Laboratory Assistant, Hope College, Holland, Ml




Most relevant publications

Walsh CJ, TA Sherwood, AM Tarnecki, NR Rhody, KL Main, J Restivo. 2025. Challenges in cellular
agriculture:  lessons from Pacific white shrimp, Litopenaeus vannamei. In Vitro Cellular &
Developmental Biology — Animal. doi.org/10.1007/s11626-024-01011-0.

Walsh CJ, N Rhody, KL Main, J Restivo, AM Tarnecki. 2024. Advances in development of long-term
embryonic stem cell-like cultures from a marine fish, Sciaenops ocellatus. Curr Res Food Sci. Sep
13;9:100841. doi: 10.1016/j.crfs.2024.100841. PMID: 39319109; PMCID: PMC11421352

Doupnik CA, Luer CA, Walsh CJ, Restivo J, Brick J. 2024. Bioactive properties of venoms isolated from
whiptail stingrays and the search for molecular mechanisms and targets. Pharmaceuticals 17, 488.
https://doi.org/10.3390/ph17040488

Greene W, B Chan, E Bromage, JH Grose, C Walsh, K Kortright, S Forrest, G Perry, L Byrd. MA
Stamper. 2021. The use of bacteriophages and immunological monitoring for the treatment of a case
of chronic septicemic cutaneous ulcerative disease (SCUD) in a loggerhead sea turtle (Caretta
caretta). J Aquatic Animal Health. 33:139-154. Doi: 10.1002/aah.10130.

Lazensky R, ME Hunter, D M Amador, B Al-Khedery, F Yu, C Walsh, MA Gitzendanner, K Tripp, MT
Walsh, ND Denslow. 2020. Investigating the gene expression profiles of rehabilitated Florida
manatees (Trichechus manatus latirostris) following red tide exposure. PL0S One 15(7):e0234150.
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234150

Walsh CJ, C Cocilova, J Restivo, L Flewelling, S Milton. 2019. Immune function in Trachemys scripta
following exposure to a predominant brevetoxin congener, PbTx-3, as a model for potential health
impacts for sea turtles naturally exposed to brevetoxins. Ecotoxicology 28:1085-1104.

Perrault JP, NI Stacy, CR Mott, S Hirsch, JC Gorham, AF Lehner, JP Buchweitz, MJ Bresette, CJ
Walsh. 2017. Effects of brevetoxins and toxic elements on various health variables in Kemp’s ridley
(Lepidochelys kempii) and green (Chelonia mydas) sea turtles after a red tide bloom event. Science of
the Total Environment 605-606:967-979.

Perrault JR, KD Bauman, TM Greenan, PC Blum, MS Henry, CJ Walsh. 2016. Maternal transfer and
sublethal immune system effects of brevetoxin exposure in nesting loggerhead sea turtles (Caretta
caretta) from western Florida. Aquatic Toxicology 180:131-140.

Walsh CJ, M Butwan, J Yordy, R Ball, L Flewelling, M de Wit, RK Bonde. 2015. Sublethal red tide
toxin exposure in free-ranging manatees (Trichechus manatus latirostris) affects the immune system
through reduced lymphocyte proliferation response, inflammation, and oxidative stress. Aquatic
Toxicology 161:73-84 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.01.019

Perrault JR, JR Schmid, CJ Walsh, JE Yordy, AD Tucker. 2014. Brevetoxin exposure, oxidative stress
and plasma protein electrophoretic profiles in Kemp’s ridley sea turtles (Lepidochelys kempii) in
southwest Florida. Harmful Algae 37:194-202.

Fleming LE, B Kirkpatrick, LC Backer, CJ Walsh, K Nierenberg, J Clark, A Reich, J Hollenbeck, J
Benson, YS Cheng, J Naar, R Pierce, AJ Bourdelais, WM Abraham, G Kirkpatrick, J Zaias, A
Wanner, E Mendes, S Shalat, P Hoagland, W Stephan, S Watkins, T Clarke, DG Baden. 2011.
Review of Florida Red Tide and Human Health Effects. Harmful Algae 10(2):224-233.Walsh CJ, SR
Leggett, BJ Carter, C Colle. 2010. Effects of brevetoxin exposure on the immune system of
loggerhead sea turtles. Aquatic Toxicol. 97:293-303.

Walsh CJ, SR Leggett, BJ Carter, C Colle. 2010. Effects of brevetoxin exposure on the immune system
of loggerhead sea turtles. Aquatic Toxicol 97:293-303.

Walsh CJ, SR Leggett, MS Henry, PC Blum, S Osborn, RH Pierce. 2009. Cellular metabolism of
brevetoxin (PbTx-2) by a monocyte cell line (U-937). Toxicon 53(1):135-145.

Walsh CJ, SR Leggett, K Strohbehn, RH Pierce, JW Sleasman. 2008. Effects of in vitro brevetoxin
exposure on apoptosis and cellular metabolism in a leukemic T cell line (Jurkat). Marine Drugs 6:
291-307.

Walsh CJ, CA Luer, DR Noyes. 2005. Effects of environmental stressors on lymphocyte proliferation in
the Florida manatee, Trichechus manatus latirostris. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 103(3-4):255-264.



http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.01.019

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH - EMILY R. HALL, PH.D.
Senior Scientist/ Program Manager

Ocean Acidification Program

Chemical and Physical Ecology Program

Mote Marine Laboratory,

1600 Ken Thompson Parkway

Sarasota, FL 34236

emily8@mote.org

PROFESSIONAL PREPARATAION

Mercer University B.S., Environmental Science, 1999

Mercer University B.A., Spanish, 1999

University of Florida M.S., Environmental Engineering Sciences, 2001
University of Florida Ph.D., Environmental Engineering Sciences, 2004

PROFESSIONAL APPOINTMENTS
2021-present Program Manager/Senior Scientist, Ocean Acidification Program and Chemical
and Physical Ecology Program, Mote Marine Laboratory

2018-2021 Program Manager/Staff Scientist, Chemical and Physical Ecology Program,
Mote Marine Laboratory

2011-2021 Program Manager/Staff Scientist, Ocean Acidification Program, Mote Marine
Laboratory

2013-2018 Courtesy Professor, Biology Program, University of South Florida-Sarasota
Manatee

2009-2018 Adjunct Professor, Environmental Studies Department, Ringling College of Art
and Design

2007-2011 Staff Scientist, Chemical Ecology Program, Mote Marine Laboratory

2005-2007 Postdoctoral Scientist, Chemical Ecology Program, Mote Marine Laboratory

2004-2005 Postdoctoral Associate, Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, Environmental
Engineering Sciences, University of Florida

1999-2004 Research and Teaching Assistant / Graduate Student, Environmental

Engineering Sciences, University of Florida

RELEVANT PUBLICATIONS

2025 Lankes JD, Page HN, Quasunella A, Torkelson JF, Lemaire C, Nowicki RJ, Blasius L and
Hall ER (2025) Quantifying coral-algal interactions in an acidified ocean: Sargassum
spp. exposure mitigates low pH effects on Acropora cervicornis health. Front. Mar. Sci.
12:1487102. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2025.1487102

2024 MacVittie, S., Cuyler, E., Rose, B.J., Hall, E.R. and Krediet, C.J. Holobiont-level responses
to elevated temperature and reduced pH in Aiptasia. Bulletin of Marine Science, 100(4),
pp.693-708.

2024 Hall, E.R., Yates, K.K., Hubbard, K.A., Garrett, M.J. and Frankle, J.D. Nutrient and
carbonate chemistry patterns associated with Karenia brevis blooms in three West Florida
Shelf estuaries 2020-2023. Frontiers in Marine Science, 11, p.1331285.

2024 Devillier, V.M., Hall, E.R., Lovko, V., Pierce, R., Anderson, D.M., Lewis, K.A. Mesocosm
study of PAC-modified clay effects on Karenia brevis cells and toxins, chemical dynamics,



and  benthic invertebrate  physiology. Harmful  Algae, 134: 102609.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2024.10260.9

2024 Dilworth, J., Million, W.C., Ruggeri, M., Hall, E.R., Dungan, A.M., Muller, E.M. and
Kenkel, C.D. Synergistic response to climate stressors in coral is associated with genotypic
variation in baseline expression. Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 291(2019),
p.20232447.

2024 Klepac, C.N., Petrik, C.G., Karabelas, E., Owens, J., Hall, E.R. and Muller, E.M., Assessing
acute thermal assays as a rapid screening tool for coral restoration. Scientific Reports,
14(1): 1898.

2023 Hall, E.R., Dixon, L.K., Kirkpatrick, G.J., Nissanka, A. and Pederson, B.A. Phytoplankton
communities of the west coast of Florida—multiyear and seasonal responses to nutrient
enrichment. Harmful Algae, 130, p.102547.

2023 Klepac, C.N., Eaton, K.R., Petrik, C.G., Arick, L.N., Hall, E.R. and Muller, E.M. Symbiont
composition and coral genotype determine massive coral species performance under end-
of-century climate scenarios. Frontiers in Marine Science, 10, p.1026426.

2023 Wessel, M.R., Beck, M.W., Sherwood, E.T., Peebles, E.B., Hall, E. Establishing a
community of practice for tidal creek research using conceptual models and open science.
Florida Scientist, 86(2): 362-3609.

2022 Osborne, E., Hu, X., Hall, E.R., Yates, K., Vreeland-Dawson, J., Shamberger, K., Barbero,
L., Hernandez-Ayon, J.M., Gomez, F.A., Hicks, T. and Xu, Y.Y. Ocean acidification in
the Gulf of Mexico: Drivers, impacts, and unknowns. Progress in Oceanography, 209,
p.102882.

2022 Glibert, P.M., Cai, W.J., Hall, E.R., Li, M., Main, K.L., Rose, K.A., Testa, J.M. and
Vidyarathna, N.K. Stressing over the complexities of multiple stressors in marine and
estuarine systems. Ocean-Land-Atmosphere Research, 2022,
DOI:10.34133/2022/9787258

2022 Mallon, J., Cyronak, T., Hall, E.R., Banaszak, A.T., Exton, D.A., Bass, A.M. Light-driven
dynamics between calcification and production in functionally diverse coral reef calcifiers.
Limnology and Oceanography 9999:1-16. doi: 10.1002/In0.12002

2022 Burnham, K.A., Nowicki, R.J., Hall, E.R., Pi, J. and Page, H.N. Effects of ocean acidification
on the performance and interaction of fleshy macroalgae and a grazing sea urchin. Journal
of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 547, p.151662.

2021 Muller, E.M., Dungan, A.M., Million, W.C., Eaton, K.R., Petrik, C., Bartels, E., Hall, E.R.
and Kenkel, C.D. Heritable variation and lack of tradeoffs suggest adaptive capacity in
Acropora cervicornis despite negative synergism under climate change scenarios.
Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 288(1960), p.20210923.

2021 Page, H.N., Hewett, C., Tompkins, H. and Hall, E.R. Ocean acidification and direct
interactions affect coral, macroalga, and sponge growth in the Florida Keys. Journal of
Marine Science and Engineering, 9(7), p.739.

2020 Hall, E.R., Wickes, L., Burnett, L.E., Scott, G.I., Hernandez, D., Yates, K.K., Barbero, L.,
Reimer, J.J., Baalousha, M., Mintz, J. and Cai, W.J., 2020. Acidification in the US
Southeast: Causes, potential consequences and the role of the southeast ocean and coastal
acidification network. Frontiers in Marine Science, 7, p.548.

2015 Hall, E.R., B. DeGroot, and M. Fine. Lesion recovery of two scleractinian corals under low
pH conditions: implications for restoration efforts. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 100:321-326.



30413 Date Row, Big Pine Key, FL 33043 ﬁ
(305) 304-8307 ¢,

Melissa Sante

Highly driven Chemist with experience in Pharmaceutical and Carbonate Chemistry. Certified Six Sigma
trainer with proven expertise in management, leadership, and communication. Seeking an opportunity
with an organization that fosters growth, innovation, and professional development.

Experience

Lab Manager/Senior Chemist — Ocean Acidification Program
Mote's International Center for Coral Reef Research & Restoration, Summerland Key, FL
2021 - Present
e Lead water quality analysis for ocean acidification studies, focusing on key carbonate chemistry
parameters including total alkalinity, pH, dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC), and nutrients.
e Operate and maintain complex analytical instruments in the lab, ensuring calibration and correct
functionality.
e Manage experimental designs, coordination, and daily lab operations, including sample
processing, analysis, and data collection.
e Perform resiliency experimental data analysis for calcification, photosynthesis, and respiration
of marine species under varying acidification conditions.
e Prepare Standard Reference Materials (SRM), maintain lab safety standards, and manage
hazardous waste disposal.
Key Accomplishments:
e Trained and mentored staff and interns as Subject Matter Expert (SME) in lab instrumentation
and methodologies.
e Conducted high-impact research on the effects of ocean acidification, contributing to Mote's
mission of coral reef restoration.

QC Analyst — Tech IV Chemistry Laboratory
Bausch & Lomb Pharmaceuticals, Tampa, FL
September 2017 — February 2021
e Conducted pharmaceutical analysis of raw materials, components, and stability testing in
compliance with GMP and compendia methods (USP, EP, JP, CP, FDA).
e Supported manufacturing by performing release testing and maintaining proper calibration of
analytical equipment.
e Oversaw investigations into Out of Specification (O0S) and Out of Trend (OOT) results, initiating
root cause analysis.
e Certified as a trainer and Subject Matter Expert (SME) for QC laboratory instruments and
methods.
Key Accomplishments:
e Delivered high-quality results while adhering to rigorous GMP regulations and providing support
for drug safety and potency assessments.

Brand Ambassador
Yuengling Brewing Co-Tampa Inc., Tampa, FL
March 2016 — December 2017



e Led brewery tours, educating customers on company history, products, and operations.

e Organized promotional events and executed on/off-premise marketing strategies to increase
brand visibility.

e Managed point-of-sale (POS) transactions and inventory, ensuring customer satisfaction and
product availability.

Skills and Expertise

Analytical Technigues: HPLC, Gas Chromatography (GC), UV/IR Spectroscopy, Karl Fischer, pH meters,
and other analytical instruments.

Chemistry and Chemical Analysis: Wet Chemistry, TOC Datapro 900, Microtrac, Empower 3, and Tiamo
Software.

Laboratory Practices: GMP, GLIMS, Lean Six-Sigma, FDA Regulations, Lab Investigations, Root Cause
Analysis.

Technical Expertise: Calibration and maintenance of laboratory instruments, data verification, analytical
testing, experiment design.

Software: Microsoft Office, Empower 3, Tiamo Software, GLIMS, Catsweb, NSPDW.

Certifications: Train-The-Trainer Qualified, PADI Open Water Diver, Emergency Response Team Member.

Education

BACHELOR OF SCIENCE IN CHEMISTRY WITH FOCUS IN BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA, TAMPA, FL | DECEMBER 2016

PHARMACY TECHNICIAN CERTIFICATION
EXPRESS TRAINING SERVICES, GAINESVILLE, FL | JULY 2014

ASSOCIATE OF SCIENCE IN PHARMACY
SANTA FE COLLEGE, GAINESVILLE, FL | DECEMBER 2011

HIGH SCHOOL DIPLOMA
CORAL SHORES HIGH SCHOOL, TAVERNIER, FL | JUNE 2009

Community Involvement

Alzheimer’s Association

Coral Restoration Foundation Education
Relay for Life: American Cancer Society
Marvelous Pet Rescue

Upper Keys Rotary Club

Key Largo Lions Club

Professional Development and Certifications

Certified Six Sigma Trainer
PADI Open Water Diver, AAUS Diver
Laboratory Instrumentation and Testing Certification



513-460-9480 Megan E. Gannon gannonmegan9@gmail.com

Megan E. Gannon

21920 Disturbed Pine Rd. Cudjoe Key, FL. 33042 | 513-460-9480 | gannonmegan9@gmail.com

EDUCATION

Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN
Bachelor of Science in Agriculture
Majors: Wildlife and Fisheries & Aquatic Sciences May 2019

University of Florida, Gainesville, FL
Graduate Certificate Program

Certificate: Quantitative Fisheries Science Anticipated December 2025

WORK EXPERIENCE

Ocean Acidification Laboratory Technician | Mote Marine Laboratory | Summerland Key, FL
February 2024-Present

Fish and Wildlife Biological Scientist II | Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission |
St. Cloud, FL (Herky Huffman/Bull Creek WMA)
October 2022-February 2024

Biological Science Technician (Fish) GS-0404-05 | U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service | Soldotna, AK
(field site McGrath, AK)
July 2022-October 2022

Biological Science Technician (Aquatics) GS-0404-07 | U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service | Hurlburt
Field, FL
January-July 2022

Wildlife Biologist Aide | Sierra Pacific Industries | Fortuna, CA
March-November 2021

Biological Science Technician (Fish) GS-0404-05 | U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service | Lodi, CA
Delta Juvenile Fish Monitoring Program/ Enhanced Delta Smelt Monitoring Program
April 2020-March 2021

Biological Science Technician (Wildlife) GS-0404-05 | U. S. Forest Service | Flagstaff, AZ
Coconino National Forest
May-September 2019

Amphibian Disease and Toxicology Research Assistant | Purdue University
August 2016-May 2019

Teaching Assistant| Mammalian Taxonomy Lab| Purdue University
January 13-March 16,2018 & 2019




513-460-9480 Megan E. Gannon gannonmegan9@gmail.com

PUBLICATIONS

2021 Tornabene BJ, MF Chislock, ME Gannon, MS Sepulveda, and JT Hoverman. Relative acute
toxicity of three per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances on nine species of larval amphibians.
Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management. 17(4): 684-690.

2019 Flynn RW, MF Chislock, ME Gannon, S Bauer, B] Tornabene, JT Hoverman, and MS Sepulveda.
Lethal and sublethal effects of perfluoroalkyl substance mixtures on larval American bullfrogs
(Rana catesbeiana). Chemosphere.

2019 Hoverman JT, MF Chislock, ZA Compton, and ME Gannon. Ranavirus reservoirs: Assemblage
of American Bullfrog and Green Frog tadpoles maintains ranavirus infections across multiple
seasons. Herpetological Review. 50(2): 275-278.

CERTIFICATIONS

- Wildland Firefighter Type 1 - Rescue/Diving First Aid for Professional Divers
National Wildfire Coordinating Group NAUI

- Master Naturalist of Coastal Systems - Project WILD and Aquatic WILD
University of Florida Project Wild Outdoor Education

- Open Water Diver/Nitrox - Wilderness First-Aid and CPR
SDI Sierra Rescue

- Motorboat Operator

Department of the Interior

ADDITIONAL SKILLS

Water Quality Monitoring - Project Management and Budgeting - ESRI software and GPS - R,
Excel, SAS, SPSS, and Access statistical software - Experienced with manual transmission, 4x4 oft-
road vehicles, trailers, and small motorboats (<25ft) - Chainsaw and tractor operations -
Firearms safety




OMB No. 0925-0001 and 0925-0002 (Rev. 10/2021 Approved Through 01/31/2026)

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH
NAME: Kirstie Tandberg Francis

eRA COMMONS USER NAME (credential, e.g., agency login): K_FRANCIS

POSITION TITLE: Mote Postdoctoral Research Fellow, Molecular Microbiology

EDUCATION/TRAINING

Completion
DEGREE
. ) Date FIELD OF STUDY

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION (if applicable) MM/YYYY

University of Miami, Coral Gables, FL B.S. 05/2016 Marine Science &
Microbiology/Immunology

Florida Atlantic University, Boca Raton, FL M.S. 08/2018 Biological Sciences
Florida Atlantic University, Boca Raton, FL Ph.D. 12/2021 Integrative Biology
Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, FL Post Doc Present Molecular Microbiology

A. Personal Statement

| am a postdoctoral research fellow at Mote Marine Laboratory in Sarasota, FL, where | am developing a
research program to identify marine microbial natural products with therapeutic or commercial potential. |
completed my Ph.D. in Integrative Biology at Harbor Branch Oceanographic Institute where my research
focused on identifying marine natural products which reduced the levels of an upregulated protein called
survivin in cancer cells. Prior to my current position | completed a National Academies of Science fellowship
at NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information where | learned skills in data management,
program management, and science policy. In my current position, | am working to maintain and expand the
Mote Microbial Library through sampling of unique environments, generate a library of pre-fractionated
extracts, screen the library for various bioactivity in my own lab and through collaborations, and purify and
elucidate the structure of active compounds. | have identified preliminary activity within my pre-fractionated
extract library in antimicrobial, cancer cell cytotoxicity, and algicide assays, and am serving as lead-PIl on a
HAB CTI grant funded through NOAA to optimize and conduct a high throughput screening to identify
natural products with algicidal activity against harmful algal bloom species.

B. Positions
RESEARCH POSITIONS

2023 — Present  Postdoctoral Research Fellow, Molecular Microbiology, Mote Marine Laboratory

2021 - 2022 Gulf Research Program Science Policy Fellow, NOAA National Centers for
Environmental Information (NCEI), National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and
Medicine

2016 — 2021 Graduate Research Assistant, Wright Lab, Department of Marine Biomedical and
Biotechnology Research, Harbor Branch Oceanographic Institute, Florida Atlantic
University

2014 — 2016 Undergraduate Researcher, Schmale Lab, Department of Marine Biology and
Ecology, University of Miami, RSMAS
C. Contributions to Science

(i) Marine natural products drug discovery | have experience with high throughput screening assay
design and optimization, analytical chemistry techniques—including HPLC, mass spectrometry, and NMR—
and microbial and cancer cell culture. | have a first author publication in preparation which describes a




series of novel cholestenone natural products and their impacts on cancer cells, which exemplifies my
ability to execute a project involving cell biology, chemistry, and molecular biology. As a note, my
publication history reflects my maiden name (Tandberg, K. R.). | have been publishing under my married
name (Francis, K. T.) since 2022.

1. Guzman, E. A, Pitts, T. P., Tandberg, K. R., Winder, P. L., & Wright, A. E. (2021). Discovery of
Survivin Inhibitors Part 1: Screening the Harbor Branch Pure Compound Library. Marine Drugs,
19(2), 73. https://doi.org/10.3390/md19020073

2. Francis, K. T. (2025). Discovery of bioactive natural products from mesophotic and deep-sea
microorganisms. Florida Chapter American Society for Microbiology Conference. Fort Meyers, FL.
Oral Presentation.

3. Francis, K. T. (2024). Establishing a Drug Discovery Program at Mote Marine Lab: Identifying
Diverse Bioactivity from Marine Microorganisms. Marine Natural Products Gordon Research
Conference, Ventura, CA. Poster presentation.

4. Francis, K. T. Peterson, T. A., Winder, P. L., Guzman, E. A., & Wright, A. E. (2022). Discovery
and Investigation of Survivin-Targeting Marine Natural Products from the Deep-Water Gorgonian
Ellisella paraplexauroides. American Society of Pharmacognosy Conference, Charleston, SC.
Poster presentation.

(i) Data and project management My experience in data and project management from my NOAA NCEI
science policy fellowship has given me the skills to coordinate large research projects, manage budgets
and personnel, and maintain FAIR data practices.

1. Bassett, R., Herting, J., Frometa, J., Sharuga, S., Howell, J., Siceloff, L., Bourque, J., Cromwell, M.,
Francis, K., Clark, R., Demopoulos, A., David, A., Benson, K., Harter, S.L. (2023). Comprehensive
Inventory of Habitat Assessment and Evaluation Datasets to Support Deepwater Horizon
Mesophotic and Deep Benthic Communities. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.
DWH MDBC Data Report DR-23-01. Silver Spring, MD. 68 pp. https://doi.org/10.25923/kz7t-4674

2. Francis, K.T., Formel, S., Ronje, E., Jackson, L., Newman, M., Cromwell, M., Larsen, K. (2022).
Project Data Management Across Office and Agency Lines: DWH Oil Spill Restoration. Gulf of
Mexico Conference, Baton Rouge, LA. Oral Presentation.

3. Francis, K.T., Formel, S., Larsen, K. (2022) Starting down the road of data
management and bioinformatics. NOAA NCEI Data Stewardship Council. Virtual. Oral
Presentation.

(iii) Toxicity of Harmful Algal Blooms My background in researching the harmful algal blooms
(HABs) impacting the Indian River Lagoon has given me experience with HAB sample collection and
sample processing for toxin extraction and analysis. My current work focuses on HAB laboratory
cultures: assessing the microbial communities in different strains using 16S metagenomics and
identifying microbial extracts with algicidal activity through high throughput screening.

1. Guzman, E. A., Peterson, T. A., Winder, P. L., Francis, K. T., McFarland, M., Roberts, J. C.,
Sandle, J. & Wright, A. E. (2023). An Assessment of Potential Threats to Human Health from Algae
Blooms in the Indian River Lagoon (USA) 2018-2021: Unique Patterns of Cytotoxicity Associated
with Toxins. Toxins, 15(11), 664. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins15110664

(iv) Science communication and outreach | am motivated to use my research as a platform for ocean
conservation and as an instrument to improve the scientific literacy of the public. | regularly give lectures to
the public to explain my research and how they can get involved as well-informed citizens.

1. Francis, K. T. (2024). From the seafloor to the medicine cabinet: Establishing a natural product
drug discovery program at Mote Marine Lab. Coffee with a Scientist Lecture Series. Boca Grande
Community Center, Boca Grande, FL. Oral Presentation.

2. Francis, K. T. (2024). From the seafloor to the medicine cabinet: Establishing a natural product
drug discovery program at Mote Marine Lab. Motivational Mondays Special Lecture Series,
Sarasota, FL. Oral Presentation.

3. Francis, K. T. and Xavier, R.M. (2021). Marine Natural Products: From the seafloor to the medicine
cabinet. HBOI Ocean Discovery Center, Fort Pierce, FL. Oral Presentation.

4. Francis, K. T. (2018). Marine Natural Products as Cancer Therapies: Screening for Survivin
Inhibitors. HBOI Ocean Discovery Center, Fort Pierce, FL. Oral Presentation.




Aspen Cook
4540 S. Lockwood Ridge, Sarasota, Florida 34231
Phone: 941.323.6793
E-mail: acook@mote.org

Education:

University of Phoenix (2015-2020)
Bachelor of Science

Major: Environmental Science
Minor: Psychology

Focus Study: Linguistics

Professional Experience:

Senior Environmental Specialist, BCRS Operations Supervisor

Environmental Health Research Program, Beach Conditions Reporting System Program

Mote Marine Laboratory & Aquarium

April 2022 - present

e Manage Mote’s Beach Conditions Reporting System (BCRS), including volunteer training,
coordination, and web/app development, maintenance, and troubleshooting.

e Oversee BCRS expansion under the Florida Red Tide Mitigation & Technology
Development Initiative, FWC/FWRI Red Tide Cooperative Agreement, SECOORA &
University of South Carolina How’s the Beach Agreement, and City of Sarasota Smart City
Initiative.

e Develop and implement public education materials, including infographics and videos on
Florida red tide, water quality, and citizen science initiatives.

e Advance red tide monitoring technology in collaboration with Mote’s Phytoplankton
Ecology Program; recruit and train volunteers.

e Mentor interns, guiding project design, implementation, and communication.

e Lead proposal development, grant writing, and project management, including budget
justifications and reports.

Staff Environmental Specialist, Outreach Specialist

Environmental Health Research Program

Mote Marine Laboratory & Aquarium

October 2020 — April 2022

e Directed volunteer recruitment and training for BCRS and the HABscope programs.

e Coordinated Living Dock installations and volunteer activities for the Boca Grande Living
Docks Project.

e Created educational content, including infographics and videos, supporting red tide
monitoring and mitigation research.

e Contributed to research on red tide mitigation, laboratory studies, and citizen science
methodologies.

Research Technician

Environmental Health Research Program

Mote Marine Laboratory & Aquarium

January 2019 — October 2020




e Supported red tide research, including data collection and outreach.

e Trained volunteers for BCRS and the HABscope program, ensuring accurate reporting and
equipment management.

e Designed methodologies and training programs for future community science projects.

Environmental Health Intern

Environmental Health Research Program

Mote Marine Laboratory & Aquarium

May 2018 - January 2019

e Conducted biofuels research focused on diatom lipid production under varying conditions.

e Supported red tide research, including sample collection, filtration, and microscopy analysis
for Karenia brevis.

Publications:
e Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. Beach Conditions Reporting System. Visitbeaches.org
https://www.visitbeaches.org/

e Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (2022). Year 2 — Annual Report FY — 2021 to 2022 FWRI-
Mote Cooperative Red Tide Monitoring and Research Program. FWC Agreement No.
20034.

e Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (2023). Year 3 — Annual Report FY — 2022 to 2023 FWRI-
Mote Cooperative Red Tide Monitoring and Research Program. FWC Agreement No.
20034.

e Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. (2024). Year 4 — Annual Report FY — 2023 to 2024 FWRI-
Mote Cooperative Red Tide Monitoring and Research Program. FWC Agreement No.
20034.



https://www.visitbeaches.org/

Jon Perry, GISP

Principal Environmental Scientist

EDUCATION

Graduate Certificate,
Geographic Information
Systems, University of
South Florida

BS, Earth Science,
Norwich University

30 YEARS OF
EXPERIENCE

CERTIFICATIONS/
REGISTRATIONS

Certified Geographic
Information Systems
Professional, #58956

FDEP Qualified
Stormwater Management
Inspector, #8899

SPECIALIZED
EXPERIENCE

EFDC Hydrodynamic and
Water Quality Models

GIS

HEC-GeoRAS
Microsoft Products
SAS

SIMPLE Model

Jon has more than 30 years of experience collecting and analyzing the physical,
chemical, and biological properties of aquatic systems throughout Florida. His areas of
expertise include monitoring design, watershed assessment (status and trends),
pollutant loading and hydrodynamic modeling, and geographic information system
technology. He has regulatory experience with developing Minimum Flows and Levels
(MFLs), Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs), Reasonable Assurance Plan
development, and National Pollution Discharge Elimination Systems (NPDES) reporting.
His principal responsibilities are focused on providing clients with technical analysis to
aid decision making.

Relevant Experience

Brevard County, Indian River Lagoon (IRL) Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) Revision,
Brevard County, FL. Water Quality Specialist - Seagrass Target Revisions, Nutrient
Loading Target Development. As a subcontractor, ESA (formerly Janicki Environmental)
assisted in the update and revision of the TMDLs for the water body segments within
the IRL. The initial phase of this project included data compilation, assessment, and
TMDL approach development. Using the data compiled and following the approach, the
objective of the second phase was determination of targets and assimilative capacity for
the IRL and development of TMDL load reductions. ESA (formerly Janicki
Environmental) worked closely with stakeholders and the Florida Department of
Environmental Protection in development of the approach for TMDL revision, and
provided extensive evaluation of empirical relationships between loadings, water
quality, and seagrass. Jon's responsibilities included developing of seagrass targets and
the evaluation of empirical relationships between loadings and water quality and
seagrass responses. (ATM)

Choctawhatchee Bay Estuary Program, Development of a Comprehensive Conservation
and Management Plan (CCMP) for the Choctawhatchee Bay Estuary, Okaloosa County, FL.
Water Quality/Regulatory Specialist. This project involves development of the CCMP for
Choctawhatchee Bay Estuary. The watershed includes portions of Southeast Alabama as
well as four Florida counties. The CCMP will provide a blueprint for the management
actions to be implemented to improve water quality and protect key living resources
and their habitats. Critical elements of a successful CCMP include commitments on the
part of its stakeholders, public participation including education tools, and monitoring
plans that can track progress toward program goals and objectives. SF330: 2022-2024;
Total Project Value: $399,522; w/Firm; Client Reference: Brian Underwood, Executive
Director; 1540 Miracle Strip Parkway, SE, Fort Walton Beach, FL. 32548; 850-609-5382;
bunderwood@myokaloosa.com DJ20232009.00

City of Cape Coral, Permitting Assistance Regarding the South Spreader Canal, Cape Coral,
FL. Water Quality Specialist. Jon provided technical support in the development of the
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Environmental Fluid Dynamics Code (EFDC) hydrodynamic model used to support the permit application for the
removal of the Chiquita Lock on the city’s South Spreader Canal. Jon assisted the City staff in gathering the necessary
hydrologic data used in the calibration of the model. He gathered, performed the necessary quality assurance/quality
control activities, and formatted the water quality, meteorological, and hydrologic data used to drive the EFDC model.
He also conducted the water quality analysis, particularly as it relates to the Caloosahatchee Total Maximum Daily
Load.

City of Dunedin and Pinellas County, Curlew Creek/Smith Bayou Watershed Management Plan (Pinellas County), and
Stormwater Master Plan and Vulnerability Assessment (City of Dunedin), FL. Water Quality Specialist/Modeler. Jon was
part of the team at ESA (formerly Janicki Environmental) providing water quality and modeling assistance to the
development of the City of Dunedin and Curlew Creek Master Plans. He was responsible for the collection, cataloging,
and analysis of the available water quality data and the implementation of the Spatially Integrated Model for Pollutant
Loading Estimates (SIMPLE) model for both projects. Implementation included the development of the input data,
estimation of loads, and the identification of “hotspots.” The project provided both the City of Dunedin and Pinellas
County with the information to make informed decisions to improve surface water quality in these areas.

City of Plant City, Water Quality Based Effluent Limitation (WQBEL) for the Plant City Water Reclamation Facility, Plant
City, FL. Water Quality Specialist. Jon assisted in the design and implemented the water quality and quantity study
plan used to gather data for the calibration of the QUAL2w model, an in-stream water quality model, developed for the
study area. This effort included coordination with landowners to get access to sampling locations, conducting the
sampling events, and coordinating with the analytical laboratory. He also assisted in the development of the model
inputs, and preparation of the final report for submittal to the City and FDEP.

City of St. Petersburg, 2018 Water Quality Report Card and Trends, St. Petersburg, FL. Water Quality/Regulatory
Specialist. The City requested assistance in developing the water quality report card for 2018, and providing
associated information related to trend test results in water quality constituents. ESA was a subcontractor in this
effort. Jon compiled, provided quality assurance/quality control, and analysis of water quality data. Portions of the
City are included in the watersheds of Old Tampa Bay, Middle Tampa Bay, and Boca Ciega Bay. The results of the
water quality assessment were reported in the Water Quality Report Card technical memo for each watershed, with
maps of spatial variability and tables of temporal variability with associated time series graphics. The Time-series
Trend Analysis tech memo provided results of temporal trend tests over the 2003-2018 period. SF330: Cost: $22,600;
2018_N/A, w/Firm (Subcontractor to ARO Engineering)

City of St. Petersburg, 2021 Water Quality Report Card, National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Report Card,
and Normalized Loads, St. Petersburg, FL. Water Quality/Regulatory Specialist. Jon supported the execution of this
project, which ESA is completing for the City as a subcontractor. The work effort included development of pollutant
loads from the City for the 2017-2021 period and included the results of non-parametric temporal trend analyses on
water quality data. The 2021 Water Quality Report Card was completed, to include detailed information and relevant
discussion for the City’s Ambient Water Quality Monitoring Program. The report card included a color-coded grading
system to categorize water quality relative to state regulatory and site-specific management thresholds. SF330: Cost:
$59,000; 2023 (ongoing)_N/A, w/Firm (Subcontractor to Geosyntec)

City of West Palm Beach, West Palm Beach Baseline Water Quality Report, West Palm Beach, FL. Water Quality
Specialist. Jon was the lead in development of the City’s Source Water Quality and Hydrology Baseline Report. The City
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has been monitoring surface waters for a number of years and needed assistance assembling the City’s water quality
and quantity data into a usable format, including summary tables, maps and Time-series plots. This project included
an extensive quality assurance effort, requiring several iterations to standardize data attributes collected over 7
years. Jon also developed the City’s National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Municipal Separate Storm Sewer
System (MS4) Assessment Plan and prepared the first summary report for inclusion with the City’s Year-2 Annual
Report.

City of West Palm Beach, West Palm Beach Stormwater Master Plan, West Palm Beach, FL. Water Quality Specialist. As a
member of the West Palm Beach Stormwater Master Plan development team, Jon compiled the City’s internal water
quality data along with datasets from the Florida Department of Environment Protection's (FDEP’s) Impaired Waters
Rule Dataset and the South Florida Water Management District's DBHYDRO database. This dataset was analyzed to
determine the spatial and temporal variations within the City’s waterbodies including Clear Lake, Lake Mangonia,
Grassy Waters, and Lake Worth Lagoon, among others. Comparisons were also made between this ambient water
quality and the loading estimates developed using the Spatially Integrated Model for Pollutant Loading Estimates
(SIMPLE) model to prioritize areas in need of stormwater retrofits or other management actions. He also interacted
with FDEP on the review of the most recent impairment list for the Lake Worth Lagoon Basin Group, identifying
errors in FDEP's analysis that led to the removal of several impairments from the list.

*Coastal Heartland and National Estuary Partnership and Sarasota Bay Estuary Program, Development of Estuarine
Numeric Nutrient Criteria (NNC) for Sarasota Bay and Charlotte Harbor, FL. Water Quality Specialist - Review of
Methodology, Review of Criteria. This project resulted in proposed estuarine NNC for the individual bay segments of
Charlotte Harbor and Sarasota Bay. Analyses included evaluations of stressor-response relationships between
loadings, water quality conditions, and seagrass extents; and selection of the most appropriate methodology for
establishing water quality targets. The proposed NNC resulting from these projects were adopted by rule by Florida
Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP). Jon was a member of the technical advisory committees of both
estuary programs during the development of these efforts providing data, quality assurance/quality control, and
technical review. Also, during this statewide effort to develop NNC, his review of the proposed stream criteria led to
the correction of FDEP and United States Environmental Protection Agency nutrient regions.

Collier County, Surface Water Quality Annual Assessment and Trend Report, Collier County, FL. Project Manager
(Second and Third Iteration). Jon was the project manager for second and third iterations, which involved the analysis
of a 25-year water quality dataset to summarize existing conditions in the County’s surface waters. Analyses included
presentation of spatial and temporal trends in water quality. Nutrient load estimates were prepared using empirical
water quality and flow data. Changes in water quality and loads were compared to land use and climatological events
to determine the driver of change.

*Development of the Spatially Integrated Model for Pollutant Loading Estimates (SIMPLE), Sarasota County. NPDES
Coordinator/Water Quality Technical Advisor. While with Sarasota County, Jon was the NPDES coordinator and water
quality technical advisor for the stormwater group. He worked with the contractors to develop the SIMPLE watershed
loading model for Sarasota County, a GIS-based model that provides monthly estimates of loadings to Sarasota’s
receiving waters from various sources. His work prioritizing the County’s Phillippi Creek Septic System Replacement
Program was incorporated into the septic loading module of the model. The model was accepted by the Southwest
Florida Water Management District and used in the development of four of the County’s watershed management plans
and in other areas throughout the state.
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Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT), As-Needed Regulatory Review, FL. Water Quality/Regulatory Specialist.
Jon was a member of a team that was called upon by FDOT to review and comment on regulatory actions by the
Florida Department of Environmental Protection. Such actions include Impaired Waters Rule assessments, Total
Maximum Daily Loads, Basin Management Actions Plans, and Reasonable Assurance Plans. Many of these interactions
included the submission of comments on the behalf of FDOT. Since FDOT activities cover the full extent of the State,
this effort involves interacting with various agencies and stakeholder groups on a wide variety of water quality
issues.

Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT), Peer Review of the Loxahatchee River Reasonable Assurance Plan, FL.
Water Quality/Regulatory Specialist. The Loxahatchee River Council, on the behalf of local stakeholders, has
partnered with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) to lead the development of the
Loxahatchee River Reasonable Assurance Plan (RAP) directed at reduction of nutrient loadings to the Loxahatchee
River estuary. ESA, under an agreement with the Florida Department of Transportation, has been reviewing the effort
and providing technical comments on behalf of FDOT. The focus of the review has been the identification of the water
quality goals and the development of the loading model proposed for use by FDEP, the Partial Least Squares Modeling
(PLSM) model, and identifying any potential difficulties that may arise. The development of the RAP is ongoing.

Indian River County, Blue Cypress Lake Water Quality Study, Indian River County, FL. Water Quality/Regulatory
Specialist/Modeler. ESA was a member of a team contracted by Indian River County to gather and assess water
quality data associated with Blue Cypress Lake, including permitted use of land application of biosolids, to identify
causative factors for water quality trends in the lake. Blue Cypress Lake has been recognized as relatively pristine and
used a reference lake in the development of state water quality standards, classified by FDEP as a Class 1 (potable
water supply) waterbody. The lake was experiencing an upward trend in total phosphorous (TP) since 2006 which
accelerated since 2014, with the lake recently experiencing Microsystis blooms, potentially introducing toxins into the
drinking water supply. The primary land use in the Blue Cypress Lake watershed is agricultural, and the use of
fertilizers, with the addition of biosolids since 2006, the most likely sources of phosphorus delivered to the lake.
Applications of Class B biosolids at the Pressley Ranch, downstream of any tributary monitoring site, began in 2013.
YESA completed an analysis of tributary water quality representing the three major surface water sources to the lake,
with no similar increasing trend in TP found in these waters. A phosphorus budget was developed for Blue Cypress
Lake based on measured incoming TP concentrations and modeled hydrologic fluxes. This budget indicated that prior
to 2013, TP inputs to the lake exceeded outputs from the lake. Since 2013, more phosphorus began leaving the lake
than entering the lake, indicating an unaccounted for source of phosphorus. Beginning in 2013 the annual TP
application rate downstream of the tributary water quality sampling stations on Pressley Ranch averaged
approximately 200,000 pounds per year (Ib/year). This application rate implies that if only 10 percent of the
phosphorus in those biosolids reaches the lake, it would account for all the unaccounted-for phosphorus in the budget
analysis. Class B biosolids applications in the Blue Cypress Lake watershed are based on the agronomic needs of
nitrogen (not phosphorus) for hay production with the assumption based on site-specific testing, which indicated that
phosphorus could generally be taken up by the crop or retained by the soils. The resulting phosphorus loading to the
lake averages close to 10 times the agronomic needs. {The results of the study were presented to the Board of County
Commissioners of Indian River County, which then extended a moratorium on the application of Class B biosolids in
Indian River County. 2018
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Pasco County Continuing Services, NPDES/TMDL/BMAP Support, New Port Richey, FL. Water Quality/Regulatory
Specialist. This project included data analysis and review, document review, and meeting attendance, facilitation, and
reporting. ESA worked with a group of local stakeholders, including Pasco County, Hillsborough County, Pinellas
County, the City of Tampa, and FDOT in a formal challenge to a group of TMDLs proposed by FDEP and EPA, including
more than 20 tidal tributaries of Tampa Bay. Efforts included working with FDEP to develop paths forward to arrive
at appropriately revised TMDLs for selected waterbodies. Tony worked closely with County, FDEP, and EPA staff for
this effort. SF330: Cost: $123,525,2015_N/A, w/Firm

Sarasota Bay Estuary Program (SBEP), Sarasota Bay Water Quality Assessment and Strategy, Sarasota County, FL. Water
Quality Specialist/Modeler. SBEP was interested in initiating efforts to address pending impairment listings for its
estuarine waterbodies for nutrients and chlorophyll a. Tasks included convening a water quality consortium
consisting of local stakeholders, the acquisition of existing data, estimating pollutant loads, and determining estuarine
responses related to pollutant loads and estuarine water quality. Jon was responsible with the compilation of the
water quality database and with updating the SBEP SIMPLE pollutant loading model to create a 20-year record of
monthly loading estimates. Loadings were estimated for a variety of sources: direct runoff, baseflow, point sources,
accidental releases (sewer spills), septic system, reclaimed water irrigation, and atmospheric deposition. The
reclaimed water irrigation module built upon the original irrigation module, which now accounts for actual volumes
and concentrations delivered to reclaimed customers. Subsequent phases of this project will lead to the development
of a reasonable assurance plan for the SBEP estuaries.

Sarasota Bay Estuary Program, Southwest Florida Tidal Creeks Numeric Nutrient Study, Sarasota, FL. Water Quality
Specialist. ESA (formerly Janicki Environmental) led an EPA-funded study to recommend management level nutrient
targets and thresholds for southwest Florida tidal creeks. Responsibilities included developing a definition of a tidal
creek for the study, development of a conceptual management and ecological model to formulate study hypotheses,
development of a creek classification and selection process, design of a sampling scheme for a 1-year field study of 16
tidal creeks in southwest Florida, and oversight of the collection and analysis of the resulting data. The objective of the
study was to better understand the dynamics between creek watershed inputs, instream processes, and biological
responses in order to develop management criteria by which these creeks can be evaluated over time. The findings of
the study are intended to guide management decisions to establish water quality standards for tidal creeks that will
maintain and enhance fisheries production among other ecosystem services. The project included evaluation of
relationships between landscape characteristics, instream processes, and biological responses as characterized by
water column and benthic chlorophyll concentrations, shoreline habitats, and fish community structure in the
selected creeks. Together, these data were used to provide a weight of evidence recommending protective nutrient
standards related to maintaining biological integrity for southwest Florida tidal creeks and a mechanism by which
these creeks can be evaluated over time to help ensure the proper stewardship of these critical estuarine resources.
While with Sarasota County, Jon, in this partnership, provided expert local knowledge and logistical support. After
joining ESA (formerly Janicki Environmental), he assisted in data collection activities and data quality control and
analysis.

*Sarasota County, Development of Four Coastal Watershed Management Plans for Sarasota County: Sarasota Bay,
Roberts Bay North, Little Sarasota Bay, and Lemon Bay, Sarasota County, FL. County Reviewer. Jon served as County
Reviewer for this project that developed watershed management plans for the four coastal watersheds of Sarasota
County. The County was seeking an integrated management approach that aligned with the Southwest Florida Water
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Management District's four areas of responsibility: natural systems, water quality, water supply, and flood control.
Once status and trends were identified and the needs for retrofits were established, concept plans were developed
around the four AORs and presented to the County for consideration. (2007-2012)

Sarasota County, Sarasota Bay Watershed Management Plan Best Management Practices Analysis, Sarasota County, FL.
Water Quality Specialist/Modeler. As a member of the team developing the Sarasota Bay Watershed Management
Plan, ESA (formerly Janicki Environmental) provided water quality and pollutant load modeling assistance as part of
the Best Management Practices Analysis. Jon was responsible for the collection, cataloging, and analysis of the
available water quality data and the implementation of the Spatially Integrated Model for Pollutant Loading Estimates
(SIMPLE) pollutant loading model developed for Sarasota County. The implementation included estimating loads,
establishing loading targets, and the identifying of stormwater pollutant “hotspots.” The project provided Sarasota
County a menu of projects that could be implemented to reduce the quantity and quality of stormwater runoff
contributing to flooding and water quality impairments.

Sarasota County, Spatially Integrated Model for Pollutant Loading Estimates (SIMPLE) Model Update and 2021 Year-3
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Report, Sarasota County, FL. Project Manager - Data
Management, Model Development . Sarasota County contracted with ESA (formerly Janicki Environmental) to update
the SIMPLE model for all of Sarasota County and provide Year-3 NPDES pollutant loading reports for the City of
Sarasota, City of Venice, the Sarasota County portion of the Town of Longboat Key, and unincorporated Sarasota
County. The update included spatial and tabular input information including changes in land use, the location of new
stormwater Best Management Practices, areas served by septic systems, and reclaimed water irrigation. The Year-3
annual report included graphical and tabular outputs and comparisons to previous loading estimates. Jon was the lead
on this project based on his prior experience with SIMPLE and Sarasota County.

Southwest Florida Water Management District, Little Manatee River Minimum Flows and Levels, Brooksville, FL. Water
Quality Specialist - Floodplain Inundation Frequency Analysis, Database Management Jon provided technical
assistance as part of an effort to develop regulatory minimum flow standards for both the freshwater and estuarine
segments of the Little Manatee River (Florida). He conducted the floodplain inundation frequency analysis using HEC-
GeoRAS, a collection of procedures and tools for processing HEC-RAS model output in a geospatial environment in
ArcGIS. The results from this and other analyses were used to develop recommendations for establishing a proposed
low flow cutoff and percent flow reduction criteria protective of the ecological integrity of the estuarine segment of
the Little Manatee River as well as additional efforts to improve empirical information necessary to make informed
decisions on the potential effects of future water use permits in the Little Manatee River watershed.

St. Johns River Water Management District, Minimum Flow and Level (MFL) Determination for Wekiva River System, FL.
Water Quality Specialist. Jon was part of the ESA/Applied Technology and Management Team that assisted the District
in determination of MFLs for Wekiva River, Little Wekiva River, Rock Springs, and Wekiwa Springs. The effort
included evaluation of hydrological, biological, and water quality data and identification of data needs. The Team also
assisted the District in identification of critical water resource value (WRV) metrics and the development of
hydrologic and hydraulic models. The results of this effort were a Technical Memorandum developed by the Team and
the District presenting a detailed strategy for determining and evaluating environmental criteria on the Wekiva River
System.
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Suwannee River Water Management District, Ecofina and Steinhatchee Minimum Flows and Levels (MFLs), FL. Water
Quality Specialist. Jon contributed to the development of both the Ecofina River and Steinhatchee River MFLs. As a
member of the team, his primary contribution was providing the description of the river and its watershed including
the physical, morphological, hydrological, habitat, and water quality characteristics. This included the compilation and
analysis of water quality data, a literature search, and geospatial analysis.

Suwannee River Water Management District, Econfina River Minimum Flows and Levels (MFLs), Live Oak, FL. Water
Quality Specialist - Data Management Geospatial Analysis, Reporting. Jon provided the description of the river and its
watershed including the physical, morphological, hydrological, habitat and water quality characteristics. This included
the compilation and analysis of water quality data, a literature search and geospatial analysis. He also provided
technical and GIS assistance to other team members during development of the MFL.

*Tampa Bay Estuary Program, Technical Support and Data Management Services - Tampa Bay Nitrogen Management
Consortium (TBNMC). Water Quality Specialist. This effort included data analysis and evaluation of loadings to assist
in arriving at entity-specific nitrogen load allocations as part of the effort by local stakeholders in Tampa Bay and the
Tampa Bay Estuary Program in the development of the 2009 Reasonable Assurance Addendum: Allocation and
Assessment Report. This report synthesized more than 3 years of effort among the stakeholders group, TBNMC, to
develop nitrogen load allocations for all entities and major sources within the Tampa Bay watershed, consistent with
the federally recognized nitrogen Total Maximum Daily Load for Tampa Bay. As a TBNMC member representative
while working for Sarasota County, Jon provided data required for assessing the load allocation for the County.

Various Clients, As-Needed Regulatory Review, FL. Water Quality/Regulatory Specialist. Jon provides ongoing technical
support services for many clients regarding regulatory actions taken by the Florida Department of Environmental
Protection, including Impaired Waters Rule assessments, and the development of Total Maximum Daily Loads and
Basin Management Actions Plans. This effort often involves interacting with various agencies and stakeholder groups
on a wide variety of water quality issues around the state.

Volusia County, Mosquito Lagoon Reasonable Assurance Plan, DeLand, FL. Water Quality Specialist - Numeric Nutrient
Criteria Review and Revision, Data Analysis, Statistical Evaluation. Jon was a member of the team that developed the
Mosquito Lagoon Reasonable Assurance Plan for Volusia County and several municipal stakeholders. He was
responsible for the review of the existing numeric nutrient criteria and proposing updated criteria following the
methodology laid out by Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP). He also reviewed the existing
seagrass and water quality data and searched for statistically significant relationships between the ambient water
quality data and watershed loads and intersegment fluxes using empirical models to determine nutrient loading
targets. A reference period approach was used to propose targets until a mechanistic modeling approach becomes
available. The results of this project provided Volusia County and the other stakeholders a plan to protect Mosquito
Lagoon and provided FDEP and United States Environmental Protection Agency assurance that Mosquito Lagoon will
meet its designated use.

Walton County, Coastal Dune Lake Study, Walton County, FL. Water Quality Specialist. The project team was tasked
with examining and reporting on the degree of current impact and how future land use changes could affect water
quality conditions in Walton County’s Coastal Dune Lakes. To achieve the first objective of this study, Jon related
current water quality conditions to watershed characteristics and pollutant loading to predict lake response to future
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watershed changes. This information allowed development of a technically defensible framework for assessing
changes and recommending targets that are feasible, achievable, and measurable.

*Prior experience
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305-797-3996
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Cleaver

Experience

2020 - Present Jacobs/OMI Key West, FL
Project Manager/Technical Director - City of Key West WWTP

Responsible for the overall management and leadership of the project
including profit and loss, permit compliance, safety, quality, and client
relationship management. Also provides leadership and management for
all 32 employee functions including staffing, compensation, training and
development, progressive discipline, rewards and recognition, and
termination in accordance with standard company policy. Also
responsible for the planning, organization, operations, maintenance, and
improvement of the facility.

Project Facts
Budget: $5.4 million/year
Staff: 32 with 4 Supervisors

Essential Duties and Responsibilities

¢ Implementing Jacobs safety policy and procedures

¢ Maintaining the operation process control including compliance with
regulatory agencies

¢ Developing and administering the project financial plan and budget
¢ Providing leadership in OMI's quality process

¢ Following company policy and procedure

¢ Developing the annual Project Business Plan

2004—Present Jacobs/OMI Key West, FL
Laboratory Director City of Key West WWTP

=  Supervise all Laboratory and Operations staff in the daily laboratory
responsibilities.

= Responsible for obtaining and maintaining Florida Lab Certification
under the National Environmental Lab Accreditation Conference
(NELAC) guidelines.

= Monitor a comprehensive quality assurance program in order to
assure perfect compliance and reporting.

= Supervise the taking of all samples for laboratory tests applying all
state and federal requirements and special analyses

= Advises Project Manager of results of various tests performed, and
makes recommendations regarding the improvement of laboratory
procedures, special studies and future laboratory operations

= Prepares reports and makes recommendations regarding laboratory
record-keeping, reporting, operations, monitoring and control activities

Regional Lab Coordinator — Southeast Region

e Provide Lab and Compliance assistance to Southeast Project
Laboratories. Review monthly QAQC reports from project
laboratories. Participate in various troubleshooting teams to
address compliance concerns.



Education

Interests

2002-2004 Florida Department of Health Key West, FL
Environmental Health Inspector

= Inspector for Environmental Health in the following areas: Food
Safety, Public Pools, Biomedical waste and Onsite Sewage Treatment
and Disposal.

1986-1992 Northeastern Analytical Corp. Marlton, NJ
Laboratory Manager

= Environmental Lab Manager for a staff of 20 in the Inorganics and
Microbiology Labs (Wet Chemistry, Trace Metals and Microbiology).

1984-1986 Environmental Measurements Hammonton, NJ
Trace Metals Analyst
= Trace Metals Analyst using flame, furnace and cold vapor AA.

= 1980-1984 — Rowan University, Glassboro, NJ
= B.S. Biological Science

=  Florida Society of Environmental Analysts
=  The NELAC Institute Member
= Coach High School Football (Key West High School)
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HEALTH
State of Florida

Department of Health, Bureau of Public Health Laboratories
This is to certify that

E84091

MOTE MARINE LABORATORY
1600 KEN THOMPSON PARKWAY
SARASOTA, FL 34236

has complied with Florida Administrative Code 64E-1,
for the examination of environmental samples in the following categories

NON-POTABLE WATER - GENERAL CHEMISTRY

Continued certification is contingent upon successful on-going compliance with the NELAC Standards and FAC Rule 64E-1

regulations. Specific methods and analytes certified are cited on the Laboratory Scope of Accreditation for this laboratory and

are on file at the Bureau of Public Health Laboratories, P. O. Box 210, Jacksonville, Florida 32231. Clients and customers are
urged to verify with this agency the laboratory's certification status in Florida for particular methods and analytes.

Date Issued: July 01, 2024  Expiration Date: June 30, 2025

YR A

Marie-Claire Rowlinson, PhD, D(ABMM)
Bureau of Public Health Laboratories
DH Form 1697, 7/04
NON-TRANSFERABLE E84091-30-07/01/2024
Supersedes all previously issued certificates




Ron DeSantis

Governor

HEALTH

Laboratory Scope of Accreditation
Attachment to Certificate #: E84091-30, expiration date June 30, 2025. Thislisting of accredited

Page 1 of 1

analytes should be used only when associated with a valid certificate.

StateLaboratory ID: E84091 EPA Lab Code: FL 00191 (941) 388-4441
E84091
Mote Marine Laboratory
1600 Ken Thompson Par kway
Sarasota, FL 34236
Matrix:  Non-Potable Water
Analyte## Analyte Method/Tech Method Code  Category Effective Date
1515 AmmoniaasN SM 4500-NH3 G-2011 20111415 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1530 Biochemical oxygen demand SM 5210 B-2011 20135266 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1555 Carbonaceous BOD (CBOD) SM 5210 B-2011 20135266 Genera Chemistry 10/9/2018
9345 Chlorophylls EPA 445 10081400 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
9345 Chlorophylls SM 10200 H 20300225 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
1605 Color SM 2120 B-2011 20039310 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1605 Color SM 2120 C 20002000 Genera Chemistry 9/26/2019
1610 Conductivity EPA 120.1 10006403 General Chemistry 7/6/2010
1610 Conductivity SM 2510 B-2011 20048617 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1795 Kjeldahl nitrogen - total EPA 351.2 10065404 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
1810 Nitrate asN EPA 353.2 10067604 Genera Chemistry 1/9/2002
1820 Nitrate-nitrite EPA 353.2 10067604 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
1840 Nitriteas N EPA 353.2 10067604 General Chemistry 12/23/2005
1865 Organic nitrogen TKN minus AMMONIA 60034437 General Chemistry 3/3/2008
1870 Orthophosphate as P EPA 365.1 10070005 Genera Chemistry 1/9/2002
1870 Orthophosphate as P SM 4500-P F-2011 20125024 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1910 Phosphorus, total EPA 365.4 10071202 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
1955 Residue-filterable (TDS) SM 2540 C-2011 20050413 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1960 Residue-nonfilterable (TSS) SM 2540 D-2011 20051212 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1970 Residue-volatile SM 2540 E-2011 20051596 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1975 Salinity SM 2520 B 20004006 General Chemistry 7/6/2010
1995 Silica-dissolved USGS 1-2700-85 40005605 General Chemistry 12/23/2005
2005 Sulfide SM 4500-S2° F-2011 20126663 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1725 Total, fixed, and volatile residue SM 2540 G 20005203 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
2055 Turbidity SM 2130 B-2011 20048220 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
2058 Un-lonized Ammonia DEP SOP 02/12/01 90015820 General Chemistry 3/3/2008
Clientsand Customers are urged to verify thelaboratory's current certification statuswith  Certification Type NELAP

the Environmental Laboratory Certification Program.

I ssue Date: 7/1/2024

Expiration Date: 6/30/2025
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HEALTH
State of Florida

o IANOY < Department of Health, Bureau of Public Health Laboratories
This is to certify that

Ny -
la ) e s ey

E55389

CITY OF KEY WEST WWTP LABORATORY
TRUMBO POINT ANNEX, FLEMING KEY
KEY WEST, FL 33040

has complied with Florida Administrative Code 64E-1,
for the examination of environmental samples in the following categories

NON-POTABLE WATER - GENERAL CHEMISTRY, NON-POTABLE WATER - MICROBIOLOGY

Continued certification is contingent upon successful on-going compliance with the NELAC Standards and FAC Rule 64E-1

regulations. Specific methods and analytes certified are cited on the Laboratory Scope of Accreditation for this laboratory and

are on file at the Bureau of Public Health Laboratories, P. O. Box 210, Jacksonville, Florida 32231. Clients and customers are
urged to verify with this agency the laboratory's certification status in Florida for particular methods and analytes.

Date Issued: July 01, 2024  Expiration Date: June 30, 2025

YR A

Marie-Claire Rowlinson, PhD, D(ABMM)
Bureau of Public Health Laboratories
DH Form 1697, 7/04
NON-TRANSFERABLE E55389-24-07/01/2024
Supersedes all previously issued certificates




Ron DeSantis

Governor

HEALTH

Laboratory Scope of Accreditation
Attachment to Certificate #: E84091-30, expiration date June 30, 2025. Thislisting of accredited

Page 1 of 1

analytes should be used only when associated with a valid certificate.

StateLaboratory ID: E84091 EPA Lab Code: FL 00191 (941) 388-4441
E84091
Mote Marine Laboratory
1600 Ken Thompson Par kway
Sarasota, FL 34236
Matrix:  Non-Potable Water
Analyte## Analyte Method/Tech Method Code  Category Effective Date
1515 AmmoniaasN SM 4500-NH3 G-2011 20111415 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1530 Biochemical oxygen demand SM 5210 B-2011 20135266 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1555 Carbonaceous BOD (CBOD) SM 5210 B-2011 20135266 Genera Chemistry 10/9/2018
9345 Chlorophylls EPA 445 10081400 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
9345 Chlorophylls SM 10200 H 20300225 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
1605 Color SM 2120 B-2011 20039310 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1605 Color SM 2120 C 20002000 Genera Chemistry 9/26/2019
1610 Conductivity EPA 120.1 10006403 General Chemistry 7/6/2010
1610 Conductivity SM 2510 B-2011 20048617 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1795 Kjeldahl nitrogen - total EPA 351.2 10065404 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
1810 Nitrate asN EPA 353.2 10067604 Genera Chemistry 1/9/2002
1820 Nitrate-nitrite EPA 353.2 10067604 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
1840 Nitriteas N EPA 353.2 10067604 General Chemistry 12/23/2005
1865 Organic nitrogen TKN minus AMMONIA 60034437 General Chemistry 3/3/2008
1870 Orthophosphate as P EPA 365.1 10070005 Genera Chemistry 1/9/2002
1870 Orthophosphate as P SM 4500-P F-2011 20125024 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1910 Phosphorus, total EPA 365.4 10071202 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
1955 Residue-filterable (TDS) SM 2540 C-2011 20050413 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1960 Residue-nonfilterable (TSS) SM 2540 D-2011 20051212 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1970 Residue-volatile SM 2540 E-2011 20051596 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1975 Salinity SM 2520 B 20004006 General Chemistry 7/6/2010
1995 Silica-dissolved USGS 1-2700-85 40005605 General Chemistry 12/23/2005
2005 Sulfide SM 4500-S2° F-2011 20126663 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
1725 Total, fixed, and volatile residue SM 2540 G 20005203 General Chemistry 1/9/2002
2055 Turbidity SM 2130 B-2011 20048220 General Chemistry 10/9/2018
2058 Un-lonized Ammonia DEP SOP 02/12/01 90015820 General Chemistry 3/3/2008
Clientsand Customers are urged to verify thelaboratory's current certification statuswith  Certification Type NELAP

the Environmental Laboratory Certification Program.

I ssue Date: 7/1/2024

Expiration Date: 6/30/2025
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Acronyms and Abbreviations Used in this Document
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Quality Assurance Committee
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3.0 STATEMENT OF POLICY

3.1 Description and History

Mote Marine Laboratory (MML) is an independent, nonprofit marine research organization
dedicated to the advancement of marine and environmental sciences through research and
education. Since its inception in 1955, the Laboratory’s mission has been the pursuit of
excellence in scientific research and the dissemination of information to the scientific community
as well as the general public (Table 3.1). The research performed at MML is both basic and
applied in scope, covering a wide range of subjects. Major funding for MML research includes
federal and state grants and contracts, foundation and private gifts, and a MML Endowment.

Mote Marine Laboratory conducts about 150-200 funded research projects in a year, of which
approximately 10% may be affected by the QA requirements of EPA, the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers, Florida DEP or DOH, or other agencies. The maijority of projects requiring a QA plan
are being conducted by staff in the Benthic Ecology, Chemical & Physical Ecology, Ocean
Acidification, Red Tide Institute, Ecotoxicology, Phytoplankton Ecology, or Environmental
Laboratory for Forensics Programs. NELAC (National Environmental Laboratory Accreditation
Conference) certification for environmental analyses is currently maintained only by the Chemical
and Physical Ecology Program.

3.2 General Capabilities

Capabilities of the research programs covered by this Quality Manual include sampling and
analysis for granulometry, inorganic ions, minerals, residues, nutrients, demands, extractable
organics, oil and grease, and benthic invertebrate community analysis (enumeration and
identification), sampling for trace metals, phenols and cyanide, volatile organics, microbiology,
radionuclides, and sampling for phytoplankton.

3.3 Commitment to Sound Quality Assurance/ Quality Control

Mote Marine Laboratory is dedicated to providing excellent data quality in all areas. Mote Marine
Laboratory prepared the first QA Project Plan in Florida to receive approval by the Florida
Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), and since that time, MML has prepared several
Quality Assurance Project Plans (QAPP) for complex, multidisciplinary environmental studies.
Mote Marine Laboratory respects the State of Florida's requirements for comprehensive QA/QC
and offers this document as its commitment to sound and useful QA/QC management.

Mote Marine Laboratory’s Quality Manual provides guidance for environmental studies conducted
at MML. The procedures and protocols outlined in this document are based on documents put
forth by the State of Florida mandating QA/QC requirements for laboratories generating
environmental data that will be submitted to FDEP. These documents are the FDEP Quality
Assurance Rule 62-160, F.A.C., and the FDOH Rule, 64E-1, F.A.C. Specifically, the FDEP Quality
Assurance Rule, 62-160, F.A.C., requires that all laboratories generating environmental data for
submittal to FDEP, either directly or indirectly, be certified by the FDOH Environmental Laboratory
Certification Program (ELCP), which is a National Environmental Laboratory Accreditation
Program (NELAP) accrediting authority. This includes environmental data or reports for
submission to FDEP or for use in FDEP-regulated or FDEP-sponsored activities. The current
version of the FDEP Quality Assurance Rule F.A.C. 62-160 has an effective date of 04/16/2018
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and can be found on FDEP’s website or
(https://www. flrules.org/gateway/ChapterHome.asp?Chapter=62-160). Environmental laboratory
certification standards are mandated by the FDOH Rule F.A.C. 64E-1 Certification of
Environmental Testing Laboratories (September 26, 2018). According to this rule, any certified
environmental testing laboratory shall comply with the The NELAC Institute (TNI) Standards. In
accordance with this rule, MML follows TNI 2016 Standards as of their effective date of September
26, 2018. This rule applies to analytes and test methods for which MML is NELAC-certified or is
seeking NELAC-certification. In order to be compliant with NELAC Standards, MML has
implemented laboratory policies and procedures in those programs for analytes and test methods
for which NELAC certification is desired. These policies and procedures follow standards
described in TNI Volume 1 Module 2 “Quality Systems General Requirements” (EL-V1M2-ISO-
2016-Rev2.1).

Some projects may not require NELAC certification or may involve analyses for which NELAC
certification is not available, but still include environmental data that will be submitted to FDEP. In
these cases, related projects will operate a quality assurance program consistent with FDEP
requirements and quality systems standards of NELAC in Chapter 64E-1, F.A.C. These policies
and procedures appear throughout this document in the appropriate sections. Also according to
QA Rule 62-160, F.A.C, field activities generating environmental data for submittal to FDEP either
directly or indirectly, must follow FDEP standard operating procedures (SOP) for field activities
(DEP-SOP-001/01, January 2017, effective 4/16/2018) or lab activities (DEP-SOP-002/01,
January 2017, effective 4/16/2018) where applicable. Where applicable and required by specific
project, NOAA’s National Resource Damage Assessment (NRDA) protocols are followed.

Contracts, orders, permits or permit-related projects may require certain analyses as a condition
of the contract, order, or permit that will be submitted to FDEP either directly by MML or through
the agency that contracted MML to conduct these analyses. In these cases, the required analyses
should be performed according to Quality Assurance guidelines described in this manual, to
include NELAC certification and FDEP field sampling and laboratory SOPs as applicable. If
specifically required by the EPA for activities conducted for or funded by EPA, Quality Assurance
Project Plans (QAPPs) shall be prepared in accordance with “EPA Requirements for Quality
Assurance Project Plans, EPA QA/R-5,” (EPA/240/B-01/003 March 2001). As these rules,
standards, and SOPs are updated, Mote Marine Laboratory will revise existing documents and
procedures to be in compliance with current requirements.

In addition, it is official policy of Mote Marine Laboratory that employees know and abide by all
pertinent QA requirements. The MML Policy Manual states,

(quote)

Mote Marine Laboratory codifies its long-standing dedication to scientific
excellence in several ways. A primary instrument is Mote’s quality assurance
program (QAP). The QAP institutionalizes a number of policies and procedures
as the minimum necessary effort that will be expended in order to meet Laboratory
objectives in a variety of environmental investigations. In 2002, the QAP took two
forms. The first component of the QAP requires certification through the Florida
Department of Health (DOH). Changes to Florida Department of Environmental
Protection (DEP) Quality Assurance Rule 62-160, F.A.C., have resulted in the
requirement that all laboratories generating environmental data for submittal to
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DEP, either directly or indirectly, be certified through the Florida DOH
Environmental Laboratory Certification Program (ELCP). The Florida DOH certifies
all laboratories according to National Environmental Laboratory Accreditation
Conference (NELAC) standards. Mote’s quality assurance guidelines are
described in Mote’s Quality Manual, originally approved by Florida DEP, and more
recently modified to be compliant with these NELAC standards. The Quality
Manual replaces the Comprehensive Quality Assurance Plan (CompQAP),
formerly required and approved by DEP for field or laboratory activities. The
Quality Manual is available electronically on Mote’s in-house web page, and in
hard copy in the library, or in the Quality Assurance Officer’s office. The second
component of the QAP covers laboratory or field activities in which NELAC
certification is not required. Where certification is not required, Mote’s Quality
Manual covers general laboratory and field procedures and can be used to prepare
project-specific QA plans, when required. Project-specific quality assurance
requirements should be followed. Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) provided
by Florida DEP should be followed for field and laboratory activities not requiring
NELAC certification but still involving submission of data to DEP. In order to
implement the QAP and approved plans, it is necessary that certain precautions
be taken, and these are adopted as Laboratory policy:

The Laboratory’s QAP and approved plans will not be represented to other persons
or agencies without prior knowledge and approval of the Quality Assurance Officer
(QAOQ).

Interviews, publicity, and other public statements regarding QA will be made
officially by the Laboratory’s QAO, whenever possible, or by the President.

Statements of qualifications, technical proposals, and/or contracts referring to
quality assurance in any way must be approved by the QAO prior to their submittal.

All QA project plans will be approved by the QAO prior to their submittal for review
or approval.

All program managers will be familiar with the organization, content, and meaning
of approved plans, and will consult the QAO on cases where the applicability of
QA guidelines to their programs is in question. Also, program managers will
ensure that principal investigators under their supervision understand all pertinent
QA policies and procedures affecting specific projects.

As required by QA procedure, any other project staff affected by QA will be briefed
on proper procedures.

The QAO has the authority to initiate system, performance, or spot-check audits
of any project covered by a QA plan. Also, any person may request a QA audit of
a project in which he or she is involved, if it is covered by a QA plan.

The QAO will report all audit results and recommendations to the President, who
will cause the affected program manager and/or Principal Investigator to take
corrective actions.
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(end of quote)

3.4 Role of this Document

This Quality Manual documents the capabilities, methods, and procedures of MML, with respect
to field sampling and laboratory analytical operations of its inorganic chemistry, organic chemistry,
benthic ecology, phytoplankton ecology, and environmental forensics programs in which quality
assurance requirements are mandated by granting agency or specified by Project Directors.

This plan presents all methods and standard procedures, either by complete description or by
reference. This document will be used in new staff training, QA auditing, and in the preparation of
QA project plans. QAPP may adopt sections of this Quality Manual by reference.

MML adheres to NELAC guidelines, methods and procedures for all NELAC-certified field and
laboratory activities, as required. All field and laboratory activities without NELAC certification but
still affected by Ch.62-160 F.A.C. will follow FDEP standard operating procedures, as required.
While MML will make reasonable efforts to determine whether new projects are affected by Ch.
62-160 F.A.C., it is the responsibility of grantors, contractors and other sponsors to advise MML
of QA requirements (S. Labie, FDEP, personal communication (1995)).

Mote Marine Laboratory participates in many diverse projects related to the marine environment,
many of which do not include environmental data collection as covered by the FDEP Quality
Assurance Rule, 62-160, F.A.C. Quality assurance requirements are project-specific and are
generally specified by the granting agency or by MML Project Directors. If not specifically required
in this capacity, the procedures described in this Quality Manual may not be applicable. Where
not required, some programs voluntarily choose to adhere to procedures described in this manual.

3.5 Transfer of Records

NELAC standards require that NELAC — certified laboratories have a plan to ensure that records
are maintained or transferred according to clients’ instructions in the event that the laboratory
transfers ownership or goes out of business. Mote Marine Laboratory does not have an owner,
so transfer of ownership is not applicable. In the event that MML goes out of business, however,
all records will be maintained or transferred according to the client’s instructions. All record and
analyses performed pertaining to accreditation will be kept for a minimum of 5 years. Technical
directors will keep a data file of active and archived projects, including client contacts, in their
program and project files. In the event MML goes out of business, technical directors will contact
those clients for whom work is ongoing or has been performed in the last 5 years, and transfer
project files according to their instructions.
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Table 3.1 GOALS OF MOTE MARINE LABORATORY (adapted from Mote Marine Laboratory
Beyond 2020 Vision & Strateqic Plan, Version 3.0)

1. To be a leader in nationally and internationally respected research programs that are
relevant to conservation and the sustainable use of marine biodiversity, healthy habitats
and natural resources.

2. To continue to impact a diversity of public policy challenges through strong linkages to
public outreach and education.

3. To continue our commitment to leadership in pushing forward the frontiers of marine
science and technology.

4. To continue our commitment to integrity and ethics in all endeavors.

5. To develop creativity, collegiality, inclusiveness, collaborations and partnerships as
foundations for achieving goals.

6. To provide responsible stewardship of both natural resources and fiscal assets.
7. To provide service to local, state, regional, national, and international communities.
8. To advance marine and environmental sciences through scientific research, education,

and public outreach leading to new discoveries, revitalization and sustainability of our
oceans and greater public understanding of our marine resources.
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4.0 ORGANIZATION AND RESPONSIBILITY

41 Name of the Organization

This Quality Manual is prepared for Mote Marine Laboratory, Inc. The main facility is located on
City Island in Sarasota, FL. Field stations are maintained in the Florida Keys on Summerland Key,
Islamorada, Key Largo, and Key West, and at Mote Aquaculture Research Park in eastern
Sarasota County.

4.2 Capabilities

Mote Marine Laboratory is an independent, non-profit organization dedicated to excellence in
marine science and education. Mote Marine Laboratory performs basic and applied research in
many scientific disciplines encompassing various aspects of biology and chemistry. For purposes
of this Quality Manual, MML is a chemical and biological laboratory capable of field and laboratory
operations in the marine environment, estuaries, lakes, rivers and other fresh waters and in the
atmosphere, hydrosphere, and lithosphere.

4.2.1 Accepting New Work

Technical directors familiar with laboratory facilities and resources are currently responsible for
accepting work and initiating projects. Before initiating projects, technical directors complete a
New Project Authorization Sheet (Figure 4.1) which is submitted to the Associate Vice President
of the Directorate in which the work will be conducted, and President and CEO of Mote Marine
Laboratory, for approval before any work can be accepted. This sheet addresses whether the
program currently has, or intends to have, the capabilities necessary to complete this project. This
process ensures that the necessary facilities and personnel are available or planned for within
the project schedule.

4.3 Organizational Structure

4.3.1 Management and Administration
A chart outlining the organizational structure of Mote Marine Laboratory is shown in Figure 4.2.
Mote Marine Laboratory is governed by a Board of Trustees A Chairman Ieads the Board Ihe

that—meets—ever—y—ﬁve—years— Mote Marlne Laboratory is admlnrstered by a Presrdent and CEO
who supervises all scientific, administrative, educational, aquarium, and public affairs of the
Laboratory. The President also supervises three directorates in the Research Division and ten
Centers of Excellence (www.mote.org/research/centers-of-excellence/. The directorates
comprising the Research Division include the Directorate of Environmental Health and Ocean
Technology, the Directorate of Marine Biology and Conservation, and the Directorate of Fisheries
and Aquaculture. Non-research divisions include the Education, Aquarium & Public Outreach

Division and Support Services. Mote-also-has—a-Meote-AquaculturePark—and-a-MarinePolicy
Institute:

4.3.2 Research Organization

All research sampling, measurement and analysis is conducted within three directorates of the
Research Division. The research programs (departments) covered by this Quality Manual are
Benthic Ecology, Ecotoxicology, Chemical & Physical Ecology, Red Tide Institute, Ocean
Acidification, Phytoplankton Ecology, and Environmental Laboratory for Forensics.
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4.3.3 Personnel and Responsibilities

A. Administration

1.

Dr. Michael P. Crosby, President, is responsible to the Board of Trustees and all
project sponsors for all research performed at MML. He has the authority to initiate
audits, implement recommendations of the QA Officer, and commit such resources
as necessary to fulfill QA/QC policy and objectives.

B. Ecotoxicology

1.

1.

Dr. Richard Pierce is the manager of the Ecotoxicology Program, and supervises
all field sampling, logistic planning, analytical operations, data reduction and
anaIyS|s He |s also responS|bIe for deS|gn|ng and budgetlng research prOJects

- Dr. Jennifer
Toyoda is the Postdoctoral Research Fellow for the Ecotoxicology Program and
supervises experimental design and setup, identifies new research directions and
funding opportunities, data analysis, and assessment.
Ms. Samantha Harlow is the staff senior chemist and sample custodian for the
Ecotoxicology Program and is responsible for the documented receipt, storage,
routing and disposal of all samples. She is responsible for sample extractions, data

entry, recordlng data generatlng reports and intern tralnlng—and—erdemg—supples

assu#ane&Nlcholas Ohnlklan is the Lab Manager. He is responsible for day-to- day
laboratory activities and responsibilities, ordering supplies, communicating and
working with staff, maintaining status of current projects, data, and reports, and
oversees QA/QC compliance.

C. Chemical & Physical Ecology

Dr. Emily Hall is the manager of the Chemical & Physical Ecology Program, and
supervises analytical operations, data reduction and data analysis conducted in
that program. She is responsible for corrective actions in her program.
Dr—Ari-Nissanrka Ms. Susan Launay is the analytical and data manager and is
responsible for all laboratory operations, including supervision of analysts,
maintenance of infrastructure, and internal and external QA/QC activities. B
Nissanka Ms. Launay also manages all data produced by the Chemical and
Physical Ecology program. She is responsible for review of data entry, transfer of
automated data, data quality checks, archiving, data reduction and analysis, and
reporting. She also maintains the logbook for all laboratory notebooks, instrument
logbooks, and standard logbooks.

Ms. Susan-Launay is also the manager of the Laboratory Information Management
System (LIMS) which is used to electronically maintain custody, preparation, field
and analytical data for the program in a protected and traceable manner and
facilitates sample tracking, observance of holding times, and reporting.

Ms. Camia Charniga is responsible for field operations for the Chemical & Physical
Ecology program. She coordinates field sampling crews and logistics, instrument
pre- and post-calibrations, communications, and sample delivery.

Ocean Acidification
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Dr. Emily R. Hall is the manager of the Ocean Acidification Program and
supervises all aspects of the program including fieldwork, experimental work,
analytical operations, data reduction and data analysis conducted in that program.
She is responsible for corrective actions in her program.

Jessica Frankle is the analytical and data manager at the Sarasota, FL campus
and is responsible for laboratory operations including maintenance of
infrastructure, experiments, fieldwork, internal and external QA/QC activities, data
analysis, data entry, data reduction, and reporting.

Melissa Sante is the analytical and data manager at the Elizabeth Moore
International Center for Coral Reef Restoration and Research (IC2R3) campus in
Summerland Key, FL and is responsible for laboratory operations including
maintenance of infrastructure, experiments, fieldwork, internal and external
QA/QC activities, data analysis, data entry, data reduction, and reporting.

Benthic Ecology

Mr. James K. Culter is the manager of the Benthic Ecology Program. He
supervises all field sampling, sample custody, analytical operations, and data
reduction and analysis conducted in that program. He is responsible for
supervising routine QA/QC activities and authorizing corrective actions in his
program. He manages field and analytical logistics planning of the benthic ecology
program and is responsible for data entry, transfer of automated data, data quality
checks, archiving, data reduction and analysis, and reporting of benthic ecological
data.

Phytoplankton Ecology

Dr. Vincent Lovko is the manager of the Phytoplankton Ecology program. He is in
charge of all aspects of the program and supervises all field sampling and
laboratory analyses. He is responsible for supervising routine QA/QC activities and
authorizing corrective actions in his program.

Dr. Sumit Chakraborty manages operation of the HPLC facility and performs data
analysis and interpretation and assists in data management and custody, and

quality-assurance

Environmental Laboratory for Forensics

Dr. Dana Wetzel is the manager of the Environmental Laboratory for Forensics. In
this capacity, Dr. Wetzel designs and supervises all laboratory activities including
QA/QC and is in charge of daily operations for a wide array of analytical testing,
record keeping, and instrument maintenance.

Ms. Christelle Miller is the Environmental Laboratory for Forensics analytical
supervisor. She is in charge of daily operations of a wide array of analytical testing,
record keeping, and instrument maintenance.

Red Tide Institute

Dr. Cynthia Heil is a Senior Research Scientist and Director of the Red Tide
Institute (RTI). She designs and supervises all Institute planning, and data
oversight and operations and is responsible for all corrective actions at the
Institute.
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2. Sarah Klass is a Staff Biology and RTI Laboratory Manager in charge of daily

operations at the Institute as well as Institute scheduling, safety, and field,
mitigation, and laboratory Operations. She serves as RTI sample custodian.

4.4 Quality Assurance Organization and Responsibilities

441 QA Officer and QA Committee

A Quality Assurance Committee has direct input to the President. The chairman of the committee
serves as the QA Officer (QAO) at MML. Other members of the committee replace the QA Officer
in his or her absence and assist the QA Officer in complex or large audits, routine checks of
general lab operations, and in the special case of the QA Officer leading a project for which a
QAPP and autonomous audits are needed.

Dr. Cathy Walsh is the MML QA Officer. She is responsible to the President for all aspects of
QA/QC, including preparation of the Quality Manual; review and approval of new projects,
contracts and grants, and QAPP; systems and performance auditing; approval of data validation
systems; direction of corrective actions, and QA reporting. Br—Carl-Lueris—a-member-the QA
Committee:

4.4.2 Project QA

Most research performed at MML is organized on a project-wide basis. Individual projects are
separately tracked by the business office using unique project codes, which are also used as
primary sample, equipment, and data labels. Project QA Plans are prepared as necessary, under
the supervision of the QA Officer. The QAO may serve as a project QA Officer or another member
of the QA Committee may be appointed to serve in that role. The project QA Officer's duties are
described in individual QAPPs. At no time does a project manager or principal investigator serve
as his or her own QAO.

4.4.3 Client Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights

Mote Marine Laboratory respects requests to protect the confidentiality of client records. When
applicable, client confidentiality and proprietary rights will be protected, as per instructions
provided by individual clients. The confidentiality requirement of any new project will be indicated
on the Project Authorization Sheet. MML will maintain confidentiality of all data generated, reports
prepared, files, and records, including all e-mail messages, text messages, telephone calls, and
facsimiles either sent or received. Confidentiality messages are included on pertinent fax
transmittal forms and at the end of relevant e-mail messages. The employment letter that every
new hire signs includes a discussion of confidentiality of data and information as well as penalties
for violations.

4.4.4 Departures from Documented Policies and Procedures

Occasionally, it may be necessary to exceptionally permit departures from documented policies
and procedures. In these instances, the departure will be fully documented, including
circumstances and explanation for departure, and kept in project-specific files. Deviations from
documented procedures are fully discussed by appropriate laboratory staff and/or outside parties,
either before or after the event.

Those personnel in employed in positions of Technical Directors, Program Managers, Principal
Investigators or higher, may authorize departures from documented policies and procedures.

4.5 Personnel Qualifications and Training
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4.5.1 Minimum Level of Qualifications, Experience and Skills Necessary for Staff Conducting
NELAC Certified Analyses

Laboratory personnel in areas where NELAC certification is required will possess the minimum
qualifications, skills, and experience defined below. When hiring new personnel, posted job
descriptions may define additional qualification and experience required for a specific position.
Minimum level qualifications for new positions will be added as necessary. For all positions,
knowledge of basic laboratory skills such as using a balance, pipetting, and quantitative
techniques will be required. If an employee does not already have prior knowledge of these basic
laboratory techniques, these skills must be learned before conducting NELAC certified analyses.
For all positions, employees must be able to read and follow chemical methods in standardized
testing references, and follow both written and verbal instruction, have numerical competence
(basic geometry, algebra, and minimal statistics), be able to swim, have minimal susceptibility to
motion sickness, and have a desire to produce high quality scientific data.

Technician: At a minimum, an employee hired at the technician level must possess either 1) a
high school degree with at least one year of high school chemistry, or 2) at least one year of
experience in a chemical or analytical laboratory setting.

Staff Chemist: An employee hired at the level of Staff Chemist must possess either 1) a Bachelor’s
degree from an accredited university with a major or minor in chemistry, biochemistry, or other
natural science areas, 2) at least 12 semester hours of college credit in chemistry, or other
quantitative natural science areas, 3) a high school degree with at least two years’ experience in
a chemical or analytical laboratory setting.

Senior Chemist. An employee hired at the level of Senior Chemist must possess either 1) a
Bachelor’s degree with a major or a minor in chemistry, biochemistry or other natural science
from an accredited university plus two years of experience in a chemical or laboratory setting or
2) 12 semester hours of college credit in chemistry or other quantitative natural science plus three
years of experience in a chemical or laboratory setting.

Staff Scientist: An employee hired at the level of Staff Scientist must have either 1) a Bachelor’s
degree with a major or a minor in chemistry, biochemistry or other natural science from an
accredited university plus three years of experience in a chemical or laboratory setting, or 2) a
Master’s degree plus one years’ experience.

Senior Scientist: An employee hired at the level of Senior Scientist must have a Ph.D. or
equivalent experience in a scientific field who has attained a senior level of expertise and
recognition with at least seven (7) years’ experience at the level of Staff Scientist or equivalent in
his/her field.

Technical Director. A Technical Director for Chemical Analyses must have a Bachelor’'s degree
in chemical, environmental, biological, or physical sciences, at least 24 semester hours of college
credit in chemistry, and at least two years of experience in environmental analysis in areas for
which the laboratory holds NELAC accreditation. A Master’s degree or doctorate may substitute
for one year of experience.

4.5.2 Personnel Training

Technical directors are responsible for ensuring that Program staff receives appropriate training,
including QA training appropriate to their job assignments. Technical directors will ensure that the
staff has the necessary education, experience and/or training to perform their stated duties.
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Employees receive on the job training for analyses necessary for their duties. When a new
employee begins work in a program, they are trained by more experienced analysts who are
proficient in the duties that the new analyst will undertake. For analyses which the Laboratory has
NELAC certification, the demonstration of capability (DOC), described in Section 11.6, will be
used to establish that personnel are adequately experienced in the duties they are expected to
carry out. In the event that additional training is required and training courses are available, new
analysts will go through these courses whenever practical. Primary staff members responsible for
phytoplankton (Karenia brevis) cell counts will participate in a phytoplankton; darkroom class
through Florida Wildlife Research Institute (FWRI).

4.5.3 Data Integrity Training

Data integrity training will be provided as one component of new employee training for staff hired
in programs that conduct NELAC certified analyses and is also provided on an annual basis for
current employees conducting NELAC-certified analyses. The Data Integrity Plan is described in
a Standard Operating Procedure. The data integrity training curriculum includes discussion on
data integrity procedures, data integrity training documentation, in-depth data monitoring and data
integrity procedure documentation. The curriculum also includes specific examples of breaches
of ethical behavior. As part of this training, employees are required to understand that infractions
of the laboratory’s data integrity procedures will result in a detailed investigation that could lead
to serious consequences, including immediate termination, debarment or civil/criminal
prosecution. Staff participation in data integrity training will be documented by a signature page
which will be kept in QA Officer files.

4.6 Document Control and Maintenance

Mote Marine Laboratory maintains a document control system to ensure the use of correct
document versions in the locations where they are utilized. MML’s document control system is
outlined in an SOP. Steps before implementation of document revisions include proposal of
documents or revisions, the actual modifications to documents or revisions, review for accuracy,
and finally, approval of documents and/or revisions for release by authorized personnel. Once
approved, documents and/or revisions are distributed to appropriate personnel. Prior versions of
all essential documents and revisions are maintained and archived to facilitate documentation
tracking and retrieval of all current and archived records for purposes of inspection, verification,
and historical reconstruction of all procedures and measurement data. Cross-references to
specific documentation will be made when necessary.

Laboratory personnel review and update, if necessary, all Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)
that pertain to the work they perform within the laboratory. SOPs are reviewed every 2 years and
a record of reviews is maintained. Any updates or modifications to SOPs must be approved by
the Technical Director responsible for implementing SOPs in their area. Each SOP will contain
the effective date, revision number, revision date and Technical Director approval signature on
each page. When an SOP is withdrawn, the approval signature for the withdrawal and the date of
the withdrawal is also recorded. Copies of withdrawn SOP versions are maintained and archived.
The latest official version of 